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Halyk Bank (the “Bank”) is one of Kazakhstan’s leading diversified financial 
services groups. It is aptly named (Halyk means people) in that it has the largest 
customer base and retail network of any Kazakh bank: from a population of 
approximately 15 million, it serves nearly 6 million retail and more than 63,000 
corporate and SMe customers. 

In addition to its core banking business, through its subsidiaries Halyk is a 
leading player in pension fund and asset management, brokerage, non-life 
insurance, and leasing. It holds the largest portfolio in Kazakhstan’s rapidly-
growing mortgage market, has the largest retail deposit base, provides payroll 
management services to the greatest number of corporates and individuals, 
and has issued more than 51% of the payment cards in the market. Given 
its nationwide branch network and reputation as the most reliable financial 
institution in the country, it is also a “partner-of-choice” for the Kazakhstan 
government for pension and other social security payments.

In a very large and sparsely-populated country, Halyk has a total of more than 
600 outlets and a network of nearly 1,000 AtMs. It is also a core provider 
of internet and mobile banking services and has nearly 3,000 point-of-sale 
terminals at shopping centres and supermarkets. Already the most profitable of 
the large financial institutions in the CIS region, Halyk’s strategy is to strengthen 
its position as the country’s leading financial services group by maintaining its 
focus on excellence and efficiency, increasing the cross-selling of its services, and 
expanding to neighbouring countries.
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Number of customers/accounts

Indicator 2006 2005

Retail accounts: m 7.5 6.9

Corporate customers 323 300

SMe customers 63,000 56,000

Cards: m 2.1 1.8

Retail loans: m 0.44 0.37

Mortgage loans  29,612 21,869

Salary-backed consumer loans: m 0.40 0.33

other consumer loans 16,508 14,356

Payroll project customers: m 1.5 1.3

Payroll project entities, including government entities 14,000 9,000

Pension Fund customers: m 1.7 1.5

Financial highlights 

Indicator 2006 2005

 KZtm US$m KZtm US$m

total assets  991,359 7,806 559,665 4,177

total equity  120,628 950 64,444 481

Customer loans, net  596,216 4,695 411,097 3,068

Customer deposits  597,935 4,708 323,515 2,415

Net interest income 38,132 302 19,259 145

Fees and commissions, net 21,135 168 15,248 115

Net income  27,159 215 15,828 119

Halyk Bank at-a-glance

Indicator 2006 2005 

Return on average common equity: % 41.8 37.2 

Return on average assets: % 3.5 3.0

Net interest margin: % 7.0 6.9

Net interest spread: % 6.8 6.7

Cost to income ratio: % 37.0 35.0

Cost to assets ratio: % 3.5 3.7

tier I Capital Adequacy ratio: % (BIS Standards) 14.0 12.8 

total Capital Adequacy ratio: % (BIS Standards) 17.1 17.1
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Halyk Bank 617 outlets
 19 regional branches  
 127 district branches
 428 limited service branches
 4 VIP centres
 39 personal service centres
 971 AtMs
 2,851 PoS-terminals

Key ratings

Agency Long-term Outlook

Moody’s Investor Services Ba1 stable

Fitch Ratings BB+ positive

Standard & Poor’s BB+ stable

Bank Khlebny,
Russia

(SMe bank)

Halyk Bank
Kyrgyzstan

(SMe & retail bank)

Halyk
Leasing

Halyk Finance
(brokerage & asset

management)

Halyk Life
(life insurance)

Kazakhinstrakh
(general 

insurance)

Halyk Pension 
Fund

Distribution network

Branch network

10%

100%100%100%99.9%

85%89.8%100%

Halyk Bank
Full service commercial bank

Kazakhinstrakh 16 outlets
 77 agencies
 2,100 agents

Halyk Pension Fund 98 outlets
 41 agencies
 300 agents

Group structure
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Halyk history

  State-owned bank
1923  established as Sberbank of the USSR
1993  First corporate customers
  Transition to private bank with >31,000 shareholders
1998  Listing on KASe
  Halyk Pension Fund established
2000  Halyk Leasing founded
2001  Privatisation completed
  Development as diversified financial group
2004  Presence created in Russia and Kyrgyzstan through acquisitions
  Halyk Finance established
  First eurobond issued
2005  Halyk Life established
  Strategy stated of intention to develop as diversified financial group
  Pension assets under management exceed US$1bn
2006  Retail deposits exceed US$1bn
  Consolidation of Kazakhinstrakh
  IPo and international GDR listing
2007  two London-based independent non-executive directors appointed
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the year 2006 was the second in which Halyk Bank implemented the strategy that the Board adopted in early 
2005. Under this strategy, we plan for sustainable growth with the objective of becoming a client-focused 
diversified regional financial services group – comparable with those of western europe – which provides a wide 
range of financial products. the year was also the most successful in Halyk’s recent history: we made dramatic 
progress towards achieving our strategic goals and delivering strong financial results. In the fastest-growing 
economic sector in Kazakhstan, we not only maintained the best rate of profitability (measured by return on 
average common equity) among our peers, but also significantly improved it.

We are proud that Halyk Bank is the leading retail bank in Kazakhstan and serves almost 6 million customers 
through the country’s most extensive branch network. our strategy is to focus on our retail banking and non-
banking subsidiaries, which are both becoming increasingly important contributors to our business and our 
earnings. During 2006 we also continued to strengthen our position in areas such as pension funds, asset 
management, insurance, and leasing. We see future growth emanating from our ability to provide these 
products to existing and new clients through our distribution network – the most developed in the country.

our December 2006 initial public offering and listing on the London Stock exchange was a landmark for us and 
an important step in the realisation of our strategy. It underlines our determination to become recognised as a 
leading bank in the Central Asia and CIS regions and to be measured against european standards.

The market
Kazakhstan has one of the strongest growths in GDP in eastern europe and the CIS, and the financial services 
industry has been the country’s fastest-growing sector. Since economic growth in Kazakhstan is increasingly 
driven by growth in private consumption and consumer sectors, a number of banks are looking to target the 
retail market. We believe, however, that our well-developed branch network not only gives us an unassailable 
lead in personal banking, but also gives us a strong position from which to increase the number of SMe and 
corporate customers we serve. Combined with our expertise in providing retail products, it also enables us to 
cross-sell the other services we offer, including pensions, mortgages, payment cards, life insurance, investment 
banking, and many others.

We see our market as extending to our neighbours, Azerbaijan, Kyrgyzstan, and Mongolia, as well as the part 
of Russia with which we share a border. As the only CIS bank which has a card-sharing agreement with China’s 
largest payment-card organisation, China Union Pay, we are considering expanding into the north-west region 
of China.

Chairman’s statement

“Our robust and high-quality growth in 2006 
resulted from our well-conceived strategy of 
becoming a diversified regional financial services 
group active in all sectors of the financial market and 
which targets balanced growth across all its lines of 
business”.
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Results
our results in 2006 were strong: net earnings increased by 72% to KZt27bn. our total assets increased by 
77% to reach KZt991bn by the end of the year, thanks to growth of more than 45% in the loan portfolio across 
all business lines: retail, SMe and corporate. We have also been successful in improving profitability: our return 
on common equity increased to 41.8%, from 37.2% in 2005, and return on assets increased to 3.5%, from 
3.0%, as a result of solid growth in the higher-margin retail sector, as well as corporate and SMe sectors. this 
strong financial performance enabled us to make 2006 the second year in which we will pay a dividend on our 
common shares: KZt2.5 a share, against KZt1.35 a share in 2005. In recognition of our successful growth, 
Euromoney named Halyk the Best Bank in Kazakhstan in 2006.

Looking ahead
the hard work of our Board, Management Board, and over 9,000 members of our staff over the busy period of 
the past few months, has been critical to us achieving the market position we occupy today. I thank them all and 
look forward to their continuing support in the future.

I would also like sincerely to thank our clients and shareholders for placing their faith in us.

We intend to target further strong growth across all business lines and to maintain our leading position in the 
retail, corporate and SMe sectors. We will continue to be committed to diversifying our business into non-
banking financial services, and to expanding geographically. We believe that the growth in the Kazakhstan 
economy, combined with our leading market position, will enable us to achieve our goals. our determination to 
do so enables me to look ahead with optimism and great confidence.

Alexander Pavlov 
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Pursuing the strategy of a diversified financial services group, in 2006 we continued to focus on our three core 
business lines – retail, SMe and corporate banking – as well as developing our non-banking subsidiaries. We 
further strengthened our position as Kazakhstan’s leading financial services group with the largest customer 
base and distribution network, as well as continuing to improve our broad product offer, which includes 
banking, pensions, insurance, leasing, brokerage and asset management services. While continuing our efforts 
to cross-sell our core banking and non-banking products through our extensive distribution reach, investing 
in risk management and It, and working on further improving our corporate governance, we delivered strong 
financial results to our shareholders.

In our core banking business in 2006 we showed profitable expansion across the retail, SMe and corporate 
banking sectors. We continue to dominate the retail sector with the largest number of customers and branches, 
and the largest market share in mortgages, salary-backed consumer loans, payroll services, and retail deposits. 
In SMe banking, we are the top player in the market and growing rapidly through innovative product offers 
to our existing and new clients. In the corporate banking sector we are not only growing our client base, but 
also cross-selling more products to our clients. In addition, we are committed to leveraging our core banking 
business by cross-selling non-banking products.

We have unique competitive strengths that enable us to retain and strengthen our position and benefit from the 
growth of the Kazakhstan economy while maintaining our profitability. In particular, we believe that our branch 
network and strength in retail banking enable us to differentiate ourselves from our competition:

– largest retail customer base, giving Halyk Bank a strong position to capture future growth;
– widely-recognised and trusted brand;
– largest branch network in Kazakhstan, enabling Halyk Bank to benefit from further rapid growth in the  
 regions and opportunities for cross-selling;
– leading diversified financial services group offering a broad product range of products to retail, SMe  
 and corporate customers;
– ability to manage growth while achieving strong returns on equity; and
– quality assets balanced with diversified funding sources.

Strategy
our long-term strategy is to retain and strengthen our position as a leading diversified financial services group 
offering a wide range of products to a diverse group of customers. We also intend to expand our operations 
profitably into neighbouring markets in the Central Asia region: Kyrgyzstan, Azerbaijan, the Xingjian province

CEO and Chairman of
the Management Board’s review
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in Western China, Mongolia, and the regions of Russia with which we share a border. In order to achieve our 
strategic goals we aim to:

– maintain our leading position in Kazakhstan’s retail banking market;
– continue to expand SMe banking platform;
– develop our corporate banking franchise through a wider product range;
– maintain and develop Halyk Bank’s leading distribution network;
– leverage our comprehensive banking platform to maximise cross-selling of products and services, and  
 to increase our customer base; 
– selectively expand into attractive neighbouring markets; and
– continue to raise our standards to achieve operational excellence and efficiency. 

Our market
the macroeconomic and industry environment remains favourable for Halyk. We have one of the fastest growing 
economies in the CIS and eastern europe. the financial sector is the fastest-growing in the Kazakh economy 
driven by increasing demand for financial services. Personal incomes have grown considerably in recent years: 
average monthly wages went up by 10% in 2006, 17% in real terms, to reach the equivalent of US$419 per 
month. Increased prosperity, which is now spreading beyond the major cities of Almaty and Astana, is resulting 
in a greater number of retail and SMe customers looking for banking products and in other banks becoming 
increasingly interested in this sector. 

We believe that our leadership in distribution and in offering competitive products puts us in a strong position 
to benefit from this increased demand for financial services. the size of our retail customer base, 5.9 million, 
represents more than half of the country’s working population and is an excellent basis on which to achieve our 
ambition of becoming the country’s leading diversified financial services group. We have, at 20% of the market, 
the largest retail deposit base in Kazakhstan; at 22% of the market, the largest mortgage portfolio; and, at 51% 
of the market, the greatest number of payment cards in issue. We already provide payroll services for around 
1.5 million employees of more than 5,000 private-sector organisations and, as the government’s partner 
of choice, distribute more than 65% of pension and other social payments through our branches. While our 
primary focus is on our core retail banking business, we also have a significant customer base of SMes and 
corporates to which we provide a wide range of services. As a result, we lead the SMe banking market with 
more than 63,000 customers and hold a significant share in the corporate sector with more than 300 large 
corporate clients. 

We continue to take the lead in Kazakhstan in opening new branches: we opened 23 outlets in 2005 and 41 
in 2006. We now operate from more than 600 outlets which cover all 14 regions of the country, and have the 
widest network – nearly 1,000 – of AtMs serving our 2.1 million cards in issue. 

Cross-selling is at the heart of our strategy: we will continue to build on our position as a diversified financial 
services group by winning more customers and seeking to increase the number of products we offer them 
through our network and subsidiaries. We expect banking services in all sectors to continue to increase at a 
very attractive rate, and demand for our non-banking financial services, such as pension funds, general and life 
insurance, brokerage and asset management, to grow at a similar pace.

In addition, strong economic development in the region, combined with our experience and product expertise, 
presents us with a unique opportunity to grow our business in neighbouring countries. Since many of these 
areas are under-penetrated by banks, but have strong trading and investment links with Kazakhstan and growth 
prospects, we believe they offer significant business opportunities.
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Performance
During 2006, all the financial benchmarks by which we assess our business showed marked increases: 
consolidated assets grew by more than 77%, to reach KZt991.4bn; total equity increased from KZt64.4bn 
to KZt120.6bn, and consolidated profits improved by 72% to KZt27.2bn. We are particularly proud that we 
achieved this growth at an increased profitability rate: our return on equity increased from 37.2% in 2005 to 
41.8%. 

our subsidiaries performed strongly and are making an increasing contribution to the bottom line. Halyk 
Pension Fund dominates the market with a 28% market share of pension assets under management and more 
than 1.7 million individual clients. We acquired full control over, and started consolidating, JSC Kazakhinstrakh, 
our non-life insurance subsidiary, at the end of 2006 and expect a further increase in contribution to earnings 
from our subsidiaries going forward. We established the life insurance company JSC Halyk Life in 2005 and 
now hold one of five life insurance licences in Kazakhstan. We further capitalised our banking and brokerage 
subsidiaries as part of our diversified financial services group strategy. our subsidiaries’ share of the total 
consolidated net income of Halyk group increased from approximately 11% in 2005 to approximately 16% in 
2006. 

The IPO on the London market
In December 2006 we successfully completed a US$748m initial public offering of our Global Depositary 
Receipts (GDRs) on the London Stock exchange. We already had the largest shareholder base in Kazakhstan 
(more than 27,000 institutional and individual investors). Now, with the IPo, we also have a broad international 
shareholder base; approximately 20% of our shares are held through GDRs. Becoming an international public 
company was a significant milestone in our development. We realise that this demands a new approach to 
corporate governance. In April 2007 we appointed two additional independent non-executive directors who 
join the Board in June to help us in this aim, as explained further in the corporate governance section of this 
report. 

Outlook
our ultimate ambition is to be a leading financial group as well as Kazakhstan’s leading retail bank. We believe 
that demand for financial services, driven by a burgeoning economy, will continue to increase, and that the 
banking sector in general will continue to grow, even if at a slower pace than in recent years. 

Halyk Bank has a unique market position and franchise, and is run in an efficient manner. We will continue 
to invest in It, risk management, information systems, cross-selling and marketing in our determination to 
bring our performance up to meet the best international standards. I am secure in our ability to do that, and to 
continue to produce excellent results for the benefit of shareholders, clients and employees.

Grigoriy Marchenko 
CEO and Chairman of the Management Board
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Kamilya Arstanbekova, age 43
Director
Chairman of the Accumulative Pension Fund of Halyk 
Bank
Ms Arstanbekova was appointed to the Board in 
September 2001. She has been Chairman of the 
Accumulative Pension Fund of Halyk Bank since 
September 1998. From 1991 to 1995, she worked 
at Alem Bank Kazakhstan as Deputy Head of the 
Foreign Debt Service Department, and Head of the 
Lending Department. From May to September 1995, 
she was Head of the Foreign Debt Service Department 
at eximbank Kazakhstan. From 1995 to 1998, she 
was Head of the Commercial Department and Deputy 
Chairman of the Management Board of Almaty 
Merchant Bank (AtF Bank). Ms Arstanbekova is a 
graduate of the Almaty Institute of People’s economy, 
where she specialised in finance and credit.

Board of Directors and Management Board

Board of Directors

Alexander Pavlov, age 53
Chairman, Independent Non-executive Director
Mr Pavlov was appointed as Chairman of the Board 
in March 2004. Between 1994 and 2000, he was 
Minister of Finance, then Deputy Prime Minister, and 
finally First Deputy Prime Minister of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan. From 2000 to 2002, he was Vice 
Chairman of the Management Board and Vice 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the UK-listed 
copper mining company, Kazakhmys. Between 2002 
and 2004, he was First Deputy Prime Minister of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan. Mr Pavlov is a graduate of the 
Belarussia State Institute of People’s economy, where 
he specialised in economics.
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Kadyrzhan Damitov, age 47
Independent Non-executive Director
Mr Damitov was appointed to the Board in october 
2005. He was Deputy Chairman of the National Bank 
of Kazakhstan from 1994 to 1997, when he became 
Vice Minister of economy and trade, and later Adviser 
to the Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan. In 
1998, he was appointed as Chairman of the National 
Bank of Kazakhstan. From 1999 to 2000, he was 
Adviser to the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
then from 2000 to 2004, was Deputy Chairman of 
ABN AMRo Bank Kazakhstan. He was Adviser to 
the Ceo of Ust-Kamenogorsk titanium-Magnesium 
Mining Company between 2004 and 2006. Mr 
Damitov holds a PhD from the Moscow Finance 
Institute.

Sir Gavyn Arthur, age 56
Independent Non-executive Director
Sir Gavyn was appointed to the Board in June 2007. 
A practising barrister in London, he is Chancellor of 
City University, London; Admiral of the Port of London; 
Vice-Admiral of the Northern Waters; Vice-President 
of the British Red Cross; and a member of HM 
Commission of Lieutenancy for the City of London. 
He has been an Alderman of the City of London 
since 1991, was Sheriff in 1998, and Lord Mayor 
from 2002-2003. He has been Vice-President of the 
UK Institute of export since 1996. He has led many 
delegations, headed talks with the eU Presidency on 
financial services regulations, and been a speaker and 
discussion leader on corporate governance issues at 
the World economics Forum. Sir Gavyn holds a BA 
from oxford University, an MA in Jurisprudence from 
the College of Law, and is a Doctor of Civil Laws.
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Christof H Ruehl, age 49
Independent Non-executive Director
Mr Ruehl was appointed to the Board in June 2007. 
Since 2005, he has been the Deputy Chief economist 
of BP plc and, before that, worked for the World Bank 
Group where he was Senior economist in Washington 
from 1998 to 2001, Chief economist in Moscow 
from 2001 to 2004, and Lead economist and Sector 
Leader in Brasilia from 2004 to 2005. He previously 
worked in academia, most recently at the University 
of California, Los Angeles, where he was Assistant 
Professor of economics. Mr Ruehl holds an MA in 
economics from the University of Bremen, Germany.

Grigoriy Marchenko, age 47
Executive Director
CEO and Chairman of the Management Board 
Mr Marchenko was elected Chairman of Halyk 
Bank and a member of the Board in January 2005. 
Between 1992 and 1994, he was an assistant to 
the Vice President of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
and, in 1994, was appointed as Deputy Chairman 
of the National Bank of Kazakhstan (NBK). In 1996, 
he became Chairman of the National Securities 
Commission and, from 1997 to 1999, was President 
of DB Securities (Kazakhstan). He was Governor 
of the NBK from 1999 to 2004, when he was 
appointed as First Deputy Prime Minister, then Adviser 
to the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Mr 
Marchenko is a graduate of the Moscow State Institute 
of International Relations, where he specialised in 
economics.
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Askar R Yelemessov, age 38
Non-executive Director
Mr Yelemessov was appointed to the Board in June 
2007. In 2006, he was Kazakhstan’s Vice Minister of 
Finance. He was Deputy Governor of the Management 
Board of the National Bank of Kazakhstan from 2004 
to 2006, before which he was Vice President, then 
President, of JSC DB Securities Kazakhstan. Before 
that, he held a number of roles in Kazakh Banks. He 
was a member of the Kazakhstan Stock exchange 
Council between 2001 and 2003, and was Co-
Chairman of the Foreign Investors Council in 2003. Mr 
Yelemessov holds an economics degree from Moscow 
State University, and an MBA from the University of 
Washington, USA.

Kairat Satylganov, age 41
Non-executive Director
General Director, Holding Group Almex JSC
Mr Satylganov was appointed General Director of 
Holding Group Almex JSC in 2004 and the member of 
the Board in November 2004, representing Holding 
Group Almex JSC on the Board. Between 1992 and 
1993, he was Chief Accountant at the embassy of 
Kazakhstan in the USA. In 1993, he became the 
Chief economist at Bank turanAlem where he was 
appointed Deputy Chairman of the Management 
Board in 1997. Between 1997 and 2002, he 
was Deputy Chairman, then Chairman, of the 
Management Board of AtF Bank. Between 2002 and 
2004, he was Chairman of Halyk Bank’s Management 
Board. He is an economics graduate of the Kazakh 
State Academy of Management.
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Nailiya Abdulina, age 60
Deputy Chairman: Finance and Accounting
Ms Abdulina joined Halyk Bank in 2005 as Adviser 
to the Chairman of the Management Board and 
was appointed a Deputy Chairman in March 
2006. She was previously a Deputy Chairman of 
the Management Board of the National Bank of 
Kazakhstan from 1998 to 2005. Ms Abdulina holds 
a degree in accounting from the Almaty Institute of 
People’s economy.

Management Board

Grigoriy Marchenko, age 47
CEO and Chairman of the Management Board
See biography under Board of Directors
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Askar Kussainov, age 44
Deputy Chairman: Information Technologies
Mr Kussainov joined Halyk Bank in his current role in 
February 2005. From December 1997 to July 1998, 
he was a professor at Washington State University, 
USA. In 1998, he became an executive Director of 
Kazakhtelecom and, from 2003 to 2005, he was a 
Director of the Representative office of Kazakhtelecom 
in Russia. Mr Kussainov is a physics and mathematics 
graduate of the Moscow State University.

Dauren Karabayev, CFA, age 29
Deputy Chairman: Investment Banking and 
International Activities
Mr Karabayev was appointed a Deputy Chairman 
on 1 March 2007 after working as Managing 
Director of the Investment Banking and International 
Departments since 2004. He previously held a 
number of positions in credit analysis and project 
finance at ABN AMRo Bank Kazakhstan from 2001 
to 2004. Mr Karabayev is an economics graduate of 
the Kazakh State Academy of Management and holds 
a master’s degree in finance from the University of 
texas, USA.
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Vasiliy Simachev, age 56
Deputy Chairman: Recoveries
Mr Simachev joined Halyk Bank as Managing Director 
responsible for supervising security issues in February 
2004 and was appointed Deputy Chairman in May 
that year. He was previously First Vice Minister of 
Internal Affairs of the Republic of Kazakhstan, a 
position he held from 1995 to 2001 and from 2002 
to 2004. Between 2001 and 2002, he was an 
executive Director of Kazkommertsbank. Mr Simachev 
is a graduate in law from Kazakh State University.

Marat Satubaldin, age 42
Deputy Chairman: Retail Banking 
Mr Satubaldin joined Halyk Bank as Managing 
Director in 2002 and has been a Deputy Chairman 
since February 2005. He was Head of the Customer 
Services Department at Bank turanAlem from 1997 
to 1999, when he became President of Kurmet 
Pension Fund. In February 2001, he was appointed as 
a Director of the Retail Sales Support Department at 
Kazkommertsbank. He is a graduate in accounting of 
the Almaty Institute of People’s economy.
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Marat Zairov, age 38
Deputy Chairman: SME Banking
Mr Zairov has been a Deputy Chairman since August 
2000. He was previously a Deputy Chairman of Bank 
turanAlem from 1997 to 2000, after holding various 
positions since 1993 at Kazpisheprom Kazakhstan 
State Co-operation Association, the Ministry of 
economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan, AlemSystem 
Financial and Investment Corporation, eximbank 
Kazakhstan and Kazkommertsbank. Mr Zairov is an 
economics graduate from Moscow State University 
and a graduate in law from Kazakh State Law 
Academy.

Umut Shayakhmetova, age 37
Deputy Chairman: Corporate Banking
Ms Shayakhmetova has been a Deputy Chairman 
of Halyk Bank since November 2004. From 1997, 
she worked at ABN AMRo Bank Kazakhstan where 
she held a number of positions in structured finance 
before becoming Chairman of the Management Board 
of ABN AMRo Asset Management in 1998 and, in 
2000, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board of 
ABN AMRo Bank Kazakhstan. Ms Shayakhmetova is 
a graduate in economics of the University of People’s 
Friendship, Moscow, and holds an MBA from Rutgers 
University, New Jersey, USA.
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Kazakhstan: the macroeconomic environment

Halyk Bank Group’s strong performance in 2006 was supported by a favourable macroeconomic environment. 
the Kazakhstan economy continued to perform above expectations in 2006 when, for the seventh consecutive 
year, it expanded by more than 9%. the country achieved real GDP growth of 10.6%, a rate which outpaced 
that of most eastern european and CIS countries. 

the principal factors behind this rapid economic expansion were high fixed-capital investment on the back of 
expanding domestic demand, a strong inflow of foreign direct investment, and substantial hard currency export 
revenues, stemming from favourable oil and other commodity prices. Since real GDP is expected to continue to 
grow at around 7.5% in the medium term, prospects for future development continue to be promising. 

Indicator 2004 2005 2006

GDP: US$bn 43.2 57.1 77.2

GDP per capita: US$ 2,874 3,771 5,083

Real GDP growth: % 9.4 9.4 10.6

Private consumption: real % change, year-on-year 9.2 12.7 15.3

Gross private consumption: % of GDP 53.5 50.2 47.7

Gross fixed investment: % of GDP 25.1 24.4 25.4

National savings: % of GDP 26.9 25.2 25.6

Consumer price inflation: % 6.9 7.6 8.6

Population: m 15.1 15.2 15.4

export of goods fob: US$m 20,603 28,301 38,761

Import of goods fob: US$m 13,818 17,979 24,121

Current account balance: US$m 335 (1,056) (1,797)

Net foreign direct investments: US$m 5,436 2,123 6,556

Cumulative foreign direct investments: US$m 21,703 23,680 29,823

Cumulative foreign direct investments per capita: US$ 1,440 1,556 1,937

International reserves: US$m 9,277 7,070 19,113

National Fund of the Republic of Kazakhstan: US$m 5,065 8,015 14,092

State budget deficit: % of GDP (0.2) (0.6) (0.8)

Average exchange rate: US$/KZt 136.0 132.9 126.1

National Bank refinance rate: year end 7.0 8.0 9.0

Unemployment rate: % 8.4 8.3 7.8

Average gross monthly wage: US$ 274 336 419

Average gross monthly wage: real % change, year-on-year 18.7 17.3 10.0

Retail sales: real % change, year-on-year 10.9 12.5 14.6

Source: economist Intelligence Unit, Global Insight

the industrial sector, which provided around 30% of total output, continued to be the largest contributor to 
GDP in the year: growth was 6.9%, up from around 4.5% in 2005. the main drivers were the oil and gas, 
mining, construction and agriculture sectors, which expanded by more than 7% in 2006. these factors also 
supported accelerated growth in non-commodity sectors, such as manufacturing and services.
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GDP growth by sector 2006 % change from 2005 % of GDP

Goods 12.0 43.9

Agriculture 7.0 5.5

Industry 6.9 29.5

Construction 35.6 8.9

Services 10.8 52.6

trade and repairs 9.8 12.0

Hotels and catering 10.5 0.9

transport 7.0 9.0

Communications 20.4 2.1

Financial services 43.4 4.5

Real estate 9.9 15.1

Gross value added 10.2 93.3

GDP  10.6 100.0

Source: economist Intelligence Unit

While Kazakhstan continues to receive a substantial inflow of foreign direct investments, an increasing 
share of fixed-capital investment now comes from domestic entities. Businesses, local organisations and 
households were responsible for about 60% of total investment in 2006, with foreign investment accounting 
for about 20%. the most attractive industries for direct investment continue to be commodities, transport, 
communications, real estate, construction, and financial services.

Kazakhstan continues to be very much an open economy: its robust economic growth, combined with the 
Government’s rational and stable economic policy, makes it attractive to investors. In 2006, export and import 
gross turnover accounted for more than 80% of GDP, and cumulative foreign direct investment for more 
than 38%. the country maintained a strong surplus of US$14.6bn (2005: US$10.5bn), on trade in goods. 
Favourable world prices resulted in most export sectors, particularly oil and gas, metals, and grain, performing 
strongly. For 2006, the current account balance was generally at a small deficit (2.3% of GDP) as the trade 
surplus (19% of GDP) was more than offset by a combined deficit on services and income accounts. the 
current account deficit was, however, more than covered by the strong inflow of foreign direct investment 
(US$6.6bn or 8.5% of GDP, more than three times that of 2005). 

With export prices currently high and likely to remain above historic levels, in 2006 the general Government 
budget showed a surplus of US$647m, equivalent to 0.8% of GDP, almost double that of 2005. the 
Government budget has now been in surplus since 2001. the Government continues to focus on economic 
modernisation, diversification away from the oil and gas sector, and a modern social policy, in pursuit of 
its strategic goal of becoming one of the world’s 50 most competitive economies. It is making significant 
investments in agriculture, and regional capital and social programmes, such as education and health.

Kazakhstan’s already stable external liquidity position improved even further during the year as a result of a 
surge in its international reserves, driven by a substantial inflow of foreign exchange. NBK reserves, together 
with assets of the National Fund of Kazakhstan (NFK), were up by a substantial US$18bn during the year 
(2005: up US$1.8bn). total reserves, which provide just under 14 months’ cover for the import of goods and 
services, enable the country to cover all its official debt. the financial reserves in the NFK, at US$14bn or 18% 
of GDP, are such that if Kazakh oil sector revenues were to disappear today, the available funds would cover the 
country’s non-oil deficit for two-and-a-half years. 
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the NBK’s consistent monetary policy has successfully managed an expanding money supply, which has 
resulted from the large inflow of foreign exchange, and has maintained inflation within reasonable limits. 
Inflation, fuelled by high output growth and ensuing FX inflow on the back of strong export proceeds and 
foreign direct investments, increased to 8.6% in 2006. the NBK plans to extend the measures to manage 
inflation within acceptable boundaries, introduced in the middle of 2006, by, for example, broadening 
the reserve requirement, raising its refinancing rate and increasing its issuance of short-term notes. tighter 
monetary and credit policies, together with a strengthening nominal exchange rate, are expected to help 
maintain inflation in consumer prices at around 8% in the medium term. 

Kazakhstan’s national currency, the tenge, continued to appreciate (by around 5% in nominal terms) in 2006 
on the back of the booming export sectors. Combined with the relatively high inflation in consumer prices, the 
nominal strengthening of the tenge is expected to drive real exchange-rate appreciation against the US dollar, 
although at a slower pace.

Reflecting positive economic developments, in November 2006, Standard & Poor’s (S&P) upgraded the long-
term sovereign rating of Kazakhstan foreign currency debt from BBB- to BBB, and local currency debt from BBB 
to BBB+ with a positive outlook. 

Kazakhstan’s economic expansion is driven, to an increasing extent, by growth in private consumption. the 
rapid expansion in 2006 of sectors such as communications (20.4%) and financial services (43.4%), resulted 
from overall economic growth spreading across the regions and raising household incomes. the average gross 
monthly wage in 2006, at US$419, was up by around 24.7% in nominal terms, equivalent to a 10% real 
year-on-year increase. the unemployment rate has continued to fall, down from 8.3% to 7.8% (the lowest 
since the early 1990s) over the same period, with new jobs being created predominantly in the non-oil sectors. 
Retail sales growth, supported by real income gains, reached 12.5% in real terms in 2005 and 14.6% in 
2006. Increasing personal incomes and flourishing consumer sectors are set to drive growth in a number of 
other areas, including financial services. Kazakhstan continues to be well placed for further strong growth and 
development. the economy is likely to be resilient enough to withstand a decline in oil prices and changes in the 
international capital markets.

The banking sector
Underpinned by Kazakhstan’s strong economic expansion, financial services in general, and banking in 
particular, was the fastest-growing sector in 2006. the country’s banking system, its largest financial 
intermediary, benefits from the most advanced regulatory and legal framework in the CIS region, and from 
Kazakhstan’s improving economy, greater savings, and increasing demand for investment. 
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Indicator 2004 2005 2006

Number of banks 35 34 33

total assets: KZtbn 2,690 4,515 8,875

Loans: KZtbn 1,629 2,784 5,274

Retail loans: KZtbn 304 669 1,534

of which mortgage loans: KZtbn 99 221 297

Customer deposits: KZtbn 1,618 2,532 4,729

Retail customer deposits: KZtbn 448 596.8 1,034

equity: KZtbn 271 442 880

Net income: KZtbn 32 73 104

total assets/GDP 48.5 60.6 91.1

Loans/GDP 29.4 37.4 54.2

Retail loans/GDP 5.5 9.0 15.8

Mortgages/GDP 1.8 3.0 3.0

Retail deposits/GDP 8.1 8.0 10.6

Customer deposits/GDP 29.0 33.9 54.0

Retail deposits per capita: KZt 29,669 39,276 67,143

Retail loans per capita: KZt 20,132 44,013 99,610

RoA: % 1.4 1.8 1.4

Roe: % 11.2 14.1 10.9

Source: Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan on Regulation and Supervision of Financial Markets and Financial organisations (FMSA), unconsolidated figures

Strong growth in loans and deposits continued in 2006: loans increased by 89.5%, deposits by 86.8%, and 
loans as a proportion of GDP grew to 54.2%. the banking sector’s assets have increased by an average of 62% 
a year since 2001, making it one of the fastest-growing worldwide. Given the banks’ aggressive expansion, and 
the fact that Kazakhstan’s loans/GDP ratio still lags behind that of more developed countries, growth is likely to 
continue to be strong in the medium term. 

Lending to all sectors has been increasing rapidly, but trade and construction companies have dominated 
banks’ loan portfolios. Banks maintained a prudent approach to lending by requiring a relatively high degree 
of collateral for loans. At the same time, banking saturation of the corporate sector – as a result of intense 
competition and rapidly-increasing individual wealth – prompted many banks to change their focus to the retail 
sector which offers significant opportunities for growth and revenue diversification. During recent years, the 
largest Kazakhstan banks have all stated their intention of expanding into retail and SMe lending. 

A number of banks are also looking for opportunities in neighbouring markets, including Russia, Kyrgyzstan, 
and other CIS countries. In addition, the emergence of other financial services, such as asset management, 
insurance and leasing, signals the development of another trend which is likely to develop over coming years 
and deliver additional benefits.
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The retail banking sector
During 2006, growth in retail banking continued to outpace that in the corporate sector, although it still 
accounted for less than a third of lending in the sector and represented 15.8% of GDP at the end of 2006. At 
the end of the year, mortgages accounted for just 3.0% of GDP and retail deposits for 10.6%, and take-up of 
more sophisticated products, such as mutual funds and life insurance policies, continued to be low. Personal 
loans per capita, at about US$784, represented less than 45% of average annual income, while personal 
deposits continued to grow rapidly to reach US$529 per capita. this, however, is thought still to be lower than in 
comparable economies.

Higher disposable incomes, which are increasing households’ ability to save and borrow, offer the potential for 
strong growth in the retail sector – an important driver of the rapidly expanding financial services sector that is 
appealing to a number of domestic and foreign banks. We expect future growth in the sector to come principally 
from an increased take-up of products, such as mortgages, credit cards, pension funds and asset management.

Regulation
In continuation of the consistent banking reforms which have underpinned the banking industry’s successful 
development, regulation in the near term is expected to focus on: 
 – the gradual removal of restrictions for foreign banks and their branches as well as the development of  

 non-banking financial institutions;
 – the introduction of stricter limits on external borrowing, with the aim of reducing refinancing and   

 market risks;
 – the improvement of transparency and corporate governance standards;
 – the strengthening of regulation of bank holdings and conglomerates;
 – the promotion of improved risk management practices; and
 – the strengthening of retail deposit insurance cover.

Financials
During the past year, banks continued to improve their funding and liquidity positions by diversifying and 
extending their funding sources. Greater liquidity and increased long-term foreign funding have helped 
to spread and reduce the cost of liabilities and enable banks to take advantage of longer-term lending 
opportunities, in areas such as capex financing, construction, and residential mortgages.

Capitalisation of the banking sector remains good to support banks’ organic growth: the aggregate sector 
capital adequacy ratio, at 15% at year end 2006, was above the minimum 12% threshold. 

In light of a rapidly-expanding asset and capital base, aggregate return on assets and return on equity in the 
sector reduced to 1.4% and to 10.9% respectively in 2006. those banks focused on retail business achieved 
higher profitability ratios than those which were not. Banks also continued to achieve increased economies of 
scale by managing their costs and optimising their branch networks. the sector weighted average cost/income 
ratio improved from 33.8% in 2005 to 31.4% in 2006. 

Increasing retail and SMe growth should compensate for declining margins in corporate lending going forward. 
Increased economy of scale, together with the streamlining of operations, is forecast to drive further reductions 
in cost ratios.



 Annual Report 2006//JSC HALYK BANK    23

www.halykbank.kz



24    JSC HALYK BANK//Annual Report 2006

www.halykbank.kz

Business review

on the following pages we report on the business, progress and profitability of each of Halyk Bank’s divisions. 
the year was one of significant growth: at 31 December, consolidated assets were KZt991bn, an increase of 
more than 77% over the previous year, and consolidated profits were up by 72% to KZt27.2bn. 

Retail banking
As the leading retail bank in Kazakhstan with the largest customer base and distribution platform, Halyk Bank 
provides a full range of services, including money transfers, credit and debit card services, consumer lending, 
mortgages, personal banking, and current and term deposits, internet banking, AtM services, currency 
exchange, and payroll. In addition, we provide paying agency services for state pensions and other social 
security payments. We hold the No. 1 market position in retail areas such as mortgages, debit cards, payroll 
projects, retail deposits, and AtM banking.  

Indicator 2006 2005

Number of retail accounts: m 7.5 6.9

Retail loans: KZtbn  197 131

Share of retail loans in total loan portfolio: % 31.3 29.9

Market share, retail loans: % 15.8 24.0

Mortgage loans: KZtbn 110 79

Mortgages: % of total retail loans 56 60

Market share, mortgages: % 21.7 27.3

Salary-backed consumer loans: KZtbn 77 45

Salary-backed consumer loans: % of total retail loans 39 34

Retail deposits: KZtbn 209.9 135.4

Market share, retail deposits: % 20.0 21.9

term deposits: KZtbn 157.3 97.4

Market share, term deposits: % 17.3 19.2

Current accounts: KZtbn 52.6 37.9

Market share, current accounts: % 32.9 35.2

Interest income: KZtbn 1   32.8 18.1

Fee and commission income: KZtbn 1 6.5 5.0

Number of AtMs 697 585

Number of sales outlets 617 576

Number of payment cards in issue: m 2.1 1.8

Market share, cards issued: % 51.2 56.4

Source: Halyk Bank, FMSA

1  excluding subsidiaries
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Strategy 
In order to develop retail banking in 2006 we determined to:
 – develop our retail banking franchise through leveraging our expertise, recognition as a retail market  

 leader, and distribution reach;
 – continue to improve customer service; 
 – maintain and develop Halyk Bank’s leading position in the retail deposits’ market; 
 – further improve our product offer, such as payroll services, retail and consumer lending programmes,  

 and card banking, in our key markets;
 – continue to strengthen our distribution channels, particularly for mid- and mass-market sectors;
 – attract new customers by expanding the range of products we offer, and standardising and improving  

 business processes;
 – increase efficiency by offering more standardised products through existing distribution channels.

Customers
At more than 5.9 million retail customers at the end of 2006, Halyk Bank had the largest customer base in 
Kazakhstan by far – about 40% of the country’s population – which is served by more than 2,400 employees, 
principally in the branch network. We believe future growth will come from offering more products to the 
holders of our existing 7.5 million retail accounts, as well as increasing our customer base. through our 
subsidiary, Halyk Pension Fund, we also hold a 28% market share in managing the country’s retirement 
savings funds for more than 1.7 million of our customers. our large customer base provides us with significant 
diversification benefits, as well as opportunities to cross-sell non-banking products. In acquiring new customers 
we continue to give priority to employees of our corporate and SMe payroll customers thereby maintaining 
operating efficiency.

to enable us to tailor our services to specific needs, we structure our retail customers into three groups, based on 
their annual income:
 –  “mass-market” includes people, such as industrial workers, public servants, students and pensioners.  

 they are served through our extensive branch network;
 – “mid-market” customers are primarily owners of small-sized businesses, mid-level management and  

 specialists, as well as mid-level public servants. this group benefits from our personal-service centres;
 – “VIP” customers are generally owners or managers of mid-sized or large companies. We meet their  

 needs through VIP centres, at which they are assigned a personal manager. they also benefit from our  
 head office private banking department, and from brokerage and asset management services.

Products
Halyk Bank offers a wide range of retail banking products and services, including current accounts, term 
deposits, consumer loans, mortgages, credit and debit cards, travellers’ cheques, and currency exchange, as 
well as the retail products of our non-banking subsidiaries, such as insurance, pensions, mutual funds, Internet, 
and mobile banking and AtM services. 

Loans
Retail loans represented 31.3% of Halyk Bank’s gross loan portfolio at 31 December 2006 and a 15.8% share 
of the market. the number of individual borrowers increased by 21.5% to more than 440,000 and the retail 
loan portfolio size increased by 51% to KZt197bn during 2006. our geographically well-diversified portfolio is 
dominated by mortgage and salary-backed consumer lending.
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Despite recent rapid growth, we believe that mortgage and retail lending market in Kazakhstan still present 
excellent opportunities; at the end of 2006, mortgages accounted for just 3.0% of GDP, and retail loans, 
accounted for 15.8%.

Financial centres Industrial regions Agricultural regions

2005 2006

Distribution of retail loan portfolio by regions

46.1%

29.9%

24.0%

42.6%

30.4%

27.0%

Mortgages
Mortgages, which increased from KZt79bn in 2005 to more than KZt110bn in 2006, represented 
approximately 56% of our retail loan portfolio at the end of the year. one of the fastest-growing areas, our 
mortgage portfolio has achieved cumulative average growth of 192% since 2003.

Mortgage Lights – our market-leading in-house product – accounted for approximately 76% of our mortgage 
portfolio at the end of the year. Launched in April 2004, we now hold a portfolio of more than KZt82bn. Under 
the typical terms of Mortgage Lights, a borrower makes a deposit of at least 15% of the principal, which is 
pledged with Halyk Bank together with security over the property. 

the remainder of the mortgage portfolio is represented by regular mortgages, which are generally secured by a 
pledge over the property (about 24% of the portfolio) and those extended under the government-sponsored 
mortgage funding programme through the state-owned Kazakhstan Mortgage Company. 

We provide mortgages for three purposes: the purchase of existing properties, commercial construction, and 
house building. the terms of our mortgage products range from seven to 20 years. they are all fixed rate, 
although Halyk Bank has the right to vary the rate in accordance with market conditions. the typical loan-to-
value ratio of our mortgages is not more than 85% for new mortgages and an average of 70% for the overall 
portfolio.
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In 2006 we held a 21.7% share of the mortgage market in Kazakhstan and 27.3% of the bank mortgage 
market, excluding the Kazakhstan Mortgage Company and other specialised mortgage providers.

Consumer loans
Consumer loans, which we introduced in 2002, and which at KZt87bn accounted for about 44% of our retail 
portfolio by the end of 2006, are, to a large extent (86% of aggregate consumer loans), salary-backed. they 
have a maturity of up to three years, and are targeted at our mass- and mid-market retail customers. typically 
available to employees of companies which have a payroll agreement with Halyk Bank, they can be accessed 
through salary cards and are underpinned by the borrower’s monthly salary payments. these salary-backed 
consumer loans, the fastest-growing retail product, reflect our particular strength in payroll services, card 
business, and AtM banking. Cumulative average growth in salary-backed loans reached 140% between 2003 
and 2006. 

Deposits
As Kazakhstan’s leading retail bank, we have the largest share, approximately 20%, of retail deposits which, 
at the end of 2006, equalled KZt209.9bn, 24% of Halyk Bank’s total liabilities and 35% of total customer 
deposits. In 2006, deposits increased by 55%, mainly as a result of growth in KZt-denominated term deposits. 
this strong deposit base and stable current account balances underpinned by our payroll services give us an 
important competitive advantage in funding. For further information on Halyk Bank’s retail deposit base, please 
refer to the Financial Review and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Payment cards
Halyk Bank has been instrumental in developing the retail card market in Kazakhstan; it was the first bank 
to issue cards and to develop a point-of-sale terminal system. the market leader, with 51.2% of all cards in 
circulation, we own 30.7% of AtMs and 26.3% of point-of-sale terminals in the country. In 2006 we issued 
283,500 cards bringing the total of active cards up to around 2.1 million. More than 90% of them are salary-
linked cards which carry Visa, MasterCard, American express, Visa electron, Cirrus or Maestro logotypes. the 
total turnover of operations through Halyk cards increased by 45% and exceeded KZt520bn in 2006. 

As the market leader in AtM banking, we provide a range of services to our cardholders. Using our payment 
cards, customers can make real-time payments from their card accounts, make deposits or obtain overdrafts 
through an AtM, access their pension fund accounts at Halyk Pension Fund, and access account information 
and transfer money using mobile phones and other wireless communications. By introducing new products and 
expanding its customer base, Halyk Bank increased its total earnings from payment card services by 42% to 
KZt5,631m for 2006, compared with KZt3,954m in 2005.

Halyk Bank is currently the only bank in the former Soviet Union to have entered into an agreement with the 
China Union Pay international payment system (CUP) enabling us to offer services to CUP cardholders on our 
network. the agreement also enables Halyk Bank’s cardholders to access CUP’s services in China.

Payroll management services
We are the largest provider of payroll administration services in the country: we hold a more than 60% market 
share and serve more than 5,000 corporate and SMe clients, and more than 1.5 million individuals – employees 
of these companies. Providing payroll services creates a base for us to offer those customers other products, 
such as pension funds, deposits, loans, life insurance, cards, etc, at advantageous terms.
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Mobile and internet banking
Halyk is a recognised leader in mobile and internet banking in Kazakhstan. In 2006 the number of customers 
using our mobile banking services increased by 95,500 and, at the end of 2006, totalled 126,500; the number 
of internet banking users had increased to 9,200. our fee income on mobile banking services was KZt168.2m 
in 2006. the total turnover of internet banking services on KZt accounts grew by 16% to KZt19.5bn in 2006. 
our income from this service increased by 6.7% in 2006, to KZt57.2m.

Agent services
As the operator of the most extensive financial services distribution platform in Kazakhstan, Halyk Bank is a 
partner of choice for a number of commercial and government entities. thus, Halyk Bank serves as a non-
exclusive payment and collection agent for Government pension and other social security payments, the State 
housing savings bank, Kazakhstan Mortgage Company, Kazakhstan Fund of Mortgage Guarantees, the Financial 
Centre for the Ministry of education, Halyk Pension Fund, JSC Kazakhinstrakh, as well as number of utility and 
telecommunications companies. 

Pension payments through Halyk Bank’s network in 2006 amounted to KZt180.5bn, an increase of 21.6% 
over 2005. As a result, our commission income grew by 21.6%, to KZt1.1bn. turnover of all other payments 
under agency services, including other budgetary payments, cash and utility payments, amounted to 
KZt153.2bn in 2006, generating commission income of KZt2.2bn.

Distribution channels
our leading position in retail banking is based on our distribution network which is the largest in the country: it 
has more than 600 outlets, nearly 1,000 operating AtMs, and almost 3,000 point-of-sale terminals. our retail 
distribution network includes: internet banking and internet kiosks, call centre and telephone banking, card 
and AtM banking, mobile banking, physical branches, and point-of-sale terminals, and is managed at head 
office level. We were the first bank in Kazakhstan to introduce electronic queuing systems (NeMo-Q) to improve 
customer service and the efficiency of our branches: the number of branches equipped with the NeMo-Q 
system increased in 2006 from 27 to more than 70. We also plan to develop our remote banking services 
further by installing 300 internet kiosks.

Although we continue to take the lead in opening outlets, we strive to reduce branches’ workload by 
introducing NeMo-Q systems, expanding card accounts, and installing more sophisticated AtMs, which 
customers can use for transactions such as making cash deposits, obtaining small overdrafts to their salary card 
accounts and paying utility bills. 

Financials
the retail loan portfolio – 31% of the total loan portfolio – increased by 51% to KZt197.2bn in 2006 (2005: 
up 95 % to KZt 130.6bn). Mortgage loans – 56% of total retail loans – increased by 40% in 2006, while 
the consumer loan portfolio increased by 67%. total deposits of individuals and entrepreneurs, representing 
35% of total amounts due to customers, increased by 55% to KZt209.9bn in 2006 (2005: up 21% to 
KZt135.4bn). An increasing share of retail business and higher average rates in the retail sector drove interest 
income in 2006: retail banking contributed 41% of total interest income compared with 36% in 2005. the 
net interest margin in retail business increased to 15.2% (2005: 13.2%). Retail business’s share of fee and 
commission income was 30% in 2006, compared with 31% in 2005.
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Opportunities 
A strong brand, powerful distribution and a commanding lead in the retail sector, puts Halyk in a strong 
position to benefit from the projected growth in the sector. We believe there is an opportunity to increase sales 
to a customer base that is only just beginning to adopt retail banking products. We will build on the major 
competitive edge our branch network gives us, by continuing to open outlets in selected growth regions and, as 
retail banking grows in importance, will increase the number of AtMs as well as mobile and internet banking. 
We believe that increasing our payroll services to corporate and SMe customers will give us access to more high-
quality retail customers, and our strong position in pensions will also enable us to acquire more customers. 
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SME banking
Halyk Bank is a recognised leader in SMe banking: we provide a wide range of loans, payroll services, 
transaction services, leasing, insurance, pensions, cards and trade finance products. to direct our services 
more effectively to the SMe sector, which we believe will represent one of the most important growth areas in 
Kazakhstan’s economy, we separated our SMe business from our corporate business in 2004.

Clients
Internally we classify our SMe clients as being those who have total credit exposures of not more than 
US$10m and, at the end of 2006, estimated that we had a 17% share of this increasingly important sector 
of Kazakhstan’s economy. We have approximately 63,000 SMe clients which are served by 700 employees, 
including 86 dedicated relationship managers located at our 19 regional branches. In order to meet the needs of 
these clients better, we further classify those with loan exposures over KZt75m (approximately US$600,000) as 
being medium-sized enterprises and those with loan exposures under KZt75m as being small-sized enterprises, 
although limits vary from region to region. the majority of our SMe clients are based in the agricultural and 
industrial regions of Kazakhstan, typically outside of Almaty and Astana.

Products
Halyk Bank offers SMe clients standardised lending programmes, designed to meet different business 
requirements, which depend on the financial standing of the company, collateral available and the tenor
of the loan. 

originally evolved from the eBRD’s micro-lending programmes for Kazakhstan’s top commercial banks, and 
further developed by Halyk Bank during the past two years, Halyk’s small business lending programmes 
– including its widely-recognised “Business Lights” and “Business Small” brands –  account for more than 83% 
of its loan portfolio to small businesses. We are also a bank of choice for medium-sized enterprises through our 
successfully-branded lending programmes, “Business Medium”, “Halyk Agri” (which targets grain-producing 
companies), and many others. Furthermore, Halyk Bank is a very active player in Government-sponsored 
lending and agricultural co-financing programmes.

We also have been successful in generating fee and commission income from our relationships with SMe clients 
through cross-selling leasing and trade finance products, pension fund, payroll, cards, and insurance services. 
At 31 December 2006, we had issued approximately 3,000 corporate cards to SMe clients, and had set up 
114 leasing contracts. During 2006, SMe business originated more than 500 insurance policies and brought 
more than 8,000 new clients to the Pension Fund of Halyk Bank. one of the successful card products offered 
to medium business clients is a system whereby Halyk Bank’s payment cards can be used to make payments at 

Indicator 2006 2005

Number of clients 63,000 56,000

SMe loans: KZtbn 93.9 63.9

Small business loans: % of total SMe loans 58 55

Medium business loans: % of total SMe loans 42 45

SMe share of total loans: % 14.9 14.6

Interest income: KZtbn 10.3 5.9

Fee and commission income: KZtbn 4.1 3.6

Source: Halyk Bank
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one of the 137 specially-adapted PoS terminals located at Customs stations countrywide. Halyk Bank, which 
introduced this s ervice in 2003, has a monopoly in this market, and Customs payments made in this way 
gradually increased to around KZt8bn a month by the end of 2006. the standard fee we charge for the service 
generated KZt120m in revenues in the year. We intend to develop the Customs payment card project to include, 
among other things, payment of charges for cargo declarations and inspection.

Distribution channels
In 2004, Halyk Bank created a specialised department, the main function of which is to develop SMe business. 
In 2005, the department was structured into two units, one focusing on small, the other on medium-sized, 
businesses. In 2006, we opened our first ‘‘all for small business’’ centres in Almaty, Shymkent and Pavlodar, 
which focus on providing all types of financial services for small businesses, including consultancy, lending, 
notary and retail services. In 2006 we also opened similar centres in seven other cities.

Financials
the SMe loan portfolio, which represents 15% of the total loan portfolio, increased by 47% to KZt93.9bn 
in 2006, compared with 30%, to KZt63.9bn, in 2005. Most loans to SMes are secured by real estate, other 
fixed assets, inventory, and future receivables, and have maturities ranging from one month to ten years. 
Interest income from SMe business increased by 76% to KZt10.3bn in 2006, compared with KZt5.9bn in 
2005, whereas fee and commission income grew by 14% to KZt 4.1bn, compared with KZt3.6bn in 2005. 
SMe banking contributed 13% of total interest income in 2006, compared with 11% in 2005, while the SMe 
business’s share of fee and commission income was 18% in 2006, compared with 22% in 2005.

Opportunities
economic growth is spreading into the regions and leading to an increase in the number of bankable SMes. 
our distribution network, market position and focus on SMes give us a competitive edge in this very important 
sector and, as some of our SMe clients increase in size, they are proving to be a source of growth for our 
corporate banking portfolio. We aim to strengthen our position in the SMe sector by improving client service and 
the range of products we offer. We see future opportunities in areas such as insurance, cards, payroll, leasing, 
pensions, long-term savings’ products, corporate finance, currency and interest-rate hedging products.
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Corporate banking
We have historically had a strong corporate banking franchise and have relationships with many leading private 
and state-owned companies. the advantageous funding we derive from our deposit base enables us to offer 
competitive corporate lending terms compared with those of other Kazakh banks. In addition, we also occupy 
the top position in providing trade finance, transactional banking services, payroll and pension fund services, 
underwriting, and liquidity and asset management services. 

Indicator 2006 2005

Number of clients 323 300

Corporate loans: KZtbn2  338.8 242.5

Corporate loans: % of total loans 53.8 55.5

Corporate deposits: KZtbn 387.3 184.5

term deposits: KZtbn 291.1 109.4

Current accounts: KZtbn 96.2 75.1

Interest income: KZtbn2 33.0 26.3

Fee and commission income: KZtbn2 4.5 4.4

Source: Halyk Bank

2  Corporate portfolio excludes SMes

Clients
At 31 December 2006, Halyk Bank had 323 corporate clients, representing 53.8% of its gross loan portfolio, 
which are served by approximately 110 employees, including two heads of corporate divisions covering 
different regions and one head of credit analysis. We classify corporate clients as being those who have total 
credit exposure of more than US$10m, have an annual turnover of more than US$25m, or are part of a larger 
group. During the past three years we have increased our corporate client base by an average of 15% a year. 
Despite the impact this has had on the overall size and scale of corporate business, our client strategy continues 
to focus on increasing profitability from existing clients.

Products
As a group we provide competitive products to our corporate clients, including lending, trade finance, treasury 
services, transactional and payroll services, leasing, insurance, pension fund, investment banking, underwriting, 
liquidity and asset management services. We emphasise the cross-selling of cash management, payroll services, 
and treasury products.

Corporate deposit accounts 
At 31 December 2006, Halyk Bank had some KZt96.2bn in its corporate current accounts and, at the same 
date, had approximately KZt291.1bn of term deposits, with terms ranging from overnight to 365 days. the 
corporate deposits (including those of SMes) of KZt387.3bn represented an 11.3% market share and 64.8% 
of Halyk Bank’s total customer deposits, compared with 57.0% at 31 December 2005. For further information 
on corporate deposits, please refer to the Financial Review and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.



 Annual Report 2006//JSC HALYK BANK    33

www.halykbank.kz

Corporate lending
Loans to large corporate clients consist principally of secured loans with maturities ranging from one month 
to ten years. Halyk Bank continued to increase its lending to corporates during the year and, at 31 December 
2006, loans amounted to KZt338.8bn, an increase of KZt96.3bn or 39.7% from the previous year. Major 
sectors of corporate lending are residential and commercial construction, agriculture, energy and mining. 
Generally we provide our corporate clients with up to 50% of their financing needs thereby cementing a 
mutually beneficial relationship. Corporate loans are usually secured by real estate, other fixed assets, inventory 
or cash receivables. the largest single exposure to any one borrower at 31 December 2006 was 2.2% of the 
gross loan portfolio, or KZt14.1bn, and the top ten exposures amounted to 14.8% of the gross loan portfolio, 
or KZt93.4bn. At 31 December 2006, Halyk Bank had a 10.8% share of Kazakhstan’s corporate lending 
market (including SMes). For the composition of the loan portfolio, please see the Financial Review and the 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Trade finance 
the size of our portfolio of trade finance and documentary products, including letters of credit and guarantees, 
increased by 27.9% to KZt79.9bn at the end of 2006. Halyk Bank intends to expand its trade finance business, 
including operations such as issuing letters of credit and guarantees. Facilities for financing the import of capital 
goods, include short-term (up to 12 months), and long-term (up to ten years) financing, which is principally 
covered by export Credit Agencies (including euler Hermes Kreditversicherungs-AG, CoFACe, export-Import 
Bank of the United States and SACe S.p.a.). At 31 December 2006, the aggregate amount drawn by Halyk Bank 
and outstanding under its trade finance facilities was KZt57.5bn, compared with KZt80.5bn at 31 December 
2005. For further information on off-balance sheet arrangements, please refer to the Financial Review and the 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Corporate payroll services
As the market leader in providing payroll services in Kazakhstan, we manage the payroll for approximately 1.5 
million employees of more than 5,000 private entities, as well as our own employees. employees using this 
service are issued with salary cards and are able to take advantage of the various programmes on offer to salary 
cardholders. 
 
Financials
the corporate loan portfolio, which represents 54% of the total loan portfolio, increased by 40% to 
KZt338.8bn in 2006, from KZt242.5bn in 2005. Corporate deposits, which increased by 109.9% to 
KZt387.3bn in 2006, from KZt184.5bn in 2005, represented 64.8% of the Bank’s total deposit base. Interest 
income in the corporate sector increased by 25.3% to KZt33.0bn in 2006, from KZt26.3bn in 2005; fee and 
commission income, driven by increased cross-selling, grew by 1.5%, to KZt 4.5bn in 2006, from KZt4.4bn 
in 2005. Corporate banking contributed 41% of total interest income in 2006 compared with 50% in 2005; 
corporate business’s share of fee and commission income was 20% in 2006, compared with 27% in 2005.

Opportunities
As intensified competition for corporate clients in recent years put pressure on interest margins, our strategy 
was to offer clients more comprehensive solutions to their needs. We view cash management, interest rate, 
commodity and foreign exchange hedging, and investment banking as principal growth areas in the corporate 
sector as companies access domestic and international capital markets more actively. We also intend to continue 
to expand our corporate client base in response to a trend towards choosing banks which have balance sheet 
capacity and offer a broad range of products.
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Pension Fund 
Halyk Bank’s pensions company, JSC Accumulative Pension Fund of Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan (Halyk Pension 
Fund) was established on 8 January 1998 when a statutory pension scheme was introduced in Kazakhstan. of 
the country’s 14 pension funds (including one state-owned), Halyk Pension Fund, which has a 27.8% market 
share, is one of the market leaders. It provides mandatory and voluntary schemes: under mandatory pension 
schemes pension benefits are based solely on contributions and the relevant fund’s gains.

Indicators 2006 2005

Number of customers: m 1.7 1.5

Assets under management: KZtbn 254.3 168.3

total assets: KZtbn 7.0 2.9

Shareholders’ equity: KZtbn 6.4 2.8

Net income: KZtbn 3.4 1.3

Source: Halyk Pension Fund

Halyk Pension Fund, an 85%-owned subsidiary of Halyk Bank, is authorised to collect contributions, provide 
payments, manage assets and develop programmes for its customers in Kazakhstan. organisations whose 
employees’ funds are invested with Halyk Pension Fund include Government entities, corporates and Halyk 
Bank itself. Halyk Pension Fund – with 17 branches, 12 regional offices, 39 service centres in branches of Halyk 
Bank, 30 service centres in the offices of its main corporate customers, 41 agencies and 470 agents selling 
its pension fund products – has the largest branch network in Kazakhstan. the fund is focused on introducing 
and developing innovative technologies and cross-selling packaged products, such as discounted Halyk Bank 
mortgage rates and beneficial savings rates on large deposits, to certain pension fund customers.

Financials
At 31 December 2006, Halyk Pension Fund had approximately 1.7 million customers and pension assets under 
management of KZt254bn. At the end of 2006, assets under management had increased by 51% from 
KZt168.3bn to KZt254.3bn; equity was KZt6.4bn, and the Pension Fund recorded a net income of KZt3.4bn 
for the year.

Insurance 
For the past six years, the Kazakhstan insurance market has been growing at between 40% and 50% a year on 
the back of strong growth in the Kazakhstan economy and the increasing penetration of financial products.

Halyk Bank’s insurance business, JSC Kazakhinstrakh (Kazakhinstrakh), is a non-life insurance company which 
provides a full package of general insurance services to a wide range of legal entities and individuals across a 
broad range of industry sectors. It is a successor to the former Soviet Union’s insurance system in Kazakhstan, 
which was created as a separate legal entity in 1995 and privatised in 2001. Kazakhinstrakh has the largest 
branch and agency network of Kazakhstan’s insurance companies: it has 15 branches and 77 agencies 
throughout the country and more than 2,000 agents, some of whom are based at Halyk Bank’s branches. At 31 
December 2006, Kazakhinstrakh was the third-largest general insurance company in Kazakhstan, with a 9.1% 
market share and more than 300,000 corporate and individual customers. More than 25% of Kazakhinstrakh’s 
sales in 2006 were generated through Halyk Bank’s distribution network.
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Financials
At 31 December 2006, Kazakhinstrakh had total assets of KZt10.8bn, net income for the year of KZt0.9bn, 
KZt4.9bn of net premiums written (reflecting high levels of re-insurance), KZt7.9bn in liabilities and KZt2.8bn 
in equity. Since Halyk Bank’s acquisition of a controlling stake in Kazakhinstrakh in october 2006, its financial 
statements are fully consolidated into Halyk Bank’s financial statements.

In November 2005, Kazakhinstrakh created a wholly-owned life insurance company – JSC Halyk Life (Halyk 
Life). For regulatory reasons, in 2006 ownership of Halyk Life was transferred to Halyk Bank. Halyk Life offers 
various types of personal insurance products, including life, annuity and casualty insurance and intends to sell its 
products through Halyk Bank’s branch network.

Leasing
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, JSC Halyk Leasing (Halyk Leasing), Halyk Bank provides operating 
lease financing to many industrial sectors of the Kazakh economy, including construction, oil and gas, mining, 
transport, agriculture and food processing. At 31 December 2006, Halyk Leasing had a portfolio of leasing 
contracts of KZt5.5bn. Based in Almaty, it has representative offices in Aktau and Atyrau. It also takes 
advantage of the “Leasing Classic” programme, which it runs jointly with Halyk Bank, enabling it to make use of 
Halyk’s branch network throughout Kazakhstan.

A large proportion of Halyk Leasing’s customers are corporate clients (SMes and large companies) of Halyk 
Bank, which is actively engaged in selling Halyk Leasing’s products, particularly to SMes. Kazakhstan tax 
regulations benefit clients in that the leased asset is recorded on the client’s balance sheet; full amortisation/
depreciation is tax deductible during the lease term and VAt is not chargeable on certain equipment imported 
for leasing purposes. 

Indicator 20063  20053

Net income: KZtbn 0.1 0.02

total assets: KZtbn 7.3 2.7

Shareholders’ equity: KZtbn 1.9 0.4

Source: Halyk Leasing

Indicators 2006 2005

Number of customers 300,000 270,000

Gross premiums written: KZtbn 11.5 7.3

Net premiums written: KZtbn 4.9 3.0

Net income: KZtbn 0.9 0.5

total assets: KZtbn 10.8 5.5

Shareholders’ equity: KZtbn 2.8 2.0

Source: Kazakhinstrakh

3  Unaudited numbers

Halyk Bank acquired a majority interest in Kazakhinstrakh in october 2006, taking its holding to some 98%, 
of which 10% is held by Halyk Pension Fund. Halyk Bank had previously owned 42% of Kazakhinstrakh, which 
was accounted in the Bank’s consolidated financial statements using the equity method. 
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Brokerage and asset management
We provide brokerage, advisory, investment banking and asset management services through JSC Halyk Finance 
(Halyk Finance), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Halyk Bank which was established on 10 November 2004 and 
which operates from Halyk Bank’s Head office. Halyk Finance also co-manages Altima Central Asia Fund which 
has assets under management of more than US$200m. At 31 December 2006, it had 59 brokerage clients –16 
corporate clients and 43 individuals. Halyk Finance is working with Halyk Bank to offer its products to the Bank’s 
retail, SMe and corporate customers, and is currently training branch staff to assist in the selling of mutual funds. 
At the end of 2006, Halyk Finance managed a portfolio of nine public mutual funds.

Indicator 2006 2005

Number of customers 59 29

Assets under management: KZtbn 3.1 0.6

Brokerage clients’ portfolio: KZtbn 26.4 5.7

own securities portfolio: KZtbn 6.7 2.0

total assets: KZtbn 7.0 3.1

Shareholders equity: KZtbn 2.5 0.5

Net income: KZtbn 0.5 0.1

Source: Halyk Finance

Financials
At 31 December 2006, Halyk Finance had total assets of KZt7.0bn, equity of KZt2.5bn and net income for the 
year of KZt0.5bn. At 31 December 2006, the assets under management and the brokerage portfolio of Halyk 
Finance had a marked-to-market value of KZt3.1bn and KZt26.4bn respectively.

International banking
Halyk Bank provides a wide range of services to its customers engaged in international trading. We currently 
have representative offices in Beijing, London and Moscow, and intend to diversify our clientele and the range of 
international trade finance products we offer.

In addition, we have two foreign subsidiaries, oJSC Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan (Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan) and JSC 
Bank Khlebny (Bank Khlebny). these are an important part of our strategy of building a regional financial 
services group and of leveraging the experience we have gained in Kazakhstan.

Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan was acquired in September 2004. one of the fastest-growing banks in Kyrgyzstan, it 
operates through six branches and has successfully introduced Halyk Bank’s retail and SMe banking products 
into the Kyrgyz market. We believe this experience can be repeated in other countries where we plan to expand 
as part of our regional-growth strategy. At 31 December 2006, Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan had total assets of 
SoM1.4bn (US$37m), equity of SoM257m (US$7m), and net income for the year of SoM34m (US$0.9m).

JSC Bank Khlebny is a small regional bank in the Chelyabinsk industrial region of Russia, which has strong ties 
with Kazakhstan’s industrial sector. Halyk Bank acquired a 76.9% interest in Bank Khlebny in April 2004 and 
further capitalised it for RUR167m (U$6.3m). In December 2006, we increased our holding in Bank Khlebny 
to 99.99%. At 31 December 2006, Bank Khlebny had total assets of RUR200m (US$8 million), equity of 
RUR187m (US$7m) and net income for the year of RUR3m (US$0.1m).
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Summary of risk management policies
the principal risks inherent in Halyk Bank’s business are liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency 
exchange rate risk and credit risk. Halyk Bank monitors and manages the mismatch of maturities, the size and 
degree of its interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate exposure and credit quality in order to minimise 
the effect of these risks on profitability, while ensuring sufficient liquidity and capital adequacy. 

through its asset and liability management, Halyk Bank aims to structure its balance sheet with regard to 
liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency exchange risks, as well as demands for credit, existing asset-liability 
positions and general market conditions. the Bank’s asset, liability and risk management functions are divided 
among the Management Board, the Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCo), credit committees 
located in branches and at the head office, the Risk Management function and the treasury. the Bank’s 
asset and liability management policy is formulated by the Management Board and approved by the Board 
of Directors. ALCo establishes major balance sheet guidelines in asset and liability management and, with 
the assistance of the Risk Management function and the treasury, monitors compliance with them. the Risk 
Management Department is responsible for co-ordinating the establishment and development of the Bank’s risk 
management systems in various departments, assessing and analysing associated risks, and supervising
the Bank’s compliance with the FMSA’s banking regulations. 

Asset and Liability Management Committee
Halyk Bank’s asset and liability policy is set by ALCo and is approved by the Management Board and the Board 
of Directors. ALCo establishes and monitors the principal balance sheet parameters using detailed reports 
– which are prepared on a monthly basis – on the Bank’s exposure to liquidity, interest rate and market risks. 
ALCo also monitors capital adequacy, interest-sensitive assets and liabilities, maturity gaps, liquidity positions, 
certain characteristics of the loan portfolio, interest income and expenses on various assets and liabilities, and 
the current situation in foreign currencies and the financial markets. ALCo delegates day-to-day management 
of Halyk Bank’s liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks to the Bank’s treasury Department.

Funding and liquidity
Halyk Bank’s funding and liquidity management policy is designed to deal with both the “business-as-usual” 
and contingency situations. Under “business-as-usual”, the Bank seeks to ensure that funding sources are 
well diversified and within internal funding targets. to cover contingencies, it endeavours to ensure that it has 
sufficient resources (liquid assets and access to sources of liquidity) to withstand a range of potential crises 
without impairing solvency; is able to maintain normal levels of business and access to customer and market 
funding; can keep the cost of funding within acceptable limits; and is able to comply with FMSA regulations. 
Halyk Bank has the largest share of the retail deposit market and that, combined with corporate accounts, 
comprises the most important source of its funding accounting for 69% of total liabilities at 31 December 
2006. the Bank aims gradually to reduce its most expensive liabilities, and to diversify and lengthen the 
maturity of its funding base through financing on the international debt capital markets. Limits on funding 
sources and liquidity gaps are established by ALCo and measured and reported by the Risk Management 
function on a regular basis. For more information on Halyk Bank’s sources of funds, liquidity position, and 
maturity of assets and liabilities, please refer to the Financial Review and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.
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Interest rate risk
the principal objective of Halyk Bank’s interest rate risk management policy is to improve profitability by limiting 
the effect of adverse interest rate movements, and to increase interest income by managing interest rate 
exposure. Halyk Bank monitors its interest rate sensitivity closely by analysing the composition of its interest-
rate-sensitive assets and liabilities and off-balance sheet financial instruments. Limits on interest rate gaps are 
established and monitored by ALCo on a monthly basis. 

We believe that the structure of our balance sheet reduces our exposure to interest rate risk. While the majority 
of our loans are at fixed interest rates, sensitivity to interest rate changes is largely reduced by the relatively 
short-term maturity (up to one year) of approximately 55% of our loan portfolio as at 31 December 2006. the 
majority of our loan agreements also enable us to amend the interest rate under certain conditions. Furthermore, 
in the event of material changes in circumstances, Halyk Bank is also entitled to call the loans in. Since early 
2006 the standard loan agreement has contained a condition enabling us to call for early loan repayment 
subject to advance notice. As a result, we have mitigated risk by a substantial portion of our assets being open 
to re-pricing before maturity. In addition, in october 2005 we introduced an interest rate gap limit with ALCo 
ensuring compliance on a monthly basis. For more information on interest rate risk, please refer to the Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Credit risk management
Halyk Bank controls its credit risk by limiting the amount of risk it takes in relation to one borrower or group 
of borrowers, and to one industry and geographic sector. the credit limits by borrower, industry sector and 
geographic region are set by the Management Board and monitored and reviewed on a regular basis. the 
exposure to any one borrower is further restricted by sub-limits – which are recommended by the Risk 
Management function and set by the relevant credit committees – that also cover off-balance sheet exposures. 
We reduce our credit risk by requiring the majority of our borrowers to provide collateral in the form of real 
estate, equipment, vehicles, marine ships, goods, receivables, property rights, cash deposits, securities, and 
individual third-party and corporate guarantees. the Bank estimates the net realisable value of the collateral 
provided and monitors its standing and quality on a continuous basis. All credit limits for each of the credit 
committees are established by the Management Board based on the recommendation of the Risk Management 
function.

In addition, Halyk Bank is subject to those FMSA regulations which apply to its credit processes. As a result, 
exposure to any single borrower or group of borrowers cannot exceed 10% of the Bank’s regulatory capital in 
cases of related parties or unsecured exposure, and 25% of the Bank’s regulatory capital in other cases.

Halyk Bank is currently in the process of sourcing a rating system from a leading international supplier. the 
purchase and implementation of a new advanced rating system will enable more accurate evaluation of the 
creditworthiness of the Bank’s corporate and SMe customers and will further strengthen its credit decision-
making process. For more information on credit risk, provisioning policies and non-performing loans, please 
refer to the Financial Review and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Foreign currency risk
our foreign currency position arises primarily through the purchase and sale of foreign currencies (mainly US 
dollars) on the spot market and the mismatch of foreign currency assets and liabilities. ALCo applies value-at-
risk (VaR) methodology to determine the Bank’s exposure to foreign exchange. VaR limits apply to all open 
foreign currency positions exceeding 5% of the Bank’s regulatory capital.

Halyk Bank is also subject to FMSA open currency position regulations. Under current FMSA regulations, the 
Bank’s net open foreign currency position cannot exceed 25% of its regulatory capital. In addition, net open 
positions on the currencies of countries rated A or above by S&P (or the equivalent by other major international 
rating agencies) and the euro are limited to 12.5% of the Bank’s regulatory capital. For the currencies of the 
countries rated below A by S&P (or the equivalent by other major rating agencies) net open currency positions 
are limited to 5% of Halyk Bank’s regulatory capital. For more information on foreign currency risk and foreign 
currency positions of Halyk Bank, please refer to the Financial Review and the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Operational risk
An efficient and risk-averse organisation structure, It systems, policies and procedures – which define business 
units’ responsibility for operational risk management – enable Halyk Bank to minimise operational risk. the 
principal objective is to minimise the Bank’s exposure by adopting best-practice operational risk management 
tools and techniques in its internal processes. Halyk Bank runs an operational risk loss database, reports regularly 
on loss events and makes recommendations to the Management Board and Board of Directors to ensure that 
prompt action is taken when necessary.

Further information
For further details of the risks and uncertainties to which Halyk Bank is subject, please refer to the prospectus 
dated 14 December 2006 (Prospectus) which the Bank issued in relation to an offer of 46.75 million GDRs 
representing 187 million common shares in Halyk Bank (IPo). We believe that there have been no significant 
changes in risks and uncertainties relevant to the Bank since that date. the prospectus is available on the Bank’s 
website, www.halykbank.kz.
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Financial review

the following financial review is based on the audited consolidated financial statements of Halyk Bank and its 
subsidiaries prepared in accordance with IFRS. the non-life insurance subsidiary – Kazakhinstrakh – was fully 
consolidated in Halyk Bank’s financial statements from october 2006. 

Halyk Bank’s financial status and its results of operations were affected by a number of factors during 2006.
We believe the following were particularly important.

Recent growth in Kazakhstan’ economy 
Halyk Bank’s operations and customers are primarily in Kazakhstan, a country in which recent economic growth 
has driven demand for its products and services. this has enabled us to expand our customer base and to sell 
more products to existing customers. We have relatively high exposure to the retail, agriculture, construction, 
property and wholesale trade sectors, which have all grown significantly in recent years. As a result, our financial 
status and results of operations depend on the perpetuation of current economic conditions in Kazakhstan as a 
whole, and in these sectors in particular. 

Opportunities resulting from market segmentation
opportunities to meet the needs of customers in the retail, and clients in the SMe and corporate sectors have 
continued to emerge with the development of the financial market and banking’s increased penetration. For 
example, the interest income on our loan portfolio, and fee and commission income earned from providing 
specialised products and services to corporate and SMe clients, has grown in line with those clients’ needs for 
funding. More recently, as disposable personal income has increased, we have pursued opportunities in the 
retail market by increasing our range of mortgage and consumer lending products.

Combination of fee and commission income, and interest income revenue streams
Interest income, and fee and commission income have been major contributors to our revenues in recent years. 
We have deliberately targeted this revenue mix to mitigate the adverse effects on interest income resulting from 
potential interest-rate changes which, to some degree, mirror the short- and long-term rates in Kazakhstan and 
the United States of America, as well as inflation expectations in Kazakhstan.

Ability to manage costs
Despite our rapid growth, we continue to maintain a good balance of costs and revenues. We have invested 
considerable sums in improving our branch network and It infrastructure to create platforms from which to 
increase revenue growth. In addition, we believe, the interest rate on our liabilities is relatively low compared to 
our peers.

Credit quality and provisioning policies
Halyk Bank has prudent lending policies and procedures, and reviews them periodically in light of current 
economic trends. We comply with the FMSA’s provisioning requirements by using impairment rates, based on 
NBK and FMSA regulations, to establish adequate allowances for the impairment of loans, other assets and off-
balance sheet risks. Provisioning policies under IFRS differ from those under Kazakhstan law. For IFRS purposes, 
we make provisions for losses on individually significant loans on a case-by-case basis; we make provisions 
for losses on pools of homogeneous loans and pools of individually significant loans that are not specifically 
impaired, on historical loss data.
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Interest income
total interest income increased by 54.0% to KZt80,647m (2005: KZt52,385m) principally as a result of 
increased interest on loans to customers, which increased by 49.9% to KZt71,292m (2005: KZt47,549m). 
Although interest on securities and on cash and cash equivalents, together with amounts due from credit 
institutions, all increased significantly, they made only a modest contribution to total interest income. the 
increase in interest income on loans was primarily as a result of an increase in the size of loan portfolio, higher 
average interest rates, and a greater percentage of consumer and mortgage loans, which earn higher interest 
rates.

Interest on securities, principally treasury bills, Government bonds, short-term notes issued by the NBK and 
eurobonds issued by the Government, increased by 55.1% to KZt5,352m (2005: KZt3,450m). the increase 
was driven by a larger portfolio of securities which rose as a consequence of excess liquidity, as well as higher 
yields on domestic interest-earning instruments.

2005 2006

Taxes
Kazakhstan taxes to which Halyk Bank is subject, include VAt, income tax, and social and other taxes. the 
statutory income tax rate is currently 30%. For the years ended 31 December 2005 and 2006, the effective tax 
rates were 18.3% and 23.7% respectively. our effective tax rate is less than the statutory rate because some 
of our income – for example, interest received on residential mortgages, and Government and other qualifying 
securities – is not taxable. While we do not expect there to be any changes in our tax rate, if legislation changes 
the rate could change substantially.

Critical accounting policies
Halyk Bank’s accounting policies are integral to understanding its audited consolidated financial statements 
and related notes. For details of the accounting policies, please refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

Results of operations

Net income
Halyk Bank’s net income for 2006 increased by 71.6% to KZt27,159m (2005: KZt15,828m). this was 
principally attributable to a 98.0% increase in net interest income after impairment charge and a 38.6% 
increase in net fees and commission, which were partially offset by a 48.1% increase in non-interest expenses 
and an increase of 138.5% in income tax.

KZt15,828m

KZt27,159m



 Annual Report 2006//JSC HALYK BANK    43

www.halykbank.kz

Interest on cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from credit institutions increased by 188.8% to 
KZt4,003m (2005: KZt1,386m). the increase was mainly attributable to excess liquidity being invested in 
short-term deposits and loans to credit institutions during the period.

Divisional contribution to interest income

Average interest rates4 on interest-earning assets

 2005 2006

Subsidiaries: KZt2,102m; 4%

Retail:

KZt18,075m;

35%
Corporate:

KZt26,321m;

50%

SMe: KZt5,887m; 11%

Subsidiaries: KZt4,497m; 6%

Retail:

KZt32,816m; 

40%

Corporate:

KZt32,992m; 

41%

SMe: KZt10,342m; 13%

2005 2006

Loans to
customers

Amounts due 
from credit
institutions

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss

Available-for-sale
investment 

securities

Average
interest rates on 
interest-earning 

assets

14.2%
15.4%

3.5%
4.6% 4.2%

6.1%
7.5%

5.1%

11.7% 12.2%

4  these rates are calculated in a different manner from the rates in “Note 25. Financial Risk Management – Interest Rate Risk” to Halyk   
 Bank’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended 31 December 2006, 2005 and 2004. these rates are.calculated 
based on consolidated audited year-beginning and year-end balances and unconsolidated unaudited interim monthly balances.

Average interest rates on the loan portfolio increased to 15.4% (2005: 14.2%), principally as a result of an 
increased share of longer-term loans and KZt-denominated loans in the retail and SMe portfolios. Average 
annual rates on amounts due from credit institutions increased to 4.6% (2005: 3.5%), primarily as a result 
of increased inter-bank interest rates. Average interest rates on financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss increased to 6.1% (2005: 4.2%). the increase was primarily the result of increased inter-bank 
interest rates which, in turn, resulted from an increase in Kazakhstan treasury rates. Average interest rates 
on available-for-sale securities decreased to 5.1% (2005: 7.5%) principally due to significant purchases of 
short-term NBK notes.
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the average interest rate paid on interest-bearing customer balances for 2006 was 4.3% (2005: 4.0%). 

the average interest rate paid on deposits and loans from credit institutions, which increased to 6.4% (2005: 
5.3%), was attributable to an increase in LIBoR and the growing share of longer-tenor KZt-denominated 
deposits. the average interest rate on securities issued decreased to 8.3% (2005: 9.3%) principally because 
average interest rates on KZt-denominated securities decreased significantly. this, in turn, was caused by the 
issuance of medium-term KZt-denominated securities to international investors at a comparatively lower rate 
than those issued previously.

Net interest income before impairment 
Net interest income before impairment charge increased by 48.8% to KZt46,464m (2005: KZt31,229m).

Impairment charge 
In 2006 Halyk Bank amended its loan provisioning policy in accordance with revised IAS 39 which resulted in a 
lower provisioning rate and a lower impairment charge in 2006, despite the growing loan portfolio and other 
assets. 

Interest expense 
total interest expense increased by 61.6% to KZt34,183m (2005: KZt21,156m). the increase resulted from 
growth in Halyk Bank’s deposit base, increased borrowing from credit institutions, and significant issuances of 
debt securities on the domestic market, partially offset by a reduction in 2006 in average interest rates paid on 
debt securities issued. 

Interest on amounts due to customers went up by 55.7% to KZt18,492m (2005: KZt11,873m). this was 
principally a result of increased customer deposits, reflecting the improved economy, generally increased 
consumer confidence in banks, and higher balances of customer term deposits. Halyk Bank’s amounts due to 
customers in foreign currencies are principally in US dollars and, to a lesser extent, in euros. 

Interest on debt securities issued increased by 88.2% to KZt9,238m (2005: KZt4,909m) primarily as a 
result of increased issuances. Interest on amounts due to credit institutions increased by 47.5% to KZt6,453m 
(2005: KZt4,375m). the increase was mainly attributable to an increase in longer-term deposits from other 
credit institutions.

2005 2006

Amounts due to 
customers 

Debt securities issued Amounts due to 
credit institutions

Average interest rates 
on interest-bearing 

liabilities

4.0% 4.3%

9.3%
8.3%

5.3%
6.4%

4.9%
5.3%

Average interest rates4 on interest-bearing liabilities
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  For the years ended 31 December

Indicator  2006 2005

Impairment charge: KZtm  (8,331) (11,970)

Allowance for loan losses/total gross loans: %  5.3 5.9

Impairment charge/operating income before impairment charge: %  11.4 23.5

Halyk Bank’s impairment charge decreased by 30.4% to KZt8,331m (2005: KZt11,970m). the reason for 
this, and for the decrease in the allowance for loan losses as a percentage of total loans, was a change in the 
management’s estimates of individually significant loans and improved net recoveries. the significant decrease 
in the impairment charge resulted in a decrease in the charge as a percentage of operating income before the 
charge. 

Halyk Bank’s net write-offs were KZt543m – gross write-offs of KZt3,526m less recoveries of KZt2,983m 
(2005: KZt2,529m – gross KZt3,648m less KZt1,119m recoveries). Although gross write-offs in 2006 were 
KZt122m less than in 2005, recoveries in 2006 increased substantially as a result of an increase in recoveries 
relating to write-offs during 2006 and prior periods.

Fees and commission
Net fee and commission income increased by 38.6% to KZt21,135m (2005: KZt15,248m) principally as a 
result of increased fee and commission income from pension fund and asset management and bank transfers; 
fee and commission expenses stayed stable. 

 For the years ended 31 December

Indicator  2006 2005

  KZtm KZtm

Pension fund and asset management  7,030 3,115

Bank transfers  5,898 4,312

Cash operations  2,714 2,225

Letters of credit and guarantees issued  1,357 1,796

Maintenance of customer accounts  1,104 894

Customers’ pension payments  1,080 894

Utilities payments  765 861

Payment card maintenance  433 529

Foreign currency operations  232 781

other  1,451 752

Fee and commission income, total  22,064 16,161

Halyk Bank’s income from pension fund and asset management fees and commission increased by 125.7% to 
KZt7,030m (2005: KZt3,115m). this was primarily attributable to increases in the market value and volume 
of funds under management. An increase in bank transfers resulted in fees growing by 36.8% to KZt5,898m 
(2005: KZt4,312m). An increase in cash operations resulted in a 22% increase in fees, to KZt2,714m (2005: 
KZt2,225m), while fees from letters of credit and guarantees decreased by 24.4% to KZt1,357m (2005: 
KZt1,796m) as a result of customers changing payments from documentary operations to open account 
transfers. Changes in fees policy, whereby conversion fees were eliminated and incorporated into spreads on 
foreign exchange operations, resulted in a reduction of 70.3% to KZt232m (2005: KZt781m).
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Fee and commission expenses 
Fee and commission expenses increased by 1.8% to KZt929m (2005: KZt913m), primarily as a result of 
a 28.3% increase, to KZt490m, in fee expenses from payment cards as a result of increased payment card 
transactions. this was partially offset by a 46.3% reduction to KZt117m (2005: KZt 218m), in fee expenses 
from foreign currency operations as a result of lower commissions paid to suppliers of foreign currency 
banknotes.

Other non-interest income
total other non-interest income increased by 20% to KZt5,305m (2005: KZt4,419m).

Gains, less losses, from foreign currencies increased by 81.6% to KZt3,440m (2005: KZt1,894m). this was 
principally attributable to increased dealings in foreign currency and spreads on foreign exchange operations 
after conversion fees for foreign currency operations had been eliminated. 

Gains, less losses, from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss decreased by 114.2% to a net 
loss of KZt193m (2005: net gain of KZt1,363m). the loss was incurred as the result of significant upward 
movements in US and Kazakhstan treasury rates that had a negative effect on the value of those assets. 

Gains, less losses, from available-for-sale securities decreased by 40.9% to KZt202m (2005: KZt342m). 
Gains, less losses, from available-for-sale securities resulted primarily from the sale of treasury bills of the 
Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan, which were purchased in 2005. 

Share of income of associates decreased by 32.9% to KZt167m (2005: KZt249m). the decrease resulted 
from losses at JSC National Processing Centre and JSC Halyk Private equity, as well as the derecognition of JSC 
Kazakinstrakh as an associated company after the acquisition of a controlling stake and its full consolidation in 
october 2006.

other non-interest income, comprising gains from disposals of fixed and other assets, increased by 79.5% to 
KZt1,025m (2005: KZt571m).

Other non-interest expenses
other non-interest expenses increased by 48.1% to KZt28,971m (2005: KZt19,560m). the increase was 
principally attributable to increases in salaries and employee benefits, and in administrative and operating 
expenses. 

Increases in head-count and salaries, particularly for junior employees, together with the introduction of a 
bonus programme for front-office staff, resulted in salaries and employee benefits increasing by 41.8% to 
KZt15,931m (2005: KZt11,236m).

Administrative and operating expenses increased by 63.3% to KZt8,558m (2005: KZt5,242m). Most costs 
increased during the year: those for professional services mainly related to the USD300m bond issue in May 
2006 and the IPo in December; those for repair and maintenance were for the upgrade of branches, the 
establishment of four new personal service centres and of “all for small business” centres.
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Depreciation and amortisation increased by 78.3% to KZt2,371m (2005: KZt1,330m) mainly as a result of 
increased depreciation and amortisation expenses in buildings, transport and other fixed assets in line with the 
increase in Halyk Bank’s fixed assets over the period.

taxes, other than income taxes, increased by 0.2% to KZt1,257m (2005: KZt1,255m). these include VAt, 
property tax, auction and other taxes and duties due to the Government. 

other provisions comprise provision for off-balance sheet items, including letters of credit and guarantees 
issued. Principally as the result of an increase in financial commitments and contingencies issued, these 
increased by 51.6% to KZt752m (2005: KZt496m).

Taxation
Income tax was KZt8,442m (2005: KZt3,539m). Halyk Bank’s effective tax rate, at 23.7% (2005: 18.3%), 
increased primarily as a result of a change in tax legislation which removed tax exceptions on income earned 
from long-term (more than three-year) investment loans. the Bank’s effective tax rate is not equivalent to the 
statutory rate because some interest income, such as interest on mortgage loans and Government and other 
qualifying securities, is not taxable.

Minority interest in net income
Minority interest in net income increased by 150.0% to KZt500m (2005: KZt200m). the year-on-year 
increase resulted from the net income growth of JSC Accumulative Pension Fund of Halyk Bank Kazakhstan, of 
which we own 85%.

Selected financial ratios5 

 For the years ended 31 December

Indicator  2006 2005

  % %

Profitability ratios  

Return on average common shareholders’ equity6   41.8 37.2

Return on average total assets7   3.5 3.0

Net interest margin8   7.0 6.9

Net interest spread9   6.8 6.7

operating expense10 /operating income before impairment charge11   36.8 35.0

other non-interest expense (operating expense)10/net interest income

before impairment charge11  62.4 62.6

other non-interest expense (operating expense)10/average total assets  4.0 4.0

Impairment charge11 /operating income before impairment charge  11.4 23.5

Impairment charge11/average gross loans  1.7 3.4

5  Average amounts used in ratios are average monthly balances.
6  Return on average common shareholders’ equity is (a) net income attributable to common shareholders, divided by (b) average common shareholders’ 
equity.
7  Return on average total assets comprises (a) net income after income tax expense, less dividends on preferred shares, divided by (b) average total assets.
8  Net interest margin comprises (a) net interest income before impairment charge, divided by (b) average interest – earning assets.
9  Net interest spread comprises the difference between the average interest rate earned on interest – earning assets and the average interest rate incurred 
on interest – bearing liabilities.
10  operating expense includes salaries and other employee benefits, administrative and operating expenses and depreciation and amortisation expenses.
11  Impairment charge includes impairment charge on loan losses and other assets.
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12  Loan quality is calculated using gross loan balances excluding recognised interest.
13  Classified loans comprise loans that are classified as “Doubtful” categories 3 to 5 (20%, 25% and 50% allowances) and “Loss” (100% allowance) in 
accordance with FMSA regulations.
14  Non-performing loans comprise loans the principal or interest of which is overdue by 30 days.
15  Liquid assets comprise securities plus cash and cash equivalents, obligatory reserves and due from other banks.

 For the years ended 31 December

Indicator  2006 2005

Loan portfolio quality 12  

Classified loans13 /gross loans  8.3 9.1

Non-performing loans14 /gross loans  1.2 1.4

Allowance for loan losses/gross loans  5.5 6.0

Allowance for loan losses/classified loans13  65.4 66.1

Allowance for loan losses/non-performing loans14  467.8 420.6

Balance sheet ratios  

Amounts due to customers/total net loans  100.3 78.7

Amounts due to customers/total assets  60.3 57.8

total net loans/total assets  60.1 73.5

total shareholders’ equity/total assets  12.2 11.5

Liquid assets15 /total assets  36.4 23.3
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Financial condition at 31 December 2006

Total assets
At the end of the financial year, Halyk Bank had total assets of KZt991,359m (2005: KZt559,665m), an 
increase of 77.1% over the previous year. this was principally attributable to increases of 45% in the net loan 
portfolio, of 919.4% in the available-for-sale investment securities and, to a lesser extent, of 123.8% in cash 
and cash equivalents, and of 538.4% in obligatory reserves. 

the growth in the loan portfolio over recent years resulted from an overall increase in lending activity, particularly 
to retail customers and SMe clients.

the growth in cash and cash equivalents and investment securities was attributable to temporary excess liquidity 
experienced by Halyk Bank in 2006 as a result of funding growing more quickly than the loan portfolio. the 
excess liquidity was typically invested in a portfolio of short-term deposits, loans to credit institutions, and liquid 
and trading securities. 

the increase in obligatory reserves was in response to a change in the NBK’s minimum reserve requirements, 
introduced during the year, which stipulate generally higher obligatory reserve levels for banks.

Insurance assets were added to total assets in 2006 as a result of the consolidation of JSC Kazakhinstrakh after 
the acquisition of a controlling stake in october 2006.

Loan portfolio
Loans to customers represent the largest part of Halyk Bank’s assets. As at 31 December 2006, the Bank had 
total loans to customers, net of allowance for loan impairment, of KZt 596,216m, or 60.1% of total assets, an 
increase of 45.0% over the previous year (2005: KZt411,097m, or 73.5%). Loans to the Bank’s ten largest 
borrowers represented approximately 15% of the gross loan portfolio (2005: approximately 12%). Halyk 
Bank’s exposure to the single largest borrower was KZt14,104m, constituting 2.2% of total gross loans to 
customers (2005: 2.4%).

 As at 31 December

Indicator 2006 2005

 KZt m % of total KZt m % of total

Retail loans:     

– mortgage loans 110,274 17.5 78,680 18.0

– consumer loans 86,907 13.8 51,922 11.9

Wholesale trade 113,510 18.0 60,924 13.9

Construction 70,064 11.1 54,461 12.5

Agriculture 47,474 7.5 38,019 8.7

Retail trade 42,098 6.7 33,909 7.8

Services 23,213 3.7 13,866 3.2

Real estate 14,896 2.4 12,494 2.9

energy 14,745 2.3 7,279 1.7
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Loans to retail customers increased by 50.9% (2005: up 94.9%); to SMe clients – up 46.9% (2005: up 
29.5%); to corporate clients – up 39.7% (2005: up 56.7%).

Halyk Bank’s loan portfolio was 99.8% collateralised (2005: 99.3%). Collateral on loans extended by the Bank 
includes, but is not limited to, real estate, machinery and motor vehicles, industrial equipment, industrial goods, 
food-stock, commodities and other commercial goods, as well as cash deposits, securities and personal third-
party and corporate guarantees.

Growth in the loan portfolio in recent years was mainly driven by growth in mortgage and consumer loans, as 
well as increased lending to clients in the wholesale trade and construction sectors.

Individuals:

KZt130,602m; 
30%

Large corporations:

KZt242,496m; 55%

Small and
medium businesses: 

KZt63,920m; 15%

 2005 2006

Individuals:

KZt197,181m; 
31%

Large corporations: 

KZt338,761m; 54%

Small and
medium businesses: 

KZt93,928m; 15%

Distribution of loan portfolio by type of borrower

As at 31 December

Indicator 2006 2005

 KZt m % of total KZt m % of total

oil and gas 13,532 2.1 16,380 3.8

transportation 11,503 1.8 8,440 1.9

Food industry 10,359 1.6 3,743 0.9

Hotel industry 5,811 0.9 3,323 0.8

Metallurgy 5,638 0.9 3,968 0.9

Mining 4,835 0.8 6,587 1.5

Consumer goods and automobile trade 4,639 0.7 2,149 0.5

Research and development 2,444 0.4 8,307 1.9

Machinery 2,194 0.3 2,708 0.6

Communication 1,888 0.3 1,433 0.3

other 43,846 7.0 28,427 6.5

Gross loans, total 629,870 100.0 437,018 100.0
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Non-KZt loans comprised 51.2% of Halyk Bank’s loan portfolio (2005: 59.0%). US dollar obligations are the 
most significant element of non-KZt denominated loans. the general trend of growth in the KZt denominated 
part of the loan portfolio in recent years is attributable to the Bank’s policy of promoting lending in KZt resulting 
from higher liquidity and higher net interest margin earned on KZt assets.

2005 2006

on demand < 1 month 1-3 months 3-12 months > 3 years

0.3% 0.4%
3.2% 4.1%

6.7% 8.4%

31.6%

42.1%

14.6%

20.8%

1-3 years

43.6%

24.2%

the increase in loans maturing over three years to KZt123,925m, or 20.8% of the total loan portfolio (2005: 
KZt59,882m, or 14.6%) was primarily attributable to the significant growth in the mortgage portfolio, 
where average maturities are generally longer, as well as increasing volumes of longer-term lending to 
existing corporate and SMe clients. the decrease in loans with maturities of between one and three years 
to KZt144,508m, or 24.2% of the total loan portfolio (2005: KZt179,407m, or 43.6%), was primarily 
attributable to the introduction into Halyk Bank’s standard credit documentation of an unconditional right for 
it to call for early repayment of loans. Since the early repayment is subject to ten months’ prior notice from the 
Bank, these loans are classified into the “between three months and one year” category. 

Composition of loan portfolio by currency

Distribution of loans by currency

KZt Foreign currencies

2005 2006

41%

59%
49% 51%

Composition of loan portfolio by maturity

Distribution of loans by maturity
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 As at 31 December

Indicator  2006   2005

 total total Reserves/ total total Reserves/
 exposure reserves  exposure exposure reserves  exposure
 KZtm KZtm  % KZtm  KZtm %

Standard loans 278,831 — — 267,019 — —

Doubtful 1st category 295,399 14,343 4.9 125,959 6,083 4.8

Doubtful 2nd category 2,333 231 9.9 3,530 350 9.9

Doubtful 3rd category 25,075 4,842 19.3 20,615 4,012 19.5

Doubtful 4th category 2,815 676 24.0 1,031 252 24.4

Doubtful 5th category 9,417 4,550 48.3 6,003 2,907 48.4

Loss loans 16,002 15,466 96.7 12,861 12,317 95.8

Net IFRS adjustment — (6,455) — — — —

Gross loans, total 629,870 33,654 5.3 437,018 25,921 5.9

During 2005 and 2006, Halyk Bank followed conservative FMSA classification requirements, which generally 
resulted in a growing share of loans provided for at a rate of 5.0% (included in Doubtful 1st category). the 
increase of Doubtful 1st category loans to KZt295,399m, or 46.8% of total gross loans (2005: KZt125,959m, 
or 28.8%) was a result of the adoption of stricter loan classification/provisioning policies under FMSA 
regulations by the Bank during 2005, prescribing minimum 5.0% allowances for all partially (less than 50%) 
collateralised loans on which the borrowers experience temporary financial difficulties, but nevertheless are 
repaying their loan principal and interest without delay and in full.

Following Kazakh market convention and statutory NPL reporting requirements, non-performing loans 
comprise principal or interest which is overdue for more than 30 days. As at 31 December 2006, the aggregate 
amount of non-performing loans was KZt7,194m, or 1.1% of total loans (2005: KZt6,163m, or 1.4%). the 
percentage of non-performing loans to total loans decreased mainly as a result of a reorganisation of Halyk 
Bank’s Problem Loans function in 2005, which resulted in a speedy reaction and increased recoveries.

Total liabilities
At the end of the financial year, Halyk Bank had total liabilities of KZt870,732m (2005: KZt495,221m), an 
increase of 75.8% over the previous year. this was primarily attributable to an increase in amounts due to 
customers, reflecting an increase in the corporate and, to a lesser extent, the retail deposit bases, an increase in 
debt securities issued, in particular US$300 million senior notes placed with international institutional investors 
in May 2006, and an increase in bank borrowings. Insurance liabilities were added to total liabilities in 2006 as 
a result of the consolidation of JSC Kazakhinstrakh after the acquisition of a controlling stake in october 2006.

Amounts due to customers 
Amounts due to customers represent the largest part of Halyk Bank’s funding sources. the availability of 
amounts due to customers is influenced by factors such as prevailing interest rates, market conditions and 
levels of competition, although Halyk Bank believes that its customer base is relatively insensitive to short-term 
fluctuations in interest rates and is more dependent on its ability to provide good customer service and a range 
of banking products and services. As at 31 December 2006, Halyk Bank’s total amount due to customers was 
KZt597,935m. Amounts due to customers were almost equally split between KZt and foreign currency in 
2005 and 2006.
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    As at 31 December

Indicator 20 06 2005

 KZtm % KZtm %

Current accounts     

Commercial entities 66,809 11.2 64,588 20.0

Individuals 52,597 8.8 37,913 11.7

Government entities 29,438 4.9 10,466 3.2

Current accounts, total 148,844 24.9 112,967 34.9

term deposits     

Commercial entities 263,192 44.0 92,026 28.4

Individuals 157,281 26.3 97,444 30.1

Government entities 27,908 4.7 17,427 5.4

Term deposits, total 448,381 75.0 206,896 64.0

Guarantee and other restricted accounts 711 0.1 3,651 1.1

Customer accounts, total 597,935 100.0 323,515 100.0

Halyk Bank’s amounts due to customers consist of customer current accounts and term deposits, amounting 
to 68.7% of its total liabilities as at 31 December 2006. Customer current accounts generally bear no interest 
and can be withdrawn on demand. For term deposits, different interest rates are paid on the various types of 
deposits offered by the Bank.

2005 2006

on demand < 1 month 1-3 months 3-12 months > 3 years

34.9%

24.9%

12.1%

25.0%

6.7%
4.7%

27.4%

36.7%

1.0% 1.6%

1-3 years

18.0%

7.0%

Deposits by maturity
Distribution of deposits by maturity
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 As at 31 December

Indicator 2006  2005

 KZtm % KZtm %

Individuals and entrepreneurs 209,877 35.1 135,357 41.8

Metallurgy 102,345 17.1 636 0.2

Construction 81,319 13.6 22,891 7.1

oil and gas 67,540 11.3 99,769 30.8

Financial sector 44,168 7.4 5,422 1.7

other transportation 17,291 2.9 4,760 1.5

Wholesale trade  15,800 2.6 5,908 1.8

energy 12,843 2.1 10,391 3.2

transportation of oil and gas 1,794 0.3 6,267 1.9

other 44,958 7.5 32,113 9.9

 597,935 100.0 323,515 100.0

At 31 December 2006, total deposits of individuals and entrepreneurs represented 35.1% of total amounts 
due to customers. In addition, clients in the metallurgy, construction, and oil and gas sectors represented 
17.1%, 13.6% and 11.3% of total deposits, respectively. At 31 December 2006, the Bank’s ten largest clients 
accounted for approximately 52% of total amounts due (2005: approximately 39%). Halyk Bank believes that 
in the event of withdrawals, it would be given sufficient notice to arrange for the necessary funds to enable 
repayment.
 
In April 2007, the Bank’s special purpose vehicle subsidiary, HSBK (europe) B.V., entered into a syndicated loan 
facility agreement for the principal amount of US$400m with a two-year tenor with an extension option for one 
year fully guaranteed by the Bank. In May 2007, HSBK (europe) B.V. successfully placed ten-year eurobonds for 
the principal amount of US$700m fully guaranteed by Halyk Bank.  

Total equity
At 31 December 2006, total equity, at KZt120,628m (2005: KZt64,444m), represented 12.2% of total 
assets (2005: 11.5%). the growth in 2006 was the result of increases in share capital to KZt60,684m (2005: 
KZt29,016m) and retained earnings and other reserves to KZt56,736m (2005: KZt32,806m). on 19 April 
2006, Halyk Bank’s general meeting of shareholders authorised the issue of 30 million new common shares, 
fully issued and placed during 2006 for a total consideration of KZt7,500m. In December 2006, the Bank 
offered 55 million shares of common stock to its pre-IPo shareholders, fully issued and placed during 2006 
and the first quarter of 2007. It also issued and placed non-voting convertible preferred shares for a total 
consideration of KZt907.4m during the year.

Dividends 
KZt1,428m16  was paid in dividends on preferred shares for 2005. In June 2006, the Bank paid a dividend of 
KZt1.35 per common share, to a total amount of KZt1,331m. 

At the AGM held on 23 April 2007 shareholders approved a dividend of KZt2.50 per common share, totalling 
approximately KZt2,450m, and KZt15.04 per preferred share, totalling KZt1,579m.

16  Dividends actually paid. this amount is different from “Dividends – preferred shares” in Halyk Bank’s consolidated financial statements as at and for 
the years ended 31 December 2006, 2005 and 2004. In 2005, dividends were linked to inflation, and because there was inflation during the time that 
elapsed between the balance sheet date and the actual payment date of the dividend, the amount paid was greater than the amount declared.

Deposits by sectors
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Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure (capex) increased by 168.1% to KZt9,592m (2005: KZt3,578m). During the year 
KZt2,631m was invested in the opening of VIP centres for retail customers, “all for small business” centres for 
SMe clients, and the purchase of a new building for the Halyk Pension Fund. Investment in other fixed assets 
of KZt3,224m comprised the modernisation and expansion of the Bank’s branch network. expenditure on 
intangible assets increased to KZt1,211m (2005: KZt399m) as a result of installing an SAP data warehouse 
and the purchase of a temenos-supplied t-24 automated banking system. KZt570m (2005: KZt299m) was 
spent on renovating the Bank’s fleet of vehicles. 

Off-balance sheet arrangements
In the normal course of its business, Halyk Bank enters into certain financial instruments which have off-balance 
sheet risk attached to them. these include guarantees and letters of credit, which expose the Bank to credit risk 
to the contractual amount of the transactions, but are not reflected in its consolidated balance sheet. Since many 
of the commitments are expected to expire before being drawn down, the total does not necessarily represent 
future requirements for cash.

 As at 31 December

Indicator  2006 2005

  KZtm KZtm

Guarantees  39,897 29,330

Commercial letters of credit  18,326 16,107

Commitments to extend credit  21,629 17,000

Guarantees, commercial letters of credit and commitments

to extend credit, gross  79,852 62,437

Less cash collateral against letters of credit  (132) (766)

Less provisions  (3,021) (2,280)

Credit commitments, guarantees and commercial letters of credit, net  76,699 59,391

Net credit commitments, guarantees and commercial letters of credit increased by 29.1% as the result of an 
increase in guarantees of KZt10,567m, in commercial letters of credit of KZt2,219m, and in commitments to 
extend credit of KZt4,629m. 

At the end of the financial year, the top ten guarantees, by amount, totalled approximately 63% of the Bank’s 
total financial guarantees and represented approximately 21% of total equity (2005: 56% and 25%). the 
increase in the concentration of the guarantee portfolio resulted from two large guarantees in the oil and gas, 
and pipeline construction sectors, which were outstanding at the year end. At the end of the year, the top 
ten letters of credit, by amount, totalled approximately 78% of the total of commercial letters of credit and 
approximately 12% of total equity (2005: 74% and 18%).

Provision for contingent liabilities
Halyk Bank uses the same credit control and management policies in undertaking off-balance sheet and on-
balance sheet commitments. At 31 December 2006, the provision for contingent liabilities was KZt3,021m 
(2005: KZt2,280m).
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Foreign currency position
 As at 31 December

Indicator 2006 2005

 Net balance sheet position: US$m17 234.0 31.9

Net balance sheet position: KZtm18 29,715 4,280

total capital17,19  20.4 5.1

total liabilities18 3.4 0.9

foreign currency liabilities18 7.0 1.5

Net long/(short) position: US$m17 (40) 39

Net long/(short) position: KZtm17 (5,035) 5,262

regulatory capital17, 20 (3.6) 6.6

the FMSA regulates and monitors all banks’ net open foreign currency positions. Since 1 September 2006, it 
requires a bank’s aggregate net open foreign currency position not to exceed 25% of regulatory capital, and 
the open foreign currency position for any single currency of any country with a sovereign rating of at least “A” 
assigned by S&P not to exceed 12.5% of regulatory capital. the open short and long positions for any currency 
of a country with a sovereign rating below “A” by S&P are limited to 5% of the bank’s regulatory capital. the 
size of Halyk’s net open foreign currency positions is monitored at weekly meetings of the Assets and Liabilities 
Management Committee.

Capital adequacy 
Kazakhstan’s current capital adequacy requirements exceed the guidelines adopted by the Basel Committee on 
Banking Regulations and Supervision Practices of the Bank for International Settlements (the BIS guidelines). 
the FMSA requires banks to maintain a tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (CAR) of a minimum 6%, and a total CAR 
of at least 12%, compared with the BIS’s requirements of 4% and 8% respectively. there are, however, two 
major differences between FMSA CAR methodology and BIS guidelines: first, tier 1 capital is calculated over 
total on-balance sheet assets, as opposed to risk-weighted assets as per BIS guidelines; and second, current-
period earnings are included in the tier 2 part of total capital rather than in tier 1, as required by BIS guidelines. 
In addition, for a bank which has a regulated banking holding company (an entity which holds more than 
25.0% of its voting share capital, either alone or with affiliated companies) as one of its shareholders, tier 1 
CAR is reduced to 5.0% and the total CAR is reduced to 10.0%.

Indicator 2006 2005

 % %

tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (in accordance with FMSA) 9.5 8.5

total capital adequacy ratio (in accordance with FMSA) 16.6 15.7

tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (in accordance with BIS guidelines) 14.0 12.8

total capital adequacy ratio (in accordance with BIS guidelines) 17.1 17.1

17  Unaudited.
18  Audited.
19  Consolidated total capital (tier 1 and tier 2, less investments) is calculated in accordance with BIS Guidelines.
20  Unconsolidated regulatory capital (tier 1 and tier 2, less investments) is calculated in accordance with FMSA prudential requirements, not BIS guide-
lines. As calculated under FMSA requirements, regulatory capital was KZt139,297m at 31 December 2006 and KZt80,293m at 31 December 2005.
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Other management information

Principal activities and review of the business
Halyk Bank is one of Kazakhstan’s leading financial services groups; it has the largest customer base and 
distribution network in Kazakhstan. At the end of 2006, the Bank had approximately 5.9 million retail 
customers, and 63,000 SMe and 323 corporate clients. 

Halyk Bank is developing as a diversified financial services group which offers a broad range of services, 
including banking, pensions, insurance, leasing, brokerage and asset management, to retail, SMe and corporate 
clients.

the Bank operates through regional and district branches throughout Kazakhstan, and also has the largest AtM 
network in the country. More information about the business is set out in the Chairman’s statement, the Ceo 
and Chairman of the Management Board’s review, the Business review, and the Financial review.

Credit ratings

Moody’s Investor Services
Long-term Bank Deposits Rating Ba1
Short-term Bank Deposits Rating NP
Bank Financial Strength Rating D
outlook Stable

Standard & Poor’s
Long-term Issuer Credit Rating BB+
Short-term Issuer Credit Rating B
outlook Stable

Fitch Ratings
Long-term Issuer Default Rating BB+
Short-term Rating  B
Individual Rating С/D
Support Rating 3
outlook Positive

Rating actions 

Standard & Poor’s
 – on 10 February 2006 Standard & Poor’s upgraded the Bank’s long-term rating from “BB-“ to “BB”;
 – on 16 February 2006 Standard & Poor’s changed the outlook from “Stable” to “Positive”
 – on 18 July 2006 Standard & Poor’s upgraded the long-term rating from “BB“ to “BB+”.

Fitch Ratings
 – on 22 December 2006 Fitch Ratings changed the outlook from “Stable” to “Positive”.
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Moody’s Investor Services
 –  on 30 May 2006 Moody’s Investor Services upgraded the Foreign Currency Senior Unsecured Debt   

 Rating from “Baa2” to “Baa1”;
 –  on 31 August 2006 Moody’s Investor Services upgraded Bank Financial Strength Rating from “D-“ to   

 “D”, “Stable” outlook;
 – on 4 May 2007 Moody’s Investor Services downgraded the Foreign Currency Senior Unsecured Debt   

 Rating and the backed Foreign Currency Senior Unsecured Debt Rating of HSBK (europe) B.V. to Baa2   
 from Baa1 in view of change in its rating methodology.

Employees
At 31 December 2006, Halyk Bank had 9,249 employees (2005: 8,381), of whom 84.9% were employed in 
the branches and retail outlets in Kazakhstan. 8,916 were full-time employees while 333 worked part-time.

Indicator 2006 2005

Head office 959 1,397
Branches and retail outlets 7,422 7,852
total 8,381 9,249

Dividends
In June 2006, Halyk Bank paid a dividend of KZt1.35 per common share, totalling approximately KZt1,331m, 
and KZt13.6 per preferred share, totalling KZt1,428m21 , relating to the financial year 2005. 

In May 2007, Halyk Bank paid a dividend of KZt2.50 per common share, totalling approximately KZt2,450m, 
and KZt15.04 per preferred share, totalling KZt1,579m, relating to the financial year 2006.

Directors in the year
the following served as directors during the year:
Alexander Pavlov, Chairman, Independent Non-executive Director
Kamilya Arstanbekova, Chairman of Accumulative Pension Fund of Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC
Kairat Satylganov, General Director, Holding Group Almex JSC
Grigoriy Marchenko, Chairman of the Management Board of the Bank
Kadyrzhan Damitov, Independent Non-executive Director

21  Dividends actually paid. this amount is different from “Dividends – preferred shares” in Halyk Bank’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the 
years ended 31 December 2006, 2005 and 2004. In 2005, dividends were linked to inflation, and because there was inflation during the time that elapsed 
between the balance sheet date and the actual payment date of the dividend, the amount paid was greater than the amount declared.

Management Board
the following people served as members of the Management Board during the year:
Grigoriy Marchenko, CEO and Chairman of the Management Board
Nailiya Abdulina, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
Umut Shayakhmetova, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
Kozhakhan Abenov, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
Askar Kussainov, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
Marat Satubaldin, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
Vasiliy Simachev, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
Marat Zairov, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
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Management committees
Halyk Bank has the following management committees in place:
 – Assets and Liabilities Management Committee;
 – Disciplinary Committee, responsible for monitoring the Bank’s and its employees’ compliance with   

 the applicable laws of Kazakhstan and with the Bank’s internal policies and regulations;
 –  Head office Credit Committee, responsible for credit decisions relating to risk exposure to corporate  

 clients;
 – Branch Network Credit Committee, responsible for credit decisions relating to risk exposure to SMe  

 clients in excess of the established limits of each branch;
 –  Retail Lending Credit Committee, responsible for credit decisions relating to risk exposure to retail   

 customers;
 – In addition, each district and regional branch has its own retail and SMe credit committees. 

Directors’ and management’s shareholdings in Halyk Bank
At the year end, none of the members of the Board of Directors or of the Management Board owned shares in 
Halyk Bank, nor have options been granted. As at 21 May 2007 Mr Zairov and Mr Simachev owned 47,150 
common shares each. Management is considering establishing a comprehensive share-based incentive 
programme subject to approval by shareholders.

Substantial shareholdings
the management is aware of the following substantial interests in the issued share capital of Halyk Bank, as at
1 January 2007:

Shareholder Percentage of issued common shares, %
Holding Group Almex JSC 64.34
Merix International Ventures Ltd 7.10
others (including Central Depository and 
Deutsche Bank trust Company Americas 
as international depository and GDR issuer) 28.56

Related-party transactions
For the information on related-party transactions, please refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

Annual General Meeting
the last Annual General Meeting was held on 23 April 2007.
 
Board of Directors’ meetings
During 2006 there were 43 actual meetings of the Board of Directors and 233 meetings by written resolution.
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Corporate and social responsibility

Halyk Bank is a recognised financial institution in Kazakhstan and, as a good corporate citizen, strives to be 
known not only for its business successes, but also for its commitment to social causes. We believe that this is an 
important part of our long-term development as a diversified financial services group. In 2006 we contributed 
more than KZt63m to charitable events and sponsorship.

Creating opportunities for disadvantaged children
As part of our established charity programmes, we support orphaned children by sponsoring computer literacy, 
sport and higher education. We co-operate with the UN Development Programme in teaching computer skills 
by providing equipment for computer classes and by organising training for children in orphanages and for their 
teachers.

We have established Narodnaya Liga, a project to promote sport and a healthy lifestyle among orphaned 
children by supporting basketball tournaments between orphanages. An annual tournament, the Cup of Hope 
held in May, has already become a tradition. We bring children from different orphanages together in the 
Akmola Region, where they have the opportunity to enjoy the performances of future champions, and to meet 
old friends and make new ones.

We started our new programme and have already allocated an estimated KZt27m to our Narodnye Studenty 
programme. this provides scholarships, named after our late Deputy Chairman Kozhakhan Abenov, to the best 
students from orphanages to help them continue their education at colleges which specialise in finance and 
economics. We believe this programme will provide many children with great opportunities.

Supporting war veterans
We have always supported Second World War veterans, including those who served on the home front. We try 
to make them realise that they are remembered all year round, not just on Victory Day, by sponsoring veterans 
organisations throughout Kazakhstan.

The environment
As active members of society, we are concerned with the lives and wellbeing of people, but also care for the 
environment in which our employees and customers live and work. We have invested more than KZt30m in 
helping many regions improve their cities and create parks and open spaces. During 2006 parks and open 
spaces were established and improved in Kostanay, Kyzylorda and Pavlodar cities.
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Summary of corporate governance practices

As an overseas company with GDRs admitted to the UK official List Halyk Bank is not required to comply with 
the provisions of the UK Combined Code on Corporate Governance (the Combined Code), or to set out any 
significant ways in which its governance practices differ from those set out in the Combined Code. In addition, it 
is not required to disclose in its annual report whether or not it complies with the corporate governance regime 
of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Corporate governance 
Corporate governance regulation in Kazakhstan is based on respective provisions of the Joint-Stock Companies 
Law with corporate governance best practice set out in the Kazakhstan Corporate Management Code. the 
Kazakhstan Corporate Management Code is based on international best practice and sets out recommendations 
for Kazakhstan Joint Stock Companies to apply the principles of corporate governance. It was approved in 
September 2002 by the expert Council for Securities Market Matters to the National Bank of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan and compliance for all companies with shares listed (listing category A) on the Kazakhstan Stock 
exchange is mandatory. Halyk Bank currently complies with the provisions of the Kazakhstan Joint-Stock 
Companies Law and the Kazakhstan Corporate Management Code in all material respects.

the Joint-Stock Companies Law also requires that at least one-third of the members of a company’s board of 
directors shall be independent in accordance with the following criteria:
 – she/he is not and has not been an affiliated person of the company during the three years    

 preceding his/her election to the board of the company (other than holding a position of an   
 independent director of the company);

 – she/he is not an affiliated person of an affiliated person of the company; 
 – she/he is not a subordinate of officers  of the company or the affiliated company of the company; 
 – she/he is not a public officer22;
 – she/he is not, and has not been, the auditor to the company during the three years preceding his/her  

 election to the board; and 
 – she/he has not participated as an auditor in the audit of the company in the three years prior to   

 his/her election to the board of the company. 

Halyk Bank has adopted the Kazakhstan Corporate Management Code, modified to include certain provisions 
from the Combined Code. the modifications impose additional obligations and include certain requirements 
that are set out in the Combined Code. Halyk Bank believes that these modifications significantly strengthen the 
corporate governance regime which it has adopted. It will continue to seek to improve its standards of corporate 
governance.

the Combined Code provides that the board of directors of a UK listed company should include a balance of 
executive and non-executive directors, with non-executive directors comprising at least one-half of the Board 
(excluding the Chairman). the Combined Code states that the board of directors should determine whether a 
director is independent in character and judgement and whether there are relationships or circumstances which 
are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, the director’s judgement. Halyk Bank currently operates with two 
boards, the Board of Directors (the supervisory body) and a separate Management Board (the executive body). 
the Board of Directors contains two executive members, including the Chairman of the Management Board and 
the President of JSC Accumulative Pension Fund of Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan. 

22  Under the Joint-Stock Companies Law, “officer” means a member of the company’s board of directors or its management board, or a person solely
acting as the company’s executive body.
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Halyk Bank currently has four Independent Non-executive Directors, Alexander Pavlov, Kadyrzhan Damitov, 
Christof Ruehl, and Sir Gavyn Arthur.

Christof Ruehl and Sir Gavyn were appointed as independent non-executive directors at the Annual General 
Shareholders Meeting held on 23 April 2007 following the listing of Global Depository Receipts of Halyk Bank’s 
shares on the London Stock exchange in December 2006. Christof Ruehl and Sir Gavyn qualify as independent 
non-executive directors under the Combined Code in addition to the Kazakhstan Corporate Management Code. 
Please see the Board of Directors section for background details on Mr Ruehl and Sir Gavyn Arthur.

the Independent Non-executive Directors work closely with the other directors and the Management Board to 
ensure that Halyk Bank complies with its corporate governance obligations. the Directors have adopted terms of 
reference for, and have formed, an Audit Committee. Since two new Independent Non-executive Directors have 
joined the Board, the Directors plan to adopt terms of reference for, and to form, Nomination and Remuneration 
committees in due course. 

Scope of responsibilities of the General Shareholders Meeting,
the Board of Directors, and the Management Board
Pursuant to the laws of Kazakhstan and Halyk Bank’s Charter, the control and management of the Bank is 
divided among the shareholders, the Board of Directors and the Management Board. 

the shareholders have the exclusive authority to approve and decide on certain material matters of Halyk Bank, 
including the election of the Board of Directors and their remuneration. the shareholders participate in the 
control and management of the Bank through decisions taken at general meetings of shareholders. the Board 
of Directors supervises the Management Board. the Management Board is headed by a Chairman who is 
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Bank. In addition, Halyk Bank has various collegial decision-
making bodies, including a number of credit committees in head office and branches, an assets and liabilities 
management committee, a problem loan recovery committee and a disciplinary committee.

In accordance with its Charter, the members of Halyk Bank’s Board of Directors are elected at the annual general 
meeting of shareholders and must be approved by the FMSA. Members of the Board of Directors may not be 
members of the Management Board, with the exception of the Chairman of the Management Board. the Board 
of Directors is responsible to shareholders for setting the Bank’s strategic policy, nominating members of the 
Management Board, determining and overseeing the remuneration of the Management Board members, and 
convening annual and extraordinary General Meetings of Shareholders. 
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In accordance with Halyk Bank’s Charter, decisions on the following matters require consent from a majority of 
independent directors:
 – entering into any transaction between any shareholders of Halyk Bank who hold more than 10%
  of the Bank’s issued shares and Halyk Bank, provided that the size of such transaction will equal or   

 exceed 50% of the total size of the Bank’s equity capital;
 – preliminary approval of any changes and additions to the Charter;
 – preliminary approval of the code of corporate governance of Halyk Bank and any amendments and/or  

 changes thereto;
 – changes to the terms of reference or membership of the committees of the Board of Directors;
 – placement of more than 25% of the total number of Halyk Bank’s issued shares;
 – conclusion of major transactions (being a transaction or combination of inter-related transactions   

 which result or may result in the purchase or disposal by Halyk Bank of assets representing 25% or   
 more of the total amount of the Bank’s assets);

 – conclusion of a transaction or combination of inter-related transactions resulting in the potential   
 buyback by Halyk Bank of its outstanding shares or a sale of the Bank’s shares that were purchased  
 by the Bank representing 25% or more of the total number of outstanding shares to be purchased or  
 sold;

 – an increase in Halyk Bank’s liabilities for amounts equal to 50% or more of its equity capital;
 – a proposal on the voluntary dissolution or reorganisation of Halyk Bank;
 – termination of the Bank’s listing from stock exchanges in Kazakhstan or other countries; and
 – recommendation of an audit company for the Bank’s annual audit.

the Management Board, which meets weekly, is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Bank and 
implements the decisions of the General Meetings of Shareholders and the Board of Directors.

For further information on corporate governance, please refer to the Charter, Corporate Governance Code, and 
terms of the Board of Directors of Halyk Bank available on website, www.halykbank.kz.
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Responsibility statement

We herewith confirm that, to the best of our knowledge:
 – the consolidated financial statements in this annual report are prepared in accordance with   

 International Financial Reporting Standards and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,   
 financial position and profit or loss of JSC Halyk Bank and its subsidiaries included in the consolidation  
 taken as a whole; and

 – the annual report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the  
 position of JSC Halyk Bank and its subsidiaries included in the consolidation taken as a whole and the  
 principal risks and uncertainties JSC Halyk Bank faces.

Grigoriy Marchenko      
CEO and Chairman of the Management Board
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Forward-looking statements

this document includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements”. these 
forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including, but not 
limited to, the terms “believes”, “estimates”, “anticipates”, “expects”, “intends”, “may”, “target”, “will”, or 
“should” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology, or by discussions of 
strategy, plans, objectives, goals, future events or intentions. these forward-looking statements include all 
matters that are not historical facts. they include, but are not limited to, statements regarding Halyk Bank’s 
intentions, beliefs and statements of current expectations concerning, amongst other things, Halyk Bank’s 
results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, potential acquisitions, strategies and as 
to the industries in which Halyk Bank operates. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and 
uncertainty because they relate to future events and circumstances that may or may not occur. Forward-looking 
statements are not guarantees of future performance and the actual results of Halyk Bank’s operations, financial 
condition and liquidity and the development of the country and the industries in which Halyk Bank operates 
may differ materially from those described in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements contained in this 
document. Halyk Bank does not intend, and does not assume any obligation, to update or revise any forward-
looking statements or industry information set out in this document, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise. Halyk Bank does not make any representation, warranty or prediction that the results 
anticipated by such forward-looking statements will be achieved.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Joint Stock Company Halyk Bank

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of JSC Halyk Bank and subsidiaries, which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated statements of income, 
consolidated statements of changes in equity, and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing, 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud of error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud of error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of JSC 
Halyk Bank and subsidiaries as at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

March 15, 2007

Ernst & Young LLP
Furmanov Street, 240 G
Almaty, 050059, Kazakhstan
Tel.: 7(3272) 58-2960
Fax.: 7(3272) 58-2961
www.ey.com/kazakhstan

ТОО «Эрнст энд Янг»
Казахстан, 050059 Алматы
ул. Фурманова, 240 Г
Teл.: 7(3272) 58-2960
Факс.: 7(3272) 58-2961
www.ey.com/kazakhstan
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 

(Thousands of Kazakhstani tenge)  

1

 December 31, 
Notes 2006 2005 2004 

Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents  5 127,799,159 57,101,691 33,123,369
Obligatory reserves  6 55,106,408 8,632,311 7,578,394
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 53,016,334 50,017,958 62,382,235
Amounts due from credit institutions  8 2,048,705 2,776,941 695,379
Available-for-sale investment securities 9 123,338,407 12,098,639 20,618,422
Loans to customers  10,11 596,216,250 411,097,223 254,590,193
Property and equipment  12 16,411,916 10,979,050 9,131,311
Insurance assets 13 5,625,886
Other assets  11,796,175 6,960,895 5,134,597
Total assets 991,359,240 559,664,708 393,253,900

Liabilities
Amounts due to customers 15 597,935,085 323,514,827 231,930,284
Amounts due to credit institutions  16 118,718,574 107,284,147 76,492,760
Debt securities issued 17 134,412,686 58,813,594 44,939,974
Provisions 11 3,021,276 2,279,508 1,801,039
Deferred tax liability 14 2,530,363 425,144 450,824
Insurance liabilities 13 7,534,906
Other liabilities  6,578,729 2,903,443 2,070,822
Total liabilities 870,731,619 495,220,663 357,685,703

Equity
Share capital 18 60,684,073 29,016,188 15,759,351
Share premium reserve  2,183,493 2,192,147 2,191,170
Treasury shares  (38,587) (16,336) (16,665)
Retained earnings and other reserves  56,736,295 32,806,031 17,417,312

119,565,274 63,998,030 35,351,168
Minority interest  1,062,347 446,015 217,029

Total equity 120,627,621 64,444,045 35,568,197
Total liabilities and equity 991,359,240 559,664,708 393,253,900

Signed and authorized for release on behalf of the Management Board of the Bank: 

Grigory A. Marchenko       Chairman of the Board  

Pavel A. Cheussov       Chief Accountant 

March 15, 2007 

The accompanying notes on pages 7 to 50 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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Joint Stock Company Halyk Bank Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

(Thousands of Kazakhstani tenge)

2

Notes 2006 2005 2004
Interest income
Loans to customers 71,291,696 47,548,528 28,446,733
Debt securities 5,351,810 3,450,002 3,519,988
Amounts due from credit institutions 4,003,336 1,386,093 983,336

80,646,842 52,384,623 32,950,057
Interest expense
Amounts due to customers (18,491,804) (11,872,599) (8,025,633)
Debt securities issued (9,238,172) (4,908,743) (1,639,153)
Amounts due to credit institutions (6,453,365) (4,374,605) (3,093,971)

(34,183,341) (21,155,947) (12,758,757)

Net interest income before impairment 46,463,501 31,228,676 20,191,300
Impairment charge 11 (8,331,166) (11,969,525) (7,954,045)
Net interest income 38,132,335 19,259,151 12,237,255

Fee and commission income 20 22,063,796 16,160,708 10,116,897
Fee and commission expense 20 (929,015) (912,517) (798,476)
Fees and commissions, net 21,134,781 15,248,191 9,318,421

(Losses less gains) gains less losses from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (193,001) 1,362,905 165,389

Gains less losses from available-for-sale investment securities 202,081 342,380 104,204
Gains less losses from dealing in foreign currencies 5,173,586 1,963,951 1,219,216
(Losses less gains) gains less losses from translation of foreign

currencies (1,734,105) (69,831) 771,912
Insurance underwriting income 21 664,386 − −
Share of income of associates 166,913 248,841 196,153
Other income 1,024,770 570,604 607,877
Non interest income 5,304,630 4,418,850 3,064,751

Salaries and other employee benefits (15,930,558) (11,236,334) (6,876,651)
Administrative and operating expenses 22 (8,558,163) (5,242,155) (4,512,977)
Depreciation and amortization expenses (2,370,595) (1,329,848) (1,111,526)
Taxes other than income tax (1,256,761) (1,255,001) (1,041,779)
Other provisions 11 (751,713) (496,378) (986,679)
Insurance claims incurred, net of reinsurance 13 (102,875) − −
Non interest expense (28,970,665) (19,559,716) (14,529,612)

Income before income tax expense 35,601,081 19,366,476 10,090,815

Income tax expense 14 (8,441,807) (3,538,576) (1,997,780)

Net income after income tax expense 27,159,274 15,827,900 8,093,035
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 26,658,916 15,628,180 8,088,143
Minority interest in net income 500,358 199,720 4,892
Net income 27,159,274 15,827,900 8,093,035

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in Kazakhstani
tenge) 23 27.29 20.24 10.50

The accompanying notes on pages 7 to 50 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Joint Stock Company Halyk Bank Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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Notes 2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities:
Income before income tax expense 35,601,081 19,366,476 10,090,815
Adjustments for:

Impairment charge and other provisions 11 9,082,879 12,465,903 8,940,724
Depreciation and amortization 2,370,595 1,329,848 1,111,526
(Gain) loss from disposal of property and equipment and other assets (276,656) (27,562) 57,354
Change in reserves for claims and change in unearned premiums

reserves 1,046,332 − −
Losses less gains (gains less losses) from financial assets at fair value

through profit and loss 193,001 (1,362,905) (165,389)
Share of income of associate (166,913) (248,841) (196,153)
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (365,599) (67,347) 554,586

Operating income before changes in net operating assets 47,484,720 31,455,572 20,393,463
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:

Obligatory reserves (48,471,211) (1,053,917) (2,366,344)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (3,664,528) 13,501,513 (22,302,518)
Amounts due from credit institutions 1,399,367 (2,092,207) 4,707,199
Loans to customers (197,456,196) (161,451,640) (109,610,929)
Insurance assets (521,273) − −
Other assets (1,944,988) (2,386,523) (1,651,451)

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Amounts due to customers 282,260,237 87,731,520 84,482,030
Amounts due to credit institutions 10,286,476 28,396,708 21,055,808
Insurance liabilities 888,560 − −
Other liabilities 2,937,116 701,508 (258,069)

Net cash flows from operating activities before income taxes 93,198,280 (5,197,466) (5,550,811)
Income tax paid (5,791,565) (2,843,162) (2,337,895)

Net cash flows used in operating activities 87,406,715 (8,040,628) (7,888,706)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (5,218,642) − 219,902
Purchase of property and equipment (8,584,158) (3,179,634) (2,952,895)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 1,100,605 119,067 141,672
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale investment securities 899,802 14,560,294 4,382,311
Purchase of available-for-sale investment securities (109,629,773) (6,238,850) (21,156,320)
Proceeds from redemption of held-to-maturity investment securities − − 5,355,185

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities (121,432,166) 5,260,877 (14,010,145)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from common shares issued 30,754,967 936,618 5,862,551
Proceeds from preferred shares issued 912,918 12,320,219 −
Purchase of treasury shares (30,905) − (1,628)
Sale of treasury shares − 1,306 −
Dividends paid (2,743,792) (316,629) (354,936)
Debt securities issued 79,991,244 13,910,257 36,357,370
Purchase of debt securities issued (2,347,242) (950,367) −

Net cash flows from financing activities 106,537,190 25,901,404 41,863,357
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,814,271) 856,669 (256,484)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 70,697,468 23,978,322 19,708,022
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 57,101,691 33,123,369 13,415,347
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 127,799,159 57,101,691 33,123,369
Supplementary information:

Interest received 76,069,988 49,437,638 33,792,367
Interest paid 27,790,559 19,418,270 8,441,702
Commission received 20,158,777 15,440,890 10,109,693

The accompanying notes on pages 7 to 50 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Principal Activities
Joint Stock Company Halyk Bank (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) mainly provide retail and
corporate banking services in Kazakhstan, Russia and Kyrgyzstan, and pension and asset management and insurance
services in Kazakhstan. The parent company of the Group, Joint Stock Company Halyk Bank was incorporated in 1995
and is domiciled in the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Bank operates under a general banking licence renewed by the
Agency for Regulation and Supervision of Financial Markets and Financial Organizations of Kazakhstan (“FMSA”) on
September 30, 2005. The Bank also possesses licences for securities operations and custody services from the FMSA
renewed on February 19, 2004. The Bank is a member of the obligatory deposit insurance system provided by the JSC
Kazakhstani Fund for Deposits Guarantee.

The Bank’s primary business includes originating loans and guarantees, attracting deposits, trading in securities and
foreign currencies, executing transfers, cash and credit card operations and rendering other banking services to its
customers. In addition, the Bank acts as the government’s agent in channelling various budgetary payments and pensions
through its nationwide network.

The address of the Bank’s registered office is: 97 Rozybakiyev Street, Almaty, 050046, Republic of Kazakhstan. The
Bank has a primary listing in the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (“KASE”). In addition, certain of the Bank’s debt
securities issued are primarily listed on Luxembourg and London Stock Exchanges.

In December 2006 the Bank listed its Global Depository Receipts (“GDRs”) through an initial public offering (“IPO”)
made on the London Stock Exchange. The Bank’s controlling shareholder JSC Holding Group Almex (“Almex”) placed
its shares and obtained all of the IPO proceeds.

As of December 31, 2006 the Bank was controlled by Almex via its 64.34% share in the Bank’s equity (2005 − 82.03%,
2004 – 80.92%). The Bank is ultimately controlled by Timur Kulibayev and his wife Dinara Kulibayeva.

The Bank operates through its head office in Almaty and its 19 regional branches, 127 sub-regional offices and 428 cash
settlement units (December 31, 2005 − 19, 126 and 393, respectively; December 31, 2004 – 20, 126 and 378) located
throughout Kazakhstan.

2. Basis of Preparation

General
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and are presented in thousands of Kazakhstani tenge (“KZT”), except per share amounts and unless
otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the
summary of accounting policies below.

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the following
revision of IAS 39.

According to the revised IAS 39, an entity may designate financial assets and liabilities as at fair value through profit or
loss only upon initial recognition when doing so results in more relevant information, because either:

 ·it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as ‘an
accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains
and losses on them on different bases; or

 ·a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about
the group is provided internally on that basis to the entity’s key management personnel (as defined in IAS 24
Related Party Disclosures (revised 2003)), for example the entity’s Board of Directors and Chief executive
officer.

The adoption of the above pronouncement did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued)

IFRS and IFRIC interpretations not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following IFRS and Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) that have been issued but are not yet effective:

 IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”;

 IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”;

 Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” – “Capital Disclosures”;

 IFRIC 8 “Scope of IFRS 2”;

 IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives”;

 IFRIC 10 “Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment”

 IFRIC 11 “IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions”

 IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangements”.

The Group expects that the adoption of the pronouncements listed above will have no significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application, except for the inclusion of new disclosures
in accordance with IFRS 7 to enable users of the consolidated financial statements to evaluate the significance of the
Group’s financial instruments, the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial instruments, and the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.

Consolidated Subsidiaries
These consolidated financial statements include the following subsidiaries:

Subsidiary Holding, % Country Industry
December 31,

2006
December 31,

2005
December 31,

2004
JSC Halyk Leasing 100 100 100 Kazakhstan Leasing
JSC Kazteleport 100 100 100 Kazakhstan Telecommunications

HSBK (Europe) B.V. 100 100 100 Netherlands
Issue and placement of

Eurobonds
OJSC Halyk Bank

Kyrgyzstan 100 100 100 Kyrgyzstan Banking

JSC Halyk Finance 100 100 100 Kazakhstan
Broker and dealer

activities

LLP Halyk Inkassatsiya 100 100 − Kazakhstan
Cash collection

services
JSC Halyk Life 100 − − Kazakhstan Life insurance

JSC Halyk Capital 100 − − Kazakhstan
Broker and dealer

activities

LLP NBK-Finance 100 − − Russia
Broker and dealer

activities
JSC Kazakhinstrakh 98 − − Kazakhstan Insurance
JSC Accumulated

Pension fund of Halyk
Bank 85 85 85 Kazakhstan

Pension assets
accumulation and

management
JSC Bank Khlebny 100 77 77 Russia Banking

LLP ARIR − 100 100 Kazakhstan
Financial markets

research
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued)

Associates
The following associates are accounted for under the equity method:

Associate
Holding,

% Country Activity
Share in net

loss
Total
assets

Total
liabilities Equity

Total
revenue

2006
JSC Processing

Center 25.01 Kazakhstan Processing (28,253) 737,081 19,120 717,961 46,133

Associate
Holding,

% Country Activity
Share in net

income
Total
assets

Total
liabilities Equity

Total
revenue

2005
JSC Kazakhinstrakh 41.69 Kazakhstan Insurance 248,841 3,826,349 1,760,802 2,065,547 2,751,802

Associate
Holding,

% Country Activity
Share in net

income
Total
assets

Total
liabilities Equity

Total
revenue

2004
JSC Kazakhinstrakh 41.69 Kazakhstan Insurance 196,153 3,507,509 2,033,750 1,473,759 1,698,358

Investments in associates are classified within other assets.

Reclassifications
The following reclassifications have been made to 2005 balances to conform to the 2006 presentation.

Amount Previously reported As reclassified Comment

Amounts due to customers 320,629,650 323,514,827

Reclassification of prepaid principal
and interest on loans to customers
and other customer funds

Other liabilities 5,788,620 2,903,443

Reclassification of prepaid principal
and interest on loans to customers
and other customer funds

The following reclassifications have been made to 2004 balances to conform to the 2006 presentation.

Amount Previously reported As reclassified Comment

Amounts due to customers 231,501,361 231,930,284

Reclassification of prepaid principal
and interest on loans to customers
and other customer funds

Other liabilities 2,499,745 2,070,822

Reclassification of prepaid principal
and interest on loans to customers
and other customer funds

3. Summary of Accounting Policies

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries, which are those entities in which the Group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights, or
otherwise has power to exercise control over their operations, are consolidated. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. All
intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated in full;
unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Where necessary, accounting policies for subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.

The excess of purchase consideration over the Group’s share in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the Group’s share in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary acquired the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated statement of income.

Minority interest is the interest in subsidiaries not held by the Group. Minority interest at the balance sheet date
represents the minority shareholders' share in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the subsidiary at the acquisition date and the minorities' share in movements in equity since the acquisition
date. Minority interest is presented within equity.

Losses allocated to minority interest do not exceed the minority interest in the equity of the subsidiary unless there is a
binding obligation of the minority to fund the losses. All such losses are allocated to the Group.

Increases in ownership interests in subsidiaries
The differences between the carrying values of net assets attributable to interests in subsidiaries acquired and the
consideration given for such increases are charged or credited to retained earnings.

Investments in Associates

Associates are entities in which the Group generally has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights, or is otherwise able
to exercise significant influence, but which it does not control or jointly control. Investments in associates are accounted
for under the equity method and are initially recognised at cost, including goodwill. Subsequent changes in the carrying
value reflect the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. The Group’s share of its
associates’ profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated statement of income, and its share of movements in
reserves is recognised in equity. However, when the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless the Group is obliged to make further payments to,
or on behalf of, the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred.

Obligatory Reserves

Obligatory reserves represent funds on correspondent accounts with the National Bank of Kazakhstan (“NBK”) and
cash which are not available to finance the Bank’s day to day operations and, hence, are not considered as part of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

Amounts Due from Credit Institutions

In the normal course of business, the Group maintains current accounts or deposits for various periods of time with
other banks. Amounts due from credit institutions with a fixed maturity term are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. Those that do not have fixed maturities are carried at cost. Amounts due from
credit institutions are carried net of any allowance for impairment.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial Assets

Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or
loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets upon initial
recognition.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets or financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are designated by management on initial recognition
when the following criteria are met:

 the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from
measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis; or

 the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which are managed
and their performance evaluated on a fair values basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in “Gains less losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss”. Interest earned or incurred is accrued in interest income or expense, respectively, according to
the terms of the contract, while dividend income is recorded in “Other income” when the right to the payment has been
established.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity
when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an
undefined period are not included in this classification. Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. This cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised amount
and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. For
investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the
investments are impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

The Group does not classify any financial assets as held-to-maturity if the Group had during the current financial year or
during the preceding two financial years sold, transferred or exercised a put option on more than an insignificant portion
of held-to-maturity investments before their maturity.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial Assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are
not classified in any of the three preceding categories. After initial recognition available-for sale financial assets are
measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is
derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
reported in equity is included in the consolidated statements of income. However, interest calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the consolidated statements of income.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to quoted
market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments where there is no active market, fair
value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions,
reference to the current market value of another instrument, which is substantially the same, and discounted cash flow
analysis.

Financial guarantees
Financial guarantee contracts are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently remeasured at the higher of the
amount determined in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” and the
amount initially recognized less, when appropriate, cumulative amortization recognized in accordance with IAS 18
“Revenue”.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, amounts due from NBK – excluding obligatory reserves and
amounts due from credit institutions that mature within ninety days of the date of origination and are free from
contractual encumbrances.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements and Securities Lending

Sale and repurchase agreements (“repos”) are treated as secured financing transactions. Securities sold under sale and
repurchase agreements are retained in the balance sheet and, in case the transferee has the right by contract or custom to
sell or repledge them, reclassified as securities pledged under sale and repurchase agreements. The corresponding liability
is presented within amounts due to credit institutions or customers. Securities purchased under agreements to resell
(“reverse repo”) are recorded as amounts due from credit institutions or loans to customers as appropriate. The
difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of repo agreements using the
effective yield method.

Securities lent to counterparties are retained in the consolidated balance sheet. Securities borrowed are not recorded in
the consolidated balance sheet, unless these are sold to third parties, in which case the purchase and sale are recorded
within gains less losses from trading securities in the consolidated statement of income. The obligation to return them is
recorded at fair value as a trading liability.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various derivative financial instruments including futures,
forwards, swaps and options. Such financial instruments are held for trading and are initially recognised in accordance
with the policy for initial recognition of financial instruments and are subsequently measured at fair value. The fair
values are estimated based on quoted market prices or pricing models that take into account the current market and
contractual prices of the underlying instruments and other factors. Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value
is positive and as liabilities when it is negative. Gains and losses resulting from these instruments are included in the
consolidated statement of income.

Derivative instruments embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives if their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not carried at fair value
with unrealised gains and losses reported in income. An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined)
financial instrument that includes both the derivative and a host contract with the effect that some of the cash flows of
the combined instrument vary in a similar way to a stand-alone derivative.

Amounts Due Customers and to Credit Institutions

Amounts due to customers and credit institutions are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received
less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, amounts due are stated at amortized cost and any difference
between net proceeds and the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements of income over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method. If the Group purchases its own debt, it is removed from the
consolidated balance sheets and the difference between the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid is
recognised in other income.

Debt Securities Issued

Debt securities issued represent bonds issued by the Group. They are accounted for according to the same principles
used for amounts due to credit institutions and due to customers.

Allowances for Impairment of Financial Assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset
shall be reduced through use of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of income.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash
flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not the foreclosure is
probable.

The allowances are based on the Group’s own loss experience and management’s judgment as to the level of losses that
will most likely be recognized from assets in each credit risk category by reference to the debt service capability and
repayment history of the borrower. The allowances for impairment of financial assets in the consolidated financial
statements have been determined on the basis of existing economic and political conditions. The Group is not in a
position to predict what changes in conditions will take place in Kazakhstan and what effect such changes might have on 
the adequacy of the allowances for impairment of financial assets in future periods.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income, to the extent that the
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

When an asset is uncollectible, is it written off against the related allowance for impairment. Such assets are written off
after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the charge for impairment of financial assets in the consolidated
statement of income.



 Annual Report 2006//JSC HALYK BANK    81

Joint Stock Company Halyk Bank Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Thousands of Kazakhstani tenge)

December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

14

3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

Allowances for Impairment of Financial Assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets
If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, a consolidated amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the
consolidated statement of income, is transferred from equity to the consolidated statement of income. Reversals of
impairment losses in respect of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not recognised in the consolidated
statement of income. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the consolidated
statement of income if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Renegotiated loans
Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may involve
extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated,
the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria
are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective
impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised where:

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or retained the right to receive cash

flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party
under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and

 the Group either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or
similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the
transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled
option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is
limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of income.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

Taxation

The current income tax expense is calculated in accordance with the regulations of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the
Russian Federation, and the Republic of Kyrgyzstan.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the liability method. Deferred
income taxes are provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying values for financial reporting purposes, except where the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

A deferred tax asset is recorded only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Kazakhstan also has various operating taxes that are assessed on the Group’s activities. These taxes are recorded as taxes
other than income tax.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
following estimated useful lives:

Years
Buildings and constructions 13
Vehicles 7
Computers and banking equipment 5-10
Other 4-10

The carrying amounts of property and equipment are reviewed at each balance sheet date to assess whether they are
recorded in excess of their recoverable amounts, and where carrying values exceed this estimated recoverable amount,
assets are written down. An impairment is recognized in the respective period and is included in administrative and
operating expenses, except that a deficit directly offsetting a previous surplus on the same asset is directly offset against
the surplus in the asset revaluation reserve for property and equipment.
Costs related to repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in administrative and operating expenses,
unless they qualify for capitalization.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
the acquired subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on an acquisition of a subsidiary is included in
intangible assets. Goodwill on an acquisition of an associate is included in the investments in associates. Following initial
recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to
those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated:

 represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes; and

 is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or the Group’s secondary reporting format
determined in accordance with IAS 14 “Segment Reporting”.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Where goodwill forms part of a
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based
on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Retirement and Other Benefit Obligations

The Group does not have any pension arrangements separate from the State pension system of Kazakhstan, which
requires current withholdings by the employer calculated as a percentage from current gross salary payments; such
expense is charged in the period the related salaries are earned and included in salaries and benefits in consolidated
statement of income. The Group contributes social tax to the budget of the Republic of Kazakhstan for its employees.
In addition, the Group has no post-retirement benefits.

Share Capital

Share capital
Common shares, non-redeemable non-convertible preferred shares, and non-redeemable preferred shares convertible
into common shares with discretionary dividends are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares, other than on a business combination, are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity. Prior to
May 13, 2003, any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the nominal value of shares issued was
recognised as additional paid-in capital. Effective May 13, 2003, the date of the new edition to the Law concerning
“Joint Stock Companies” nominal amount concept was restricted to placement of shares only between the founder of an
entity. For all other investors share capital is recorded at placement value being the consideration received by an entity
for its shares. Preferred shares convertible into common shares are redeemable only at the issuer’s option.

Treasury shares
Where the Bank or its subsidiaries purchase their own shares, the consideration paid, including any attributable
transaction costs, net of income taxes, is deducted from total equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled or
reissued. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in equity. Treasury
shares are stated at nominal value.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity on the date they are declared. Dividends are disclosed
when they are proposed before the balance sheet date or proposed or declared after the balance sheet date but before
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed unless the possibility of any outflow in
settlement is remote. A contingent asset is not recognised in the balance sheet but disclosed when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.

Trust Activities

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, are not included in
these consolidated financial statements.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

Income and Expense Recognition

Interest income and expense are recognised on an accrual basis calculated using the effective interest method. Loan
origination fees for loans issued to customers are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as an
adjustment to the effective yield of the loans. Fees, commissions, including pension asset management fees and other
income and expense items are generally recorded on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Portfolio and
other management advisory and service fees are recorded based on the applicable service contracts. Custody services
that are continuously provided over an extended period of time are recorded over the period the service is provided.

Foreign Currency Translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kazakhstani tenge, which is the Bank’s functional and
presentation currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency, converted at
the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the currency rate of exchange as quoted by KASE as of the balance sheet date. Gains and
losses resulting from the translation of foreign currency transactions are recognised in the consolidated statement of
income as gains less losses from foreign currencies. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as of the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

Differences between the contractual exchange rate of a transaction in a foreign currency and the market exchange rate
on the date of the transaction are included in gains less losses from foreign currencies. The market exchange rate at
December 31, 2006, was KZT 127.00 to USD 1 (2005 – 133.98 to USD 1, 2004 – 130.00 to USD 1).

Underwriting Income

Underwriting income includes net written insurance premiums and commissions earned on ceded reinsurance reduced
by the net change in the unearned premium reserve, claims paid, the provision of insurance losses and loss adjustment
expenses, and policy acquisition cost.

Upon inception of a contract, premiums are recorded as written and are earned on a pro rata basis over the term of the
related policy coverage. The unearned premium reserve represents the portion of the premiums written relating to the
unexpired terms of coverage and is included within reserve for insurance claims in the consolidated balance sheet.

Losses and loss adjustments are charged to income as incurred through the reassessment of the reserve for claims and
loss adjustment expenses, and included within other expenses in the consolidated statement of income.

Commissions earned on ceded reinsurance contracts are recorded as income at the date the reinsurance contract is
written and deemed enforceable.

Policy acquisition costs, comprising commissions paid to insurance agents and brokers, which vary with and are directly
related to the production of new business, are deferred, recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
within insurance assets, and are amortized over the period in which the related written premiums are earned.

Reserve for Insurance Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The reserve for insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses is included in the consolidated balance sheet and is based
on the estimated amount payable on claims reported prior to the balance sheet date, which have not yet been settled,
and an estimate of incurred but not reported claims relating to the reporting period.

Due to the absence of prior experience, the reserve for incurred but not reported claims was established as being equal
to the expected loss ratio for each line of business times the value of coverage, less the losses actually reported.

The methods for determining such estimates and establishing the resulting reserves are continuously reviewed and
updated. Resulting adjustments are reflected in current income.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

Reinsurance

In the ordinary course of business, the Group cedes reinsurance risk to reinsurers. Such reinsurance arrangements
provide for greater diversification of business, allow management to control exposure to potential losses arising from
insured risks and provide additional capacity for growth.

Reinsurance assets include balances due from reinsurance companies for paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, and ceded unearned premiums. Amounts receivable from re-insurers are estimated in a manner consistent
with the claim liability associated with the reinsured policy.

Reinsurance assets are recorded gross unless a right of offset exists and are included in the consolidated balance sheet
within other assets.

Reinsurance contracts are assessed to ensure that underwriting risk, defined as the reasonable possibility of significant
loss, and timing risk, defined as the reasonable possibility of a significant variation in the timing of cash flows, both are
transferred by the Group to the re-insurer.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

4. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimates, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:
 Allowances for impairment of assets and other provisions
 Taxation
 Claims liability arising from insurance contracts
 Goodwill impairment testing

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below:

Allowance for impairment of loans and receivables
The Bank regularly reviews its loans and receivables to assess impairment. The Bank uses its experienced judgement to
estimate the amount of any impairment loss in cases where a borrower is in financial difficulties and there are few
available sources of historical data relating to similar borrowers. Similarly, the Bank estimates changes in future cash
flows based on the observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers
in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses
estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of
impairment similar to those in the group of loans and receivables. The Bank uses its experienced judgement to adjust
observable data for a group of loans or receivables to reflect current circumstances.

Taxation
Kazakh tax, currency and customs legislations are subject to varying interpretations and changes, which can occur
frequently. Management's interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group may
be challenged by the relevant regional and state authorities. As such, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest
may be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for five calendar years
preceding the year of review.

As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is
appropriate and that the Group's tax, currency and customs positions will be sustained.
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4. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Claims liability arising from insurance contracts
For insurance contracts, estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost of claims reported at the balance
sheet date and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) at the balance sheet date. It
can take a significant period of time before the ultimate claims cost can be established with certainty and for some type
of policies, IBNR claims form the majority of the balance sheet claims provision. The primary technique adopted by
management in estimating the cost of notified and IBNR claims, is that of using past claim settlement trends to predict
future claims settlement trends. At each reporting date, prior year claims estimates are reassessed for adequacy and
changes made are made to the provision. General insurance claims provisions are not discounted for the time value of
money.

Goodwill impairment testing
The management of the Group believes that JSC Kazakhinstrakh as a whole represents the appropriate level within the
Group at which the goodwill is monitored for management purposes; and, therefore, should be considered as the cash-
generating unit for impairment testing purposes. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. The cash flow projections for the years 2007, 2008 and 2009 were based on the
financial budgets approved by the Management Board. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 20%; and,
the estimated future cash flows, based on a conservative approach beyond the three-year period, are estimated to be
equal to the cash flows of the year 2009. The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit
comprises KZT 3,102,110 as of December 31, 2006 and is included in other assets.

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Cash on hand 14,930,613 14,911,746 10,447,241
Correspondent accounts with OECD based banks 6,328,432 3,669,426 992,268
Correspondent accounts with non-OECD based banks 1,099,517 1,147,804 432,402
Correspondent accounts with the NBK  9,375,422 
Overnight deposits with OECD based banks 81,495,332 20,081,011 11,275,787
Overnight deposits with Kazakh banks 381,191  
Short-term deposits with Kazakh banks 23,564,074 7,916,282 9,905,777
Short-term deposits with non-OECD based banks   69,894
Cash and cash equivalents 127,799,159 57,101,691 33,123,369

Interest rates and currencies in which interest earning cash and cash equivalents are denominated follow:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

KZT
Foreign

currencies KZT
Foreign

currencies KZT
Foreign

currencies
Overnight deposits

with OECD based
banks  3.6%-5.3%  2.3%-4.2%  1.0%2.5%

Overnight deposits
with Kazakh banks 6.0%     

Short-term deposits
with Kazakh banks 6.0%-9.0%  4.0%-14.0% 5.0% 1.0%7.7% 3.0%11.9%

Short-term deposits
with non-OECD
based banks     4.0%8.0% 4.0%6.0%
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6. Obligatory Reserves
Obligatory reserves comprise:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Due from NBK allocated to obligatory reserves 48,317,774 8,632,311 7,578,394
Cash on hand allocated to obligatory reserves 6,788,634 − −
Obligatory reserves 55,106,408 8,632,311 7,578,394

During 2006 the NBK changed its reserve requirements in respect of local and international borrowings, which resulted
in significant increase in obligatory reserves balances as at December 31, 2006.

7. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of
Kazakhstan 29,161,636 19,527,405 27,747,456

Sovereign bonds of the Republic of Kazakhstan 6,289,747 4,674,276 4,882,958
Corporate bonds 5,278,671  
Bonds of the Development Bank of Kazakhstan 4,545,470 992,040 1,191,266
Eurobonds of Kazakh banks 3,010,865 1,664,640 1,549,334
NBK notes 2,496,950 23,159,597 27,005,789
Mutual investment funds shares 1,452,051  
Equity securities of Kazakh banks 428,294  
Equity securities of Kazakh corporations 352,650  
Equity securities of Kyrgyz corporations   5,432
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 53,016,334 50,017,958 62,382,235

Subject to repurchase agreements 1,000,000  200,000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were designated by the Group as such upon their initial recognition.

As of December 31, 2006, NBK notes amounting to KZT 31,120 and Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of the
Republic of Kazakhstan amounting to KZT 1,084 were restricted as collateral for certain of the Bank’s borrowings
(2005 – KZT 521,820 and nil, 2004 − nil). On January 3, 2007, the pledges on these securities were removed.

Interest rates and maturities of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss follow:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
% Maturity % Maturity % Maturity

Treasury bills of the Ministry
of Finance of the Republic
of Kazakhstan 3.2%-6.7% 2008-2014 3.1%-8.4% 2006-2014 4.0% -8.6% 2005-2014

Corporate bonds 8.1%-10.5% 2007-2015    
Sovereign bonds of the

Republic of Kazakhstan 11.1% 2007 11.1% 2007 11.1% 2007
Bonds of the Development

Bank of Kazakhstan 4.8%-9.8% 2007-2026 7.1%-8.5% 2007 7.1%-7.4% 2007-2013
Eurobonds of Kazakh banks 6.1%-8.6% 2007-2013 7.9%-10.1% 2007-2013 6.0%-8.6% 2007-2010
NBK notes 2.2% 2007 2.1%-2.4% 2006 3.0%-6.8% 2005
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8. Amounts Due from Credit Institutions
Amounts due from credit institutions comprise:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Term deposits 1,884,729 2,085,446 695,379
Loans to Kazakh credit institutions 169,790 691,495 −

2,054,519 2,776,941 695,379
Less Allowance for impairment (Note 11) (5,814) − −
Amounts due from credit institutions 2,048,705 2,776,941 695,379

Interest rates and maturity of amounts due from credit institutions follow:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
% Maturity % Maturity % Maturity

Term deposits 4.1%-10.6% 2007-2008 4.0%-12.0% 2006-2008 4.1%-14.5% 2005
Loans to local credit

institutions 13.0%-15.0% 2007-2011 4.1% 2006 − −

9. Available-for-Sale Investment Securities
Available-for-sale investment securities comprise:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

NBK notes 107,856,248 − 472,475
Corporate bonds 10,166,256 6,548,074 4,758,103
Bonds of Kazakh banks 3,084,955 2,624,828 820,062
Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of

Kazakhstan 1,061,272 2,644,113 −
Equity securities of Kazakh corporations 970,763 − −
Treasury bills of the Kyrgyz Republic 113,962 281,624 −
Local municipal bonds 84,951 − 356,684
US Treasury bills − − 14,211,098
Available-for-sale investments securities 123,338,407 12,098,639 20,618,422

Subject to repurchase agreements 29,500,001 − 3,652,001

As of December 31, 2004, US Treasury bills were pledged as security for loans advanced by another financial institution
to a third party. The Bank was exposed to credit risk in relation to these loans which amounted to KZT 13,992,772
(December 31, 2005: nil). During the year ended December 31, 2005 the pledge has been removed and the related
securities were liquidated.

Interest rates and maturities of available-for-sale investment securities are:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
% Maturity % Maturity % Maturity

NBK notes 2.9%-4.8% 2007 − − 1.7%-1.9% 2005
Corporate bonds 7.5%-13.0% 2007-2017 3.5%-9.6% 2006-2014 6.9%-10.7% 2005-2014
Bonds of Kazakh banks 5.9-12.0% 2007-2014 7.0%-13.5% 2007-2013 7.0%-20.1% 2005-2010
Treasury bills of the
Ministry of Finance of
the Republic of
Kazakhstan 3.5%-5.7% 2008-2014 2.8%-3.5% 2006-2008 − −

Treasury bills of the
Kyrgyz Republic 5.2%-16.0% 2007-2008 4.5%-7.3% 2007-2013 − −

Local municipal bonds 8.5% 2008 − − 6.0%-8.5% 2005-2008
US Treasury bills − − − − 1.7%-4.7% 2005-2012
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10. Loans to Customers
Loans to customers comprise:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Loans to customers 625,566,128 431,150,873 264,767,912
Overdrafts 2,743,229 1,499,532 2,240,582
Promissory notes 1,560,998 4,288,256 3,498,427
Factoring − 79,328 620,958

629,870,355 437,017,989 271,127,879
Less – Allowance for loan impairment (Note 11) (33,654,105) (25,920,766) (16,537,686)
Loans to customers 596,216,250 411,097,223 254,590,193

As of December 31, 2006, the annual interest rates charged by the Bank ranged from 9% to 24% per annum for KZT-
denominated loans (2005 – from 6% to 25%, 2004  from 7% to 26%) and from 6% to 22% per annum for US Dollar-
denominated loans (2005 – from 6% to 22%, 2004  from 6% to 24%).

As of December 31, 2006, the Group had a concentration of loans of KZT 93,394 thousand from the ten largest
borrowers that comprised 15% of the Group’s total gross loan portfolio (2005 – KZT 52,972 thousand; 12%, 2004 −
KZT 42,037 thousand; 16%) and 77% of the Group’s total equity (2005 – 84%, 2004  119%). An allowance for
impairment amounting to KZT 2,643 thousand was made against these loans (2005 – KZT 1,675 thousand, 2004 - KZT
9,197 thousand).

Loans are made to the following sectors:

December 31,
2006 %

December 31,
2005 %

December
31, 2004 %

Retail loans:
- mortgage loans 110,274,311 17% 78,680,146 18% 36,663,656 13%
- consumer loans 86,906,930 14% 51,921,731 12% 30,320,051 11%

Wholesale trade 113,510,424 18% 60,924,208 14% 26,916,946 10%
Construction 70,063,797 11% 54,461,305 12% 35,851,122 13%
Agriculture 47,473,587 8% 38,018,719 9% 34,043,299 13%
Retail trade 42,097,716 7% 33,909,256 8% 8,673,253 3%
Services 23,213,285 4% 13,865,515 3% 7,798,393 0%
Real estate 14,895,874 2% 12,493,907 3% 9,132,720 3%
Energy 14,745,114 2% 7,278,666 2% 6,892,073 3%
Oil and gas 13,531,870 2% 16,380,276 4% 26,191,423 10%
Transportation 11,502,853 2% 8,439,726 2% 4,586,565 2%
Food industry 10,359,328 2% 3,742,509 1% 5,809,073 2%
Hotel industry 5,810,523 1% 3,323,331 1% − 0%
Metallurgy 5,637,675 1% 3,968,204 1% 4,362,369 2%
Mining 4,834,996 1% 6,587,252 2% 4,565,767 2%
Consumer goods and automobile
trading 4,639,410 1% 2,148,880 0% 4,372,743 2%
Research and development 2,444,390 0% 8,307,104 2% 8,017,513 3%
Machinery 2,194,102 0% 2,707,749 1% − 0%
Communication 1,888,424 0% 1,432,723 0% 1,557,895 0%
Other 43,845,746 7% 28,426,782 7% 15,373,018 8%

629,870,355 100% 437,017,989 102% 271,127,879 100%

The amount of accrued interest on impaired loans comprised KZT 5,719,267 (2005 – KZT 5,006,104, 2004 – KZT
2,695,056).
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11. Allowances for Impairment and Provisions
The movements in the allowances for impairment of interest earning and other assets were as follows:

Loans to
customers

Due from credit
institutions

Other
assets Total

December 31, 2003 (10,529,346) (15,764) (55,753) (10,600,863)
Impairment charge (7,470,495) (426,476) (57,074) (7,954,045)
Write-offs 1,740,723 457,009 38,297 2,236,029
Recoveries (278,568) (14,769) (1,492) (294,829)
December 31, 2004 (16,537,686) − (76,022) (16,613,708)
Impairment charge (11,838,690) − (130,835) (11,969,525)
Write-offs 3,572,889 − 75,094 3,647,983
Recoveries (1,117,279) − (2,049) (1,119,328)
December 31, 2005 (25,920,766) − (133,812) (26,054,578)
Impairment charge (8,179,078) (5,814) (146,274) (8,331,166)
Write-offs 3,427,458 − 98,907 3,526,365
Recoveries (2,981,719) − (1,525) (2,983,244)
Acquisition of subsidiaries − − (34,758) (34,758)
December 31, 2006 (33,654,105) (5,814) (217,462) (33,877,381)

The movements in provisions were as follows:

Provisions
December 31, 2003 (920,576)
Provision (986,679)
Write-offs 106,216
Recoveries −
December 31, 2004 (1,801,039)
Provision (496,378)
Write-offs 17,909
Recoveries −
December 31, 2005 (2,279,508)
Provision (751,713)
Write-offs 10,011
Recoveries (66)
December 31, 2006 (3,021,276)

Allowances for impairment of assets are deducted from the related assets. Provisions represent provisions against letters
of credit and guarantees issued.
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12. Property and Equipment
The movements in property and equipment were as follows:

Buildings
and

constructions Vehicles

Computers
and banking

equipment Other Total

Cost
Beginning of the year 4,762,823 654,220 6,987,065 4,200,090 16,604,198
Additions 2,724,939 570,152 1,862,162 3,223,594 8,380,847
Disposals (86,770) (124,717) (436,710) (961,116) (1,609,313)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 54,343 32,787 35,314 80,867 203,311
Transfers (16,891) − − 16,891 −
December 31, 2006 7,438,444 1,132,442 8,447,831 6,560,326 23,579,043

Accumulated
depreciation

Beginning of the year 497,121 221,892 3,398,941 1,507,194 5,625,148
Charge 402,034 166,290 977,913 562,481 2,108,718
Disposals (3,367) (61,794) (387,806) (113,772) (566,739)
Transfers (1,167) − − 1,167 −
December 31, 2006 894,621 326,388 3,989,048 1,957,070 7,167,127

Net book value:
December 31, 2006 6,543,823 806,054 4,458,783 4,603,256 16,411,916
December 31, 2005 4,265,702 432,328 3,588,124 2,692,896

Buildings and
constructions Vehicles

Computers
and banking

equipment Other Total
Cost
Beginning of the year 4,221,196 606,360 5,848,676 3,293,922 13,970,154
Additions 94,401 299,316 1,338,271 1,447,646 3,179,634
Disposals (14,998) (251,456) (199,882) (79,254) (545,590)
Transfers 462,224 − − (462,224) −
December 31, 2005 4,762,823 654,220 6,987,065 4,200,090 16,604,198

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of the year 406,567 320,165 2,866,781 1,245,330 4,838,843
Charge 97,854 60,508 696,506 320,976 1,175,844
Disposals (7,300) (158,781) (164,346) (59,112) (389,539)
December 31, 2005 497,121 221,892 3,398,941 1,507,194 5,625,148

Net book value:
December 31, 2005 4,265,702 432,328 3,588,124 2,692,896 10,979,050
December 31, 2004 3,814,629 286,195 2,981,895 2,048,592
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12. Property and Equipment (continued)

Buildings and
constructions Vehicles

Computers
and banking

equipment Other Total

Cost
Beginning of the year 3,656,288 513,942 4,372,749 2,771,148 11,314,127
Additions 582,693 129,168 1,662,595 578,439 2,952,895
Disposals (44,138) (38,842) (233,172) (67,567) (383,719)
Acquisition through business

combinations 26,353 2,092 46,504 11,902 86,851
December 31, 2004 4,221,196 606,360 5,848,676 3,293,922 13,970,154

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of the year 333,951 260,370 2,244,194 1,153,122 3,991,637
Charge 107,798 62,742 705,048 131,749 1,007,337
Disposals (35,182) (2,947) (82,461) (39,541) (160,131)
December 31, 2004 406,567 320,165 2,866,781 1,245,330 4,838,843

Net book value:
December 31, 2004 3,814,629 286,195 2,981,895 2,048,592 9,131,311
December 31, 2003 3,322,337 253,572 2,128,555 1,618,026

13. Insurance Assets and Liabilities
Insurance assets comprised the following at December 31:

2006 2005 2004
Unearned insurance premium reserve, reinsurance share 2,608,865 − −
Reserves for claims, reinsurance share 188,697 − −

2,797,562 − −

Premiums receivable 2,828,324 − −
Insurance assets 5,625,886 − −

Insurance liabilities comprised the following at December 31:

2006 2005 2004
Gross unearned insurance premium reserve 5,289,606 − −
Reserves for claims 390,997 − −

5,680,603 − −

Payables to reinsurers and agents 1,854,303 − −
Insurance liabilities 7,534,906 − −

Insurance reserves comprised the following at December 31:

2006 2005 2004
Unearned insurance premium reserve, reinsurance share 2,608,865 − −
Reserves for claims, reinsurance share 188,697 − −

2,797,562 − −

Gross unearned insurance premium reserve (5,289,606) − −
Reserves for claims (390,997) − −

(5,680,603) − −
Net insurance reserves (2,883,041) − −
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13. Insurance Assets and Liabilities (continued)
Reserves have been established on the basis of information currently available, including potential outstanding loss
notifications, experience with similar claims and case law. The reserve for claims incurred but not reported is actuarially
determined by lines of business and is based on statistical claims’ data for the period typical for loss development of the
classes and sub-classes of business, the Group’s previous experience and availability of data. While management
considers that the gross reserve for claims and the related reinsurance recoveries are fairly stated on the basis of the
information available to them, the ultimate liability may vary as a result of subsequent information and events and may
result in adjustments to the amounts provided. Any adjustments to the amount of reserves will be reflected in the
consolidated financial statements in the period in which the necessary adjustments become known and estimable.

The movements on claims reserves from the date of acquisition by the Group of JSC Kazakhinstrakh to December 31,
2006 were as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Reserves for claims, October 27 (330,802) − −
Reserves for claims, reinsurance share, October 27 62,894 − −
Net reserves for claims, October 27 (267,908) − −
Plus claims incurred (102,875) − −
Less claims paid 168,483 − −
Net reserves for claims, December 31 (202,300) − −

The movements on unearned insurance premium reserve during 2006 were as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Gross unearned insurance premiums reserve, October 27 (4,595,965) − −
Unearned insurance premiums reserve, reinsurance share,

October 27 2,858,681 − −
Net unearned insurance premiums reserve, October 27 (1,737,284) − −

Change in unearned insurance premiums reserve (741,537) − −
Change in unearned insurance premiums reserve, reinsurance share (201,920) − −
Change in unearned insurance premiums reserve, net (943,457) − −
Net unearned insurance premiums reserve, December 31 (2,680,741) − −

14. Taxation
The Bank and its subsidiaries, other than HSBK (Europe) B.V., JSC Bank Khlebny, OJSC Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan and
LLP NBK-Finance are subject to taxation in the Republic of Kazakhstan. HSBK (Europe) B.V. is subject to income tax
in the Netherlands. JSC Bank Khlebny and LLP NBK-Finance are subject to income tax in the Russian Federation.
OJSC Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan is subject to income tax in the Kyrgyz Republic.

The income tax expense comprises:

2006 2005 2004
Current tax charge (6,336,588) (3,564,256) (1,721,348)
Deferred tax (charge ) benefit (2,105,219) 25,680 (276,432)
Income tax expense (8,441,807) (3,538,576) (1,997,780)

Kazakh legal entities must file individual tax declarations. The tax rate for banks for income other than on state and
other qualifying securities was 30% for 2006, 2005 and 2004. The tax rate for companies other than banks was also 30%
for 2006, 2005 and 2004, except for insurance companies taxed at 4%. Income on state and other qualifying securities is
tax exempt.
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14. Taxation (continued)
The effective income tax rate differs from the statutory income tax rates. A reconciliation of the income tax expense
based on statutory rates with actual is as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Income before income tax expense 35,601,081 19,366,476 10,090,815
Statutory tax rate 30% 30% 30%

Theoretical income tax expense at the statutory rate (10,680,324) (5,809,943) (3,027,245)
Tax exempt interest income on mortgage loans and long-term

loans issued by the Bank to modernize equipment 2,449,117 1,812,360 915,576
Tax exempt interest income and other related income on state and

other qualifying securities 897,797 1,222,634 881,592
Income of subsidiaries taxed at different rates 89,537 11,391 113,760
Other tax exempt income   24,175
Non deductible expenditures:

- other provisions (345,323)  (127,940)
- general and administrative expenses (270,578)  
- withholding tax on interest (237,498) (311,506) (543,585)
- charity (27,406) (33,065) (25,088)
- interest on deposits to non-residents (27,145) (317,990) (177,160)
- other (289,984) (112,457) (31,865)

Income tax expense (8,441,807) (3,538,576) (1,997,780)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 comprise:

2006 2005 2004
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences:
Loans to customers, up-front fees  341,564 
Bonuses accrued 868,858  
Deferred tax asset 868,858 341,564 

Tax effect of taxable temporary differences:
Loans to customers (1,598,505)  
Property and equipment (1,800,716) (766,708) (450,824)
Deferred tax liability (3,399,221) (766,708) (450,824)

Net deferred tax liability (2,530,363) (425,144) (450,824)

Kazakhstan currently has a number of laws related to various taxes imposed by both state and regional governmental
authorities. Applicable taxes include value added tax, income tax, social taxes, and others. Implementing regulations are
often unclear or nonexistent and few precedents have been established. Often, differing opinions regarding legal
interpretation exist both among and within government ministries and organizations; thus creating uncertainties and
areas of conflict. Tax declarations, together with other legal compliance areas (as examples, customs and currency
control matters) are subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities, which are enabled by law to impose
severe fines, penalties and interest charges. These facts create tax risks in Kazakhstan substantially more significant than
typically found in countries with more developed tax systems.

Management believes that the Bank is in substantial compliance with the tax laws affecting its operations; however, the
risk remains that relevant authorities could take differing positions with regard to interpretive issues.
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15. Amounts Due to Customers
Amounts due to customers include the following:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Term deposits:
Commercial entities 263,191,798 92,026,122 69,948,527
Individuals 157,280,753 97,443,587 81,412,794
Governmental entities 27,908,098 17,426,543 

448,380,649 206,896,252 151,361,321
Current accounts:
Commercial entities 66,808,709 64,587,543 37,009,691
Individuals 52,596,721 37,913,417 30,892,155
Governmental entities 29,438,229 10,466,124 11,475,743

148,843,659 112,967,084 79,377,589

Restricted accounts 710,777 3,651,491 1,191,374
Amounts due to customers 597,935,085 323,514,827 231,930,284

As of December 31, 2006, the Bank’s ten largest customers accounted for approximately 52% of the total amounts due
to customers (2005 – 39%, 2004 − 32%).

Management believes that in the event of withdrawal of funds, the Group would be given sufficient notice so as to
realize its liquid assets to enable repayment.

An analysis of customer accounts by sector follows:

December 31,
2006 %

December 31,
2005 %

December 31,
2004 %

Individuals and entrepreneurs 209,877,474 35% 135,357,004 42% 112,304,949 48%
Metallurgy 102,344,584 17% 636,449 0% 2,700,819 1%
Construction 81,318,813 14% 22,890,735 7% 5,362,613 2%
Oil and gas 67,540,089 12% 99,769,084 31% 42,856,652 19%
Financial sector 44,167,795 7% 5,422,340 2% 677,553 1%
Other transportation 17,291,464 3% 4,760,271 1% 3,658,668 1%
Wholesale trade 15,799,824 3% 5,907,904 2% 2,090,423 1%
Energy 12,842,882 2% 10,390,969 3% 11,857,510 5%
Transportation of oil and gas 1,794,306 0% 6,267,139 2% 20,694,005 9%
Other 44,957,854 7% 32,112,932 10% 29,727,092 13%

597,935,085 100% 323,514,827 100% 231,930,284 100%

16. Amounts Due to Credit Institutions
Amounts due to credit institutions comprise:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Loans and deposits from OECD based banks 73,126,089 97,539,596 64,364,550
Loans and deposits from Kazakh banks 36,007,235 1,099,582 5,310,820
Loans and deposits from non-OECD based banks 5,073,042 2,144,841 3,453,432
Loans from other financial institutions 649,956 1,413,908 58,121
Loans due to the European Bank for Reconstruction and

Development (“EBRD”) − 679,153 657,617
Loans due to the Small Business Development Fund − − 800,426
Overnight deposits 3,338,158 3,850,541 900,053
Correspondent accounts 524,094 556,526 947,741
Amounts due to credit institutions 118,718,574 107,284,147 76,492,760
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16. Amounts Due to Credit Institutions (continued)

Interest rates and maturities of amounts due to credit institutions follow:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
% Maturity % Maturity % Maturity

Loans and deposits from
OECD based banks 2.3%-8.4% 2007-2015 3.8%-7.8% 2006-2012 2.4%-6.9% 2005-2009

Loans and deposits from
Kazakh banks 0.7%-7.0% 2007 4.0%-8.0% 2006 2.0%-5.3% 2005-2006

Loans and deposits from
non-OECD based banks 4.6%-6.7% 2007-2012 4.7%-6.0% 2006-2012 3.9%-6.0% 2005-2012

Loans from other financial
institutions 5.9%-8.4% 2007-2012 2.4%-7.3% 2006-2012 2.4% 2008

Loans due to the EBRD − −

6-month
LIBOR +

4.25% 2006

6-month
LIBOR +

4.25% 2006
Loans due to the Small

Business Development
Fund − − − − 7.8% 2005

Overnight deposits 2.5%-4.8% 2007 4.0%-5.0% 2006 2.0%-2.5% 2005

Financial covenants
In accordance with the contractual terms of the loans from certain OECD based banks and EBRD, the Bank is required
to maintain certain financial ratios, particularly with regard to its liquidity, capital adequacy and lending exposures. In
addition, and in accordance with the terms of certain of those loans, the Bank is required to obtain the approval of the
lender before distributing any dividends to the common shareholders other than dividend shares. Furthermore, certain
of the Bank’s outstanding financing agreements include covenants restricting the Bank’s ability to create security
interests over its assets. In addition, should the Bank default under these covenants, this could result in cross-
accelerations and cross-defaults under the terms of the Bank’s other financing arrangements.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, management believes that the Bank was in compliance with the covenants of the
various debt agreements the Bank has with other banks and financial institutions.

17. Debt Securities Issued
Debt securities issued consisted of the following:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Fixed rate KZT denominated bonds 20,138,773 20,608,349 12,079,918
Reverse inflation indexed KZT denominated bonds 4,049,388 3,674,782 −
Inflation indexed KZT denominated bonds 5,005,152 − −
USD denominated bonds 3,741,629 3,789,579 2,068,461
Subordinated debt securities issued 32,934,942 28,072,710 14,148,379
Less: subordinated debt securities held by the Group (2,227,391) (17,057) −
Subordinated debt securities issued 30,707,551 28,055,653 14,148,379

USD denominated bonds 64,154,310 26,918,359 26,018,775
KZT denominated bonds 41,001,916 5,106,234 4,751,601
RUR denominated promissory notes 62 47,593 21,219
Unsubordinated debt securities issued 105,156,288 32,072,186 30,791,595
Less: unsubordinated debt securities held by the Group (1,451,153) (1,314,245) −
Unsubordinated debt securities issued 103,705,135 30,757,941 30,791,595
Debt securities issued 134,412,686 58,813,594 44,939,974
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17. Debt Securities Issued (continued)
The interest rates and maturities of these debt securities issued follow:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
% Maturity % Maturity % Maturity

Subordinated debt
securities issued

KZT denominated bonds 7.5%-9.6% 2007-2015 7.5%-9.6% 2007-2015 7.5%-9.0% 2007-2014
Reverse inflation indexed

KZT denominated
bonds

15% less
inflation

rate 2015
15.0% less

inflation rate 2015 − −
Inflation indexed KZT

denominated bonds
inflation rate

plus 1% 2014 − − − −
USD denominated bonds 8.0%-11.8% 2007 8.0%-11.8% 2007 11.8% 2007
Unsubordinated debt

securities issued
USD denominated bonds 7.8%-8.1% 2009-2013 8.1% 2009 8.1% 2009
KZT denominated bonds 5.0%-7.3% 2007-2009 5.0% 2007 5.0% 2007
RUR denominated

promissory notes − On demand − On demand − On demand

Subordinated securities are unsecured obligations of the Bank and are subordinated in right of payments to all present
and future senior indebtedness and certain other obligations of the Bank.

In accordance with the terms of the USD denominated bonds, the Bank is required to maintain certain financial
covenants particularly with regard to its capital adequacy, lending exposures, limitations on transactions at less than fair
market value and payment of dividends. Furthermore, the terms of the USD denominated bonds include covenants
restricting the Bank’s ability to create security interests over its assets. In addition, should the Bank default under these
covenants, this could result in cross-accelerations and cross-defaults under the terms of the Bank’s other financing
arrangements. Management believes that as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Bank was in compliance with the other
covenants of the agreements the Bank has with the notes’ trustee and holders.

18. Equity
Authorized and issued share capital as of December 31, 2006, consisted of 970,905,778 common shares, 24,742,000
non-convertible preferred shares and 80,215,187 convertible preferred shares (2005 − 897,383,050, 24,742,000 and
74,887,521, respectively, 2004 − 87,160,237, 24,742,000 and nil, respectively). All shares are KZT denominated. Each
common share is entitled to one vote and is equal for dividends.  Effective May 13, 2003, the date of the new edition to
the Law concerning “Joint Stock Companies” nominal amount concept has been restricted to placement of shares only
between the founders of an entity. For all other investors share capital is recorded at placement value being the
consideration received by an entity for its shares.

In accordance with IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation”, preferred shares are classified as part
of equity as these shares are not redeemable. The terms of the preferred shares require that the Bank pay a nominal
dividend amount of 0.01 KZT per share to comply with the Kazakh legislation with regard to preferred shares which
requires joint stock companies to pay a certain amount of preferred dividends. The remainder of the dividends on
preferred shares is linked to the Bank’s profitability and is paid out only if the Bank is profitable. Preferred shares do not
have any voting rights, unless payment of preferred dividends has been delayed for three months or more from the date
they became due. The dividend to the preferred shareholders is paid only if declared and approved by the Board of
Directors and the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders.

On May 18, 2005, in accordance with the resolution of the shareholders, the Bank announced a one-to-ten split of
common shares outstanding as of that date. Subsequently shareholders authorized and issued 74,887,521 preferred
shares that, by the decision of the Board of Directors of the Bank authorized by the shareholders, can subsequently be
converted into common shares.



98    JSC HALYK BANK//Annual Report 2006

Joint Stock Company Halyk Bank Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Thousands of Kazakhstani tenge)

December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

31

18. Equity (continued)
Movements of shares authorized, fully paid and outstanding follow:

Number of shares Nominal (placement) amount

Common

Non-
convertible

preferred
Convertible

preferred Common

Non-
convertible

preferred
Convertible

preferred
December 31, 2003 74,068,613 24,742,000 − 7,406,861 2,474,200 −
Capital contributions 13,100,888 − − 5,862,551 − −
Purchase of treasury

shares (9,264) − − (926) − −
December 31, 2004 87,160,237 24,742,000 − 13,268,486 2,474,200 −
Capital contributions 2,574,778 − 74,887,521 936,618 − 12,320,219
Sale of treasury shares 3,290 − − 329 − −
December 31, 2005

(before share split) 89,738,305 24,742,000 74,887,521 14,205,433 2,474,200 12,320,219
One-to-ten share split 807,644,745 − − − − −
December 31, 2005 897,383,050 24,742,000 74,887,521 14,205,433 2,474,200 12,320,219
Capital contributions 75,531,122 − 5,327,666 30,754,967 − 912,918
Purchase of treasury

shares (2,008,394) − − (30,905) − −
December 31, 2006 970,905,778 24,742,000 80,215,187 44,929,495 2,474,200 13,233,137

At December 31, 2006, the Group held 3,858,746 of the Bank’s shares as treasury shares at KZT 38,587 (2005 –
1,663,610 at KZT 16,336, 2004 166,651 at KZT 16,665).

19. Commitments, Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments

Financial Commitments and Contingencies
The Group’s financial commitments and contingencies comprised the following:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Guarantees issued 39,897,391 29,329,513 44,595,481
Commitments to extend credit 21,629,356 17,000,292 104,963,613
Commercial letters of credit 18,325,517 16,107,316 15,526,268

79,852,264 62,437,121 165,085,362

Less: cash collateral against letters of credit (131,788) (766,314) (762,451)
Less: provisions (3,021,276) (2,279,508) (1,801,039)

Financial commitments and contingencies 76,699,200 59,391,299 162,521,872

As of December 31, 2006, the ten largest guarantees accounted for 63% of the Bank’s total financial guarantees (2005 –
56%, 2004 − 33%) and represented 21% of the Group’s total equity (2005 – 25%, 2004 − 42%).

As of December 31, 2006, the ten largest letters of credit accounted for 78% of the Bank’s total commercial letters of
credit (2005 – 74%, 2004 − 83%) and represented 12% of the Group’s total equity (2005 – 18%, 2004 − 36%).

The Group requires collateral to support credit-related financial instruments when it is deemed necessary. Collateral held
varies, but may include deposits held in the banks, government securities and other assets.

Trust Activities
The Group provides fiduciary services to third parties which involve the Group making allocation, purchase and sales
decisions in relation to the securities. Those securities that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these
consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2006, such securities not reported in the consolidated balance
sheet amounted to KZT 254,340 thousand (2005 – KZT 168,343 thousand, 2004 − KZT 121,174 thousand).
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19. Commitments, Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The outstanding deals with derivative
financial instruments and trading liabilities are as follows:

December 31, 2006
Notional Fair values
principal Asset Liability

Interest rate contracts
Forwards and Swaps – domestic 2,146,875 47,795 −

Foreign exchange contracts
Forwards and Swaps – domestic 178,973,259 102,916 −

Total derivative asset/liabilities 181,120,134 150,711 −

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Group did not have any derivative financial instruments.

20. Fees and Commissions
Fee and commission income was derived from the following sources:

2006 2005 2004
Pension fund and asset management 7,030,027 3,114,774 790,216
Bank transfers 5,897,823 4,312,469 2,381,350
Cash operations 2,713,941 2,224,997 1,860,360
Letters of credit and guarantees issued 1,356,635 1,796,337 1,195,213
Maintenance of customer accounts 1,103,912 894,204 752,638
Customers’ pension payments 1,080,312 894,006 634,653
Utilities payments 764,531 861,427 723,648
Plastic cards maintenance 433,029 529,438 539,694
Foreign currency operations 232,432 780,755 647,011
Other 1,451,154 752,301 592,114
Fee and commission income 22,063,796 16,160,708 10,116,897

Fees and commission expense comprised the following:

2006 2005 2004
Plastic cards (490,231) (382,442) (344,222)
Bank transfers (147,876) (125,577) (83,076)
Foreign currency operations (117,166) (217,919) (216,517)
Other (173,742) (186,579) (154,661)
Fee and commission expense (929,015) (912,517) (798,476)

21. Insurance Underwriting Income
Insurance underwriting income comprised:

2006 2005 2004
Insurance premiums written, gross 2,420,475 − −
Ceded reinsurance share (812,632) − −
Change in unearned insurance premiums, net (943,457) − −
Insurance underwriting income 664,386 − −
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22. Administrative and Operating Expenses
Administrative and operating expenses comprised:

2006 2005 2004
Repair and maintenance (1,206,600) (826,175) (693,855)
Professional services (907,447) (90,108) (514,474)
Deposit insurance (884,869) (691,765) (593,749)
Advertisement (789,108) (525,879) (391,806)
Rent (644,342) (293,328) (140,104)
Communication (643,746) (437,553) (400,507)
Stationery and office supplies (539,344) (347,548) (257,139)
Business trip expenses (531,619) (412,462) (302,916)
Security (509,988) (183,342) (143,542)
Information services (375,730) (207,088) (65,733)
Hospitality expenses (210,578) (75,912) (87,624)
Transportation (209,115) (159,230) (158,692)
Charity (96,637) (105,718) (90,594)
Social events (94,513) (91,121) (43,953)
Other (914,527) (794,926) (628,289)
Administrative and operating expenses (8,558,163) (5,242,155) (4,512,977)

23. Earnings per Share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income for the year attributable to equity holders
of the parent by the weighted average number of participating shares outstanding during the year. Participating shares
comprise common and preferred shares as, in accordance with Kazakhstan legislation, preferred shareholders are
entitled to at least the same amount of per share dividends as common shareholders.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations for the
years ended December 31:

2006 2005 2004
Net income attributable to equity

holders of the parent 26,658,916 15,628,180 8,088,143
Weighted average number of

participating shares
common

shares
preferred

 shares
common

shares
preferred

shares
common

shares
preferred

shares
Weighted average number of

participating shares 896,851,972 79,963,750 726,285,353 44,686,581 744,639,277 24,742,000
Basic and diluted earnings per

share (Tenge) 27.29 27.29 20.24 20.24 10.50 10.50

There are no potentially dilutive instruments, therefore, diluted earnings per share equal basic earnings per share.

0
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24. Business Combination
During 2006, the Bank acquired 56.7% of the share capital of JSC Kazakhinstrakh for KZT 4,782,346 bringing its share
in the Company to 98.4%. The consideration was paid in two tranches on October 27, 2006 and October 30, 2006 and
control was obtained on October 27, 2006.

On October 27, 2006, the estimated fair value of the net assets of JSC Kazakhinstrakh comprised:

Cash and cash equivalents 268,853
Amounts due from credit institutions 439,564
Available-for-sale investment securities 3,732,749
Unearned premiums, reinsurance share 2,858,681
Insurance reserves, reinsurance share 62,894
Insurance receivables 1,113,000
Other assets 485,548
Unearned premiums (4,595,965)
Insurance reserves (330,802)
Other creditors (1,071,143)
Net assets 2,963,379

Group’s share of the fair value of net assets 1,680,236

Goodwill (3,102,110)

Consideration paid in cash (4,782,346)

At the date of acquisition the estimated fair value of the net assets of JSC Kazakhinstrakh approximated their carrying
amounts.

From the date of the combination, JSC Kazakhinstrakh contributed KZT 45,570 to the net income of the Group.

During 2006, the Bank acquired 100% of the share capital of JSC Halyk Life for KZT 559,836. The consideration was
paid in two tranches on September 1, 2006 and September 8, 2006 and control was obtained on September 1, 2006.

On September 1, 2006, the estimated fair value of the net assets of JSC Halyk Life comprised:

Amounts due from credit institutions 360,409
Available-for-sale investment securities 204,224
Other assets 6,568
Liabilities (39,949)
Net assets 531,252

Group’s share of the fair value of net assets 531,252

Goodwill (28,584)

Consideration paid in cash (559,836)

At the date of acquisition the estimated fair value of the net assets of JSC Halyk Life approximated their carrying
amounts.

From the date of the combination, JSC Halyk Life contributed a net loss of KZT 20,569 to the net income of the
Group.

If the combinations had taken place at the beginning of the year, the net income of the Group would have been
KZT 27,747,969 and revenue would have been KZT 110,714,496.

During 2004, the Bank acquired 77% of the share capital of JSC Bank Khlebny for KZT 163,378. The consideration was
paid and control was obtained on April 15, 2004.
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24. Business Combination (continued)
On April 15, 2004, the estimated fair value of the net assets of JSC Bank Khlebny comprised:

Cash and cash equivalents 93,245
Loans to customers 87,145
Property and equipment 53,395
Other assets 10,561
Liabilities (151,453)
Net assets 92,893
Less minority interest (21,476)

Net assets less minority interest 71,417

Group’s share of the fair value of net assets 54,905

Goodwill (108,473)

Consideration paid in cash (163,378)

At the date of acquisition the estimated fair value of the net assets of JSC Bank Khlebny approximated their carrying
amounts.

From the date of the combination, JSC Bank Khlebny contributed a net loss of KZT 1,992 to the net income of the
Group.

During 2004, the Bank acquired 100% of the charter capital of LLP ARIR for KZT 87. The consideration was paid and
control was obtained on June 30, 2004.

At June 30, 2004, the estimated fair value of the net liabilities of LLP ARIR comprised:

Cash and cash equivalents 38,218
Accounts receivable 19,686
Property and equipment 45,801
Other assets 17,404
Liabilities (170,274)
Net liabilities (49,165)

Consideration paid in cash (87)

Goodwill (49,252)

At the date of acquisition the estimated fair value of the net liabilities of LLP ARIR approximated their carrying
amounts.

From the date of the combination, LLP ARIR contributed a net loss of KZT 48,246 to the net income of the Group.

During 2004, the Bank acquired 100% of the share capital of JSC Kairat Bank for KZT 180,448 (re-registered under
name OJSC Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan on December 31, 2004). The consideration was paid and control was obtained on
September 30, 2004.

On September 30, 2004, the estimated fair value of the net assets of JSC Kairat Bank comprised:

Cash and cash equivalents 453,910
Amounts due from credit institutions 87,509
Investment securities 448,834
Other assets 45,347
Liabilities (885,883)
Net assets 149,717

Consideration paid in cash (180,448)

Goodwill (30,731)
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24. Business Combination (continued)
At the date of acquisition the estimated fair value of the net assets of JSC Kairat Bank approximated their carrying
amounts.

From the date of the combination, JSC Kairat Bank contributed a net income of KZT 6,750 to the net income of the
Group.

If the combinations had taken place at the beginning of the year, the net income of the Group would have been
KZT 8,049,547 and revenue would have been KZT 45,455,092.

25. Financial Risk Management
Management of risk is fundamental to the banking business and is an essential element of the Bank’s operations. The
main risks inherent to the Bank’s operations are those related to credit, liquidity and market movements in interest and
foreign exchange rates. A summary description of the Bank’s risk management policies in relation to those risks follows.

Credit risk
The Bank is exposed to credit risk which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due.
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to
one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to industry. Limits on the level of credit risk by borrower and industry sector
for corporate loans are approved by the Commercial Direction, and for retail loans – by the Retail Credit Committee.
Where appropriate, and in the case of most loans, the Bank obtains collateral.

The exposure to any one borrower including banks is further restricted by sub-limits covering on and off-balance sheet
exposures which are set by the Commercial Direction and Credit Committee. The maximum credit risk exposure,
ignoring the fair value of any collateral, in the event other parties fail to meet their obligations under financial
instruments is equal to the carrying value of financial assets as presented in the consolidated financial statements and the
disclosed financial commitments.

With respect to undrawn loan commitments the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total
amount of such commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than that, since most commitments are
contingent upon certain conditions set out in the loan agreements.

Geographical Concentration
All assets and liabilities, except for those located in OECD and non-OECD countries, as presented in Notes 5, 8 and 16,
are located in Kazakhstan.
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25. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Currency Risk
The Bank is exposed to effects of fluctuation in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates (primarily USD) on its
financial position and cash flows, which are monitored daily. The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee sets
limits on the level of exposure by currencies within the authority approved by the Board of Directors, by branches and
in total. These limits also comply with the minimum requirements of the NBK. The Bank’s exposure to foreign currency
exchange rate risk follows:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

KZT
Foreign

currencies Total KZT
Foreign

currencies Total
Monetary assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 31,956,899 95,842,260 127,799,159 24,556,199 32,545,492 57,101,691
Obligatory reserves 18,873,001 36,233,407 55,106,408 8,632,311 − 8,632,311
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 37,484,042 15,532,292 53,016,334 42,687,002 7,330,956 50,017,958
Amounts due from credit

institutions 1,928,399 120,306 2,048,705 1,330,465 1,446,476 2,776,941
Available-for-sale investment

securities 122,156,877 1,181,530 123,338,407 9,623,288 2,475,351 12,098,639
Loans to customers 291,006,980 305,209,270 596,216,250 168,663,129 242,434,094 411,097,223
Insurance assets 5,251,838 374,048 5,625,886   
Other assets 2,924,550 1,415,501 4,340,051 3,849,947 430,402 4,280,349

511,582,586 455,908,614 967,491,200 259,342,341 286,662,771 546,005,112
Monetary liabilities:
Amounts due to customers 303,198,772 294,736,313 597,935,085 161,796,192 161,718,635 323,514,827
Amounts due to credit

institutions 55,041,674 63,676,900 118,718,574 18,122,429 89,161,718 107,284,147
Debt securities issued 68,188,176 66,224,510 134,412,686 28,084,365 30,729,229 58,813,594
Provisions 3,013,846 7,430 3,021,276 2,279,070 438 2,279,508
Deferred tax liability 2,524,826 5,537 2,530,363 425,144  425,144
Insurance liabilities 6,424,573 1,110,333 7,534,906   
Other liabilities 5,757,293 432,225 6,189,518 2,025,850 772,680 2,798,530

444,149,160 426,193,248 870,342,408 212,733,050 282,382,700 495,115,750
Net balance sheet position 67,433,426 29,715,366 97,148,792 46,609,291 4,280,071 50,889,362
Net off balance sheet
position 80,203,382 159,190,837 239,394,219 14,020,533 32,618,311 46,638,844

Total open position 147,636,808 188,906,203 336,543,011 60,629,824 36,898,382 97,528,206
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25. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Currency Risk (continued)

December 31, 2004

KZT
Other foreign
currencies Total

Monetary assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 10,142,361 22,981,008 33,123,369
Obligatory reserves 7,578,394 − 7,578,394
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 54,753,245 7,628,990 62,382,235
Amounts due from credit institutions − 695,379 695,379
Available-for-sale investment securities 5,022,324 15,596,098 20,618,422
Loans to customers 118,349,626 136,240,567 254,590,193
Other assets 3,693,084 691,092 4,384,176

199,539,034 183,833,134 383,372,168
Liabilities:
Due to customers 136,230,229 95,700,055 231,930,284
Due to credit institutions 6,569,529 69,923,231 76,492,760
Debt securities issued 15,206,003 29,733,971 44,939,974
Provisions 1,801,039  1,801,039
Deferred tax liability 450,824  450,824
Other liabilities 914,996 1,155,826 2,070,822

161,172,620 196,513,083 357,685,703
Net balance sheet position 38,366,414 (12,679,949) 25,686,465
Net off balance sheet position 14,392,980 31,933,855 46,326,835
Total open position 52,759,394 19,253,906 72,013,300

The Group’s principal cash flows are generated in KZT and USD. As a result, potential movements in the exchange rate
between KZT and USD will affect the carrying values of the Group’s USD denominated monetary assets and liabilities.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the value of the financial instruments.

The Bank’s interest rate policy is reviewed and approved by the Bank’s Assets and Liabilities Management Committee.

The interest rates on the Bank’s assets and liabilities are disclosed in the relevant notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The effective average interest rates by currencies for interest generating/ bearing monetary financial instruments were as
follows:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

KZT
Foreign

currencies KZT
Foreign

currencies KZT
Foreign

currencies
Cash and cash equivalents 0.08% 0.02% 0.11% 0.04% 0.34% 0.03%
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 5.80% 6.50% 3.74% 7.20% 3.94% 7.26%
Amounts due from credit

institutions 3.23% 5.09% 5.80% 3.69% 9.34% 6.01%
Available-for-sale investment

securities 5.00% 11.80% 7.10% 10.17% 6.15% 4.50%
Loans to customers 16.76% 11.31% 15.50% 11.31% 14.69% 11.62%

Amounts due to customers,
including current accounts
– legal entities 2.37% 5.50% 2.01% 4.94% 1.65% 4.61%
– individuals 5.52% 2.85% 5.23% 3.29% 5.63% 5.09%

Amounts due to credit institutions 5.90% 6.13% 4.70% 5.12% − 3.36%
Debt securities issued 6.72% 6.57% 8.93% 9.95% 8.25% 9.80%
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25. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Interest Rate Risk (continued)
The following tables provide an analysis of banking assets and liabilities grouped on the basis of the remaining period
from the balance sheet date to the contractual repricing date.

December 31, 2006

On demand
Less than 1

month
1 to 3

months
3 months
to 1 year

1 to 3
years

Over 3
years Total

Monetary assets:
Cash and cash

equivalents 7,427,949 86,031,177 19,409,420 − − − 112,868,546
Financial assets at

fair value through
profit or loss 2,496,950 247,246 518,945 11,668,411 13,544,737 24,540,045 53,016,334

Amounts due from
credit institutions − − 162,002 148,000 1,710,918 27,785 2,048,705

Available-for-sale
investment
securities − 108,664,460 68,597 246,207 4,853,244 9,505,899 123,338,407

Loans to customers 2,404,547 24,266,841 49,929,380 251,182,874 144,508,059 123,924,549 596,216,250
12,329,446 219,209,724 70,088,344 263,245,492 164,616,958 157,998,278 887,488,242

Monetary
liabilities:

Amounts due to
customers 34,427,651 149,703,540 27,941,147 219,707,172 41,981,194 9,758,373 483,519,077

Amounts due to
credit institutions 524,094 48,824,037 11,383,631 32,908,704 5,108,060 19,970,048 118,718,574

Debt securities issued 62 − − 12,796,169 94,475,516 27,140,939 134,412,686
34,951,807 198,527,577 39,324,778 265,412,045 141,564,770 56,869,360 736,650,337

Net interest
sensitivity gap (22,622,361) 20,682,147 30,763,566 (2,166,553) 23,052,188 101,128,918 150,837,905

Cumulative interest
sensitivity gap (22,622,361) (1,940,214) 28,823,352 26,656,799 49,708,987 150,837,905
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25. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Interest Rate Risk (continued)

December 31, 2005

On demand
Less than 1

month
1 to 3

months
3 months
to 1 year

1 to 3
years

Over 3
years Total

Monetary assets:
Cash and cash

equivalents 14,192,652 26,231,346 1,765,947 − − − 42,189,945
Financial assets at

fair value through
profit or loss − − 413,192 1,492,144 9,458,065 15,494,960 50,017,958

Amounts due from
credit institutions − 104,673 1,446,476 1,130,465 200,000 − 2,776,941

Available-for-sale
investment
securities 1,410,590 13,212,057 875,437 1,485,038 1,803,974 7,829,517 12,098,639

Loans to customers 15,603,242 62,707,673 27,435,465 129,749,429 179,407,412 59,882,270 411,097,223
14,192,652 26,231,346 31,936,517 133,857,076 190,869,451 83,206,747 518,180,706

Monetary
liabilities:

Amounts due to
customers 31,964,990 38,991,242 21,515,976 88,641,854 58,250,210 3,148,461 242,512,733

Amounts due to
credit institutions 556,526 14,937,940 14,575,018 38,974,122 29,677,157 8,563,384 107,284,147

Debt securities issued 47,593 − − 3,674,782 7,718,616 47,372,603 58,813,594
32,569,109 53,929,182 36,090,994 131,290,758 95,645,983 59,084,448 408,610,474

Net interest
sensitivity gap (16,965,867) 8,778,491 (4,154,477) 2,566,318 95,223,468 24,122,299 109,570,232

Cumulative interest
sensitivity gap (16,965,867) (8,187,376) (12,341,853) (9,775,535) 85,447,933 109,570,232

December 31, 2004

On demand
Less than 1

month
1 to 3

months
3 months
to 1 year

1 to 3
years

Over 3
years Total

Monetary assets:
Cash and cash

equivalents 1,424,670 11,275,787 9,975,671 − − − 22,676,128
Financial assets at

fair value through
profit or loss − 28,884,574 515,332 1,860,997 11,796,068 19,325,264 62,382,235

Amounts due from
credit institutions − 23,149 413,467 258,763 − − 695,379

Available-for-sale
investment
securities − 178,383 1,491,915 2,530,792 3,074,320 13,343,012 20,618,422

Loans to customers 2,103,916 13,854,221 32,563,164 78,082,803 98,252,337 29,733,752 254,590,193
3,528,586 54,216,114 44,959,549 82,733,355 113,122,725 62,402,028 360,962,357

Monetary
liabilities:

Amounts due to
customers 17,094,192 25,098,797 27,293,699 72,424,208 26,644,969 3,903,318 172,459,183

Amounts due to
credit institutions 947,741 6,933,062 11,457,470 40,072,910 17,004,078 77,499 76,492,760

Debt securities issued 21,219 − 513,232 − 38,533,163 5,872,360 44,939,974
18,063,152 32,031,859 39,264,401 112,497,118 82,182,210 9,853,177 293,891,917

Net interest
sensitivity gap (14,534,566) 22,184,255 5,695,148 (29,763,763) 30,940,515 52,548,851 67,070,440

Cumulative interest
sensitivity gap (14,534,566) 7,649,689 13,344,837 (16,418,926) 14,521,589 67,070,440
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25. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Interest Rate Risk (continued)
The above tables do not include the effect of cash on hand, obligatory reserves, insurance assets, other assets, non-
interest bearing current accounts due to customers, provisions, deferred tax liability, insurance liabilities and other
liabilities.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk refers to the availability of sufficient funds to meet deposit withdrawals and other financial commitments
associated with financial instruments as they actually fall due. Short-term liquidity needs are managed by the Bank’s
Treasury function collecting daily customers’ cash inflow/outflow forecasts. Long-term liquidity management is
performed by the Assets and Liabilities Management Committee by analyzing longer term liquidity positions and making
decisions on managing significant gaps through various available means. The Assets and Liabilities Management
Committee within the authority approved by the Board sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds
available to meet deposit withdrawals and on the minimum level on interbank and other borrowing facilities that should
be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.

The following tables provide an analysis of monetary assets and liabilities grouped on the basis of the remaining period
from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and available-for-sale investment securities which are included in the column “On demand” as they are available to
meet the Bank’s short-term liquidity needs.

December 31, 2006
On

demand
Less than

1 month
1 to 3

months
3 months
to 1 year

1 to 3
years

Over 3
years Total

Monetary assets:
Cash and cash

equivalents 22,358,562 86,031,177 19,409,420 − − − 127,799,159
Obligatory reserves 13,717,608 13,796,856 2,575,089 20,248,474 3,869,037 899,344 55,106,408
Financial assets at

fair value through
profit or loss 51,984,130 1,032,204 − − − − 53,016,334

Amounts due from
credit institutions − − 162,002 148,000 1,710,918 27,785 2,048,705

Available-for-sale
investment
securities − 109,302,338 66,310 181,588 4,596,547 9,191,624 123,338,407

Loans to customers 2,404,547 24,266,841 49,929,380 251,182,874 144,508,059 123,924,549 596,216,250
Insurance assets 3,534,929 667,306 524,878 768,078 23,501 107,194 5,625,886
Other assets − 2,751,036 263,518 1,032,049 − 293,448 4,340,051

93,999,776 237,847,758 72,930,597 273,561,063 154,708,062 134,443,944 967,491,200
Monetary

liabilities:
Amounts due to

customers 148,843,659 149,703,540 27,941,147 219,707,172 41,981,194 9,758,373 597,935,085
Amounts due to

credit institutions 524,094 48,824,037 11,383,631 32,908,704 5,108,060 19,970,048 118,718,574
Debt securities issued 62 − − 3,926,352 103,530,003 26,956,269 134,412,686
Provisions 3,021,276 − − − − − 3,021,276
Deferred tax liability − − − 729,647 − 1,800,716 2,530,363
Insurance liabilities 5,680,603 433,967 472,332 933,117 14,887 − 7,534,906
Other liabilities − 365,976 1,002,229 4,711,737 109,576 − 6,189,518

158,069,694 199,327,520 40,799,339 262,916,729 150,743,720 58,485,406 870,342,408
Net position (64,069,918) 38,520,238 32,131,258 10,644,334 3,964,342 75,958,538 97,148,792
Accumulated gap (64,069,918) (25,549,680) 6,581,578 17,225,912 21,190,254 97,148,792



 Annual Report 2006//JSC HALYK BANK    109

Joint Stock Company Halyk Bank Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Thousands of Kazakhstani tenge)

December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

42

25. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Liquidity Risk (continued)

December 31, 2005
On

demand
Less than

1 month
1 to 3

months
3 months
to 1 year

1 to 3
years

Over 3
years Total

Monetary assets:
Cash and cash

equivalents 29,104,398 26,231,346 1,765,947 − − − 57,101,691
Obligatory reserves 3,041,412 1,049,761 501,597 2,386,504 1,568,270 84,767 8,632,311
Financial assets at

fair value through
profit or loss 50,017,958 − − − − − 50,017,958

Amounts due from
credit institutions − − 1,446,476 1,120,332 210,133 − 2,776,941

Available-for-sale
investment
securities − 354,126 909,311 1,475,459 1,998,033 7,361,710 12,098,639

Loans to customers 1,410,590 13,212,057 27,435,465 129,749,429 179,407,412 59,882,270 411,097,223
Other assets 967,541 1,187,625 109,542 607,021 − 1,408,620 4,280,349

84,541,899 42,034,915 32,168,338 135,338,745 183,183,848 68,737,367 546,005,112
Monetary

liabilities:
Amounts due to

customers 112,967,084 38,991,242 21,515,976 88,641,854 58,250,210 3,148,461 323,514,827
Amounts due to

credit institutions 556,526 14,937,940 14,575,018 38,294,969 30,356,310 8,563,384 107,284,147
Debt securities issued 47,593 − − − 7,718,616 51,047,385 58,813,594
Provisions 2,279,508 − − − − − 2,279,508
Deferred tax liability − − − 425,144 − − 425,144
Other liabilities − 1,038,532 666,520 789,596 303,882 − 2,798,530

115,850,711 54,967,714 36,757,514 128,151,563 96,629,018 62,759,230 495,115,750
Net position (31,308,812) (12,932,799) (4,589,176) 7,187,182 86,554,830 5,978,137 50,889,362
Accumulated gap (31,308,812) (44,241,611) (48,830,787) (41,643,605) 44,911,225 50,889,362
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25. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Liquidity Risk (continued)

December 31, 2004
On

demand
Less than

1 month
1 to 3

months
3 months
to 1 year

1 to 3
years

Over 3
years Total

Monetary assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 11,871,911 11,275,787 9,975,671 − − − 33,123,369
Obligatory reserves 2,506,430 821,630 879,441 2,370,868 872,246 127,779 7,578,394
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 62,382,235 − − − − − 62,382,235
Amounts due from credit

institutions − 23,149 413,467 258,763 − − 695,379
Available-for-sale

investment securities − 2,379,606 559,985 3,567,244 13,992,772 118,815 20,618,422
Loans to customers 2,103,916 13,854,221 32,563,164 78,082,803 98,252,337 29,733,752 254,590,193
Other assets 3,590,316 793,860 − − − − 4,384,176

82,454,808 29,148,253 44,391,728 84,279,678 113,117,355 29,980,346 383,372,168

Monetary liabilities:
Amounts due to customers 76,565,293 25,098,797 27,293,699 72,424,208 26,644,969 3,903,318 231,930,284
Amounts due to credit

institutions 947,741 6,933,062 11,457,470 39,415,293 17,661,695 77,499 76,492,760
Debt securities issued 21,219 − 513,232 − 38,533,163 5,872,360 44,939,974
Provisions 1,801,039 − − − − − 1,801,039
Deferred tax liability − − − − 450,824 − 450,824
Other liabilities 1,612,077 15,052 69,569 183,021 191,103 − 2,070,822

80,947,369 32,046,911 39,333,970 112,022,522 83,481,754 9,853,177 357,685,703
Net position 1,507,439 (2,898,658) 5,057,758 (27,742,844) 29,635,601 20,127,169 25,686,465
Accumulated gap 1,507,439 (1,391,219) 3,666,539 (24,076,305) 5,559,296 25,686,465

26. Segment Analysis
The Group’s primary format for reporting segment information is business segments and the secondary format is
geographical segments.

Business Segments. The Group is organised on a basis of two main business segments:

Retail banking – representing private banking services, private customer current accounts, savings, deposits, investment
savings products, custody, credit and debit cards, consumer loans and mortgages and cash and foreign currency related
services.

Corporate banking – representing direct debit facilities, current accounts, deposits, overdrafts, loan and other credit
facilities, foreign currency and trade finance products.

There were no transactions between business segments during 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Segment information for the main reportable business segments of the Group for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004 is set out below:
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26. Segment Analysis (continued)
Retail

banking
Corporate

banking Other Total
2006
External revenues 47,462,946 58,854,086 1,698,236 108,015,268

Total revenues 47,462,946 58,854,086 1,698,236 108,015,268

Total revenues comprise:
- Interest income 33,024,709 47,622,133 − 80,646,842
- Losses less gains from financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss −
−

(193,001) (193,001)
- Gains less losses from available-for-sale investment

securities
− −

202,081 202,081
- Share of income of associate − 166,913 − 166,913
- Gains less losses from foreign currencies 1,042,584 2,396,897 − 3,439,481
- Fee and commission income 13,395,653 8,668,143 − 22,063,796
- Other operating income − − 1,689,156 1,689,156

Total revenues 47,462,946 58,854,086 1,698,236 108,015,268

- Interest expense on amounts due to customers (8,160,677) (10,331,127) − (18,491,804)
- Impairment charge (2,862,011) (5,469,155) − (8,331,166)
- Fee and commission expense (328,979) (600,036) − (929,015)
- Salaries and other employee benefits (3,735,911) (12,194,647) − (15,930,558)
- Deposit insurance and advertisement expenses (1,673,977) − − (1,673,977)
- Other provisions − (751,713) − (751,713)

Segment result 30,701,391 29,507,408 1,698,236 61,907,035
Unallocated costs (26,305,954)

Unallocated costs comprise:
- Interest expense on debt securities issued and

amounts due to credit institutions (15,691,537)
- Administrative and operating expenses excluding

deposit insurance and advertisement (6,884,186)
- Depreciation and amortization expense (2,370,595)
- Taxes other than income tax (1,256,761)
- Insurance claims incurred, net of reinsurance (102,875)

Total unallocated costs (26,305,954)

Income before income tax expense 35,601,081
Income tax expense (8,441,807)

Net income 27,159,274

Segment assets 212,907,763 513,436,876 176,354,741 902,699,380

Total segment assets 212,907,763 513,436,876 176,354,741 902,699,380

Obligatory reserves 55,106,408
Premises and equipment 16,411,916
Other unallocated assets 17,141,536

Total assets 212,907,763 513,436,876 176,354,741 991,359,240

Segment liabilities (210,476,273) (390,480,088) − (600,956,361)

Total segment liabilities (210,476,273) (390,480,088) − (600,956,361)
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26. Segment Analysis (continued)

Debt securities issued (134,412,686)
Amounts due to credit institutions (118,718,574)
Other unallocated liabilities (16,643,998)

Total liabilities (210,476,273) (390,480,088) − (870,731,619)

Other segment items
Impairment charge to statement of income (9,082,879)
Capital expenditure (8,584,158)
Depreciation and amortization expense (2,370,595)
Other non-cash expenses (430,165)

Retail
banking

Corporate
banking Other Total

2005
External revenues 24,582,671 46,105,621 2,275,889 72,964,181

Total revenues 24,582,671 46,105,621 2,275,889 72,964,181

Total revenues comprise:
- Interest income 18,687,639 33,696,984 − 52,384,623
- Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss − − 1,362,905 1,362,905
- Gains less losses from available-for-sale investment

securities − − 342,380 342,380
- Share of income of associate − 248,841 − 248,841
- Gains less losses from foreign currencies 927,974 966,146 − 1,894,120
- Fee and commission income 4,967,058 11,193,650 − 16,160,708
- Other operating income − − 570,604 570,604

Total revenues 24,582,671 46,105,621 2,275,889 72,964,181

- Interest expense on amounts due to customers (5,636,519) (6,236,080) − (11,872,599)
- Impairment charge (2,657,185) (9,312,340) − (11,969,525)
- Fee and commission expense (235,059) (677,458) − (912,517)
- Salaries and other employee benefits (3,799,511) (7,436,823) − (11,236,334)
- Deposit insurance and advertisement expenses (1,217,644) − − (1,217,644)
- Other provisions − (496,378) − (496,378)

Segment result 11,036,753 21,946,542 2,275,889 35,259,184
Unallocated costs − − − (15,892,708)

Unallocated costs comprise:
- Interest expense on debt securities issued and

amounts due to credit institutions (9,283,348)
- Administrative and operating expenses excluding

deposit insurance and advertisement (4,024,511)
- Depreciation and amortization expense (1,329,848)
- Taxes other than income tax (1,255,001)

Total unallocated costs (15,892,708)

Income before income tax expense 19,366,476
Income tax expense (3,538,576)

Net income 15,827,900

Other segment assets 136,753,241 335,665,379 62,116,597 534,535,217

Total segment assets 136,753,241 335,665,379 62,116,597 534,535,217
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26. Segment Analysis (continued)

Obligatory reserves 8,632,311
Premises and equipment 10,979,050
Other unallocated assets 5,518,131

Total assets 136,753,241 335,665,379 62,116,597 559,664,708

Segment liabilities (134,332,107) (191,462,228) − (325,794,335)

Total segment liabilities (134,332,107) (191,462,228) − (325,794,335)

Debt securities issued (58,813,594)
Amounts due to credit institutions (107,284,147)
Other unallocated liabilities − − − (6,213,764)

Total liabilities (134,332,107) (191,462,228) − (498,105,840)

Other segment items
Impairment charge to statement of income (2,657,185) (9,808,718) − (12,465,903)
Capital expenditure (3,179,634)
Depreciation and amortization expense (1,329,848)
Other non-cash income 1,512,589

Retail
banking

Corporate
banking Other Total

2004
External revenues 11,964,526 33,289,709 877,470 46,131,705

Total revenues 11,964,526 33,289,709 877,470 46,131,705

Total revenues comprise:
- Interest income 7,927,442 25,022,615 − 32,950,057
- Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss − − 165,389 165,389
- Gains less losses from available-for-sale investment

securities − − 104,204 104,204
- Share of income of associate − 196,153 − 196,153
- Gains less losses from foreign currencies 647,932 1,343,196 − 1,991,128
- Fee and commission income 3,389,152 6,727,745 − 10,116,897
- Other operating income − − 607,877 607,877

Total revenues 11,964,526 33,289,709 877,470 46,131,705

- Interest expense on amounts due to customers (5,401,689) (2,623,944) − (8,025,633)
- Impairment charge (57,437) (7,896,608) − (7,954,045)
- Fee and commission expense (2) (798,474) − (798,476)
- Salaries and other employee benefits (1,987,501) (4,889,150) − (6,876,651)
- Deposit insurance and advertisement expenses (985,555) − − (985,555)
- Other provisions − (986,679) − (986,679)

Segment result 3,532,342 16,094,854 877,470 20,504,666
Unallocated costs − − − (10,413,851)

Unallocated costs comprise:
- Interest expense on debt securities issued and

amounts due to credit institutions (4,733,124)
- Administrative and operating expenses excluding

deposit insurance and advertisement (3,527,422)
- Depreciation and amortization expense (1,111,526)
- Taxes other than income tax (1,041,779)

Total unallocated costs (10,413,851)
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26. Segment Analysis (continued)

Income before income tax expense 10,090,815
Income tax expense (1,997,780)

Net income 8,093,035

Segment assets 85,254,508 203,840,473 83,000,657 372,095,638

Total segment assets 85,254,508 203,840,473 83,000,657 372,095,638

Obligatory reserves 7,578,394
Premises and equipment 9,131,311
Other unallocated assets 4,448,557

Total assets 85,254,508 203,828,436 83,000,657 393,253,900

Other segment liabilities (112,665,555) (121,065,768) − (233,731,323)

Total segment liabilities (112,665,555) (121,065,768) − (233,731,323)

Debt securities issued (44,939,974)
Amounts due to credit institutions (76,492,760)
Other unallocated liabilities (2,950,569)

Total liabilities (112,665,555) (121,065,768) − (358,114,626)

Other segment items
Impairment charge to statement of income (57,437) (8,883,287) − (8,940,724)
Capital expenditure (2,952,895)
Depreciation and amortization expense (1,111,526)
Other non-cash income 249,011

Geographical segments. Segment information for the main geographical segments of the Group is set out below for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Kazakhstan OECD Non OECD Total

2006

Total assets 892,585,719 97,124,376 1,649,145 991,359,240
External revenues 104,810,979 3,164,748 39,541 108,015,268
Capital expenditure (8,584,158) − − −
Credit related commitments 21,629,356 − − −

2005

Total assets 526,619,948 31,535,829 1,508,931 559,664,708
External revenues 71,456,677 1,442,136 65,368 72,964,181
Capital expenditure (3,179,634) − − (3,179,634)
Credit related commitments 17,000,292 − − 17,000,292

2004

Total assets 359,834,727 32,911,445 507,728 393,253,900
External revenues 44,707,576 1,402,493 21,636 46,131,705
Capital expenditure (2,952,895) − − (2,952,895)
Credit related commitments 104,963,613 − − 104,963,613

External revenues, assets and credit related commitments have generally been allocated based on domicile of the
counterparty. Cash on hand, property and equipment and capital expenditure have been allocated based on the country
in which they are physically held.
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27. Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The following disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments is made in accordance with the requirements
of IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation”. Fair value is defined as the amount at which the
instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction, other than in forced or liquidation sale. As no readily available market exists for a large part of the Group’s
financial instruments, judgment is necessary in arriving at fair value, based on current economic conditions and the
specific risks attributable to the instrument. The estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts
the Group could realize in a market exchange from the sale of its full holdings of a particular instrument.
The following methods and assumptions are used by the Group to estimate the fair value of financial instruments not
carried at fair value.

Amounts Due from and to Credit Institutions
For assets maturing within one month, the carrying amount approximates fair value due to the relatively short- term
maturity of these financial instruments. For the assets and liabilities maturing in over one month, the fair value was
estimated as the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the appropriate year-end market rates.

Loans to Customers
The estimate was made by discounting the scheduled future cash flows of the individual loans through the estimated
maturity using prevailing market rates as at the respective year-end.

Amounts Due to Customers
Interest rates charged to customers closely approximate market interest rates and accordingly, the carrying amounts
approximate fair values.

Debt Securities Issued
Market values have been used to determine the fair value of debt securities traded on an active market. For other debt
securities, the fair value was estimated as the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the year-end
market rates.

The following table sets out the carrying amount and fair values of monetary assets and liabilities not carried at their fair
values:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
Carrying
Amount Fair Value

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

Financial assets
Amounts due from credit

institutions 2,048,705 2,048,705 2,776,941 2,776,941 695,379 695,379
Loans to customers 596,216,250 597,849,275 411,097,223 438,905,326 254,590,193 257,640,717

Financial liabilities
Amounts due to

customers 597,935,085 598,248,932 323,514,827 325,584,598 231,930,284 231,204,662
Amounts due to credit

institutions 118,718,574 122,911,095 107,284,147 109,982,877 76,492,760 74,697,414
Debt securities issued 134,412,686 134,867,140 58,813,594 58,550,320 44,939,974 45,531,403

28. Related Party Transactions
In accordance with IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” (“IAS 24”), parties are considered to be related if one party has
the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or
operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship, not merely the legal form.

Related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties might not, and transactions between related parties
may not be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as transactions between unrelated parties.
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28. Related Party Transactions (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2004
Controlling

 shareholder
and Entities

Under
Common

Control

Entities
influenced

by the
Controlling
Shareholder Associates

Key manage-
ment

personnel
Loans outstanding, gross, beginning of the period 1,552,483 2,601,118 − 2,472
Loans issued during the period 682,569 10,724,394 − 133,492
Loan repaid during the period 1,304,576 8,416,180 − 5,948
Loans outstanding, gross, ending of the period 930,476 4,909,332 − 130,016
Less: allowance for impairment − − − −
Loans outstanding, net, ending 930,476 4,909,332 − 130,016

Interest income on loans 131,348 294,956 − 2,794

Deposits and current accounts, beginning of the period − 17,265,773 95,000 −
Receipts of deposits and current accounts during the period 51,000 854,907,949 50,500 −
Payments of deposits and current accounts during the period − 799,345,059 44500 −
Deposits and current accounts, ending of the period 51,000 72,828,663 101,000 −

Interest expense on deposits 99 896,818 382 −

Commitments and guarantees issued 13,950 − − −
Fee and commission income 12,838 267,494 7,351 −

Compensation of 12 members of the Management Board and Board of Directors of the Bank was comprised of the
following (2005 – 11 members, 2004 – 13 members):

2006 2005 2004
Salaries and bonuses 973,761 819,128 640,763
Social tax 69,370 59,386 46,903
Total key management compensation 1,043,131 878,514 687,666

29. Capital Adequacy
The FMSA requires banks to maintain a capital adequacy ratio of 12% of risk-weighted assets, computed on the basis of
statutory accounting. At December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Bank’s capital adequacy ratios complied with the
FMSA requirements in that regard.

The Bank’s international risk based capital adequacy ratio, computed in accordance with the Basle Accord guidelines
issued in 1988, with subsequent amendments including the amendment to incorporate market risks, as of December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, was 17%, 17% and 14%, respectively. These ratios exceeded the minimum ratio of 8%
recommended by the Basle Accord.



118    JSC HALYK BANK//Annual Report 2006

www.halykbank.kz

Shareholder information

Joint Stock Company Halyk Savings Bank of Kazakhstan
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97, Rozybakiev Str., Almaty, 050046, Republic of Kazakhstan 
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Registered with 
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tel: +7 (327) 250 89 61, 250 89 60 tel: +1 212 2502500
Fax: +7 (327) 250 16 96 telex: Itt 420066 
 

Number of shares in issue as of 1 April 2007

 Common Shares Preferred Shares  total Share Capital
total number of shares issued 980,148,013 104,967,222 1,085,115,235

Contact Information

Investor relations Auditors
tel: +7 (327) 259 88 66 ernst & Young Kazakhstan
tel: +7 (327) 259 04 30 240G, Furmanov Str., Almaty
tel: +7 (327) 259 05 99 Republic of Kazakhstan
Fax: +7 (327) 259 02 71 tel: +7 (327) 258 59 60
 Fax: +7 (327) 258 59 61

Registrar Depositary
JSC Fondovyi tsentr Deutsche Bank trust Company Americas
79 “A”, Zheltoksan Str., Almaty 60 Wall Street, New York
Republic of Kazakhstan NY 10005, USA
tel: +7 (327) 250 89 61, 250 89 60 tel: +1 212 2502500
Fax: +7 (327) 250 16 96 telex: Itt 420066
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